MULTIPORT DC ENERGY CONVERSION SYSTEMS

by

HAMID BEHJATI

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at Arlington in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT ARLINGTON

December 2013

Copyright © by Hamid Behjati 2013

All Rights Reserved

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I should thank God for giving me the strength to *pursue the happiness*, and my parents for their unconditional support.

My sincere appreciation goes to my academic advisor, Dr. Ali Davoudi, for his support and guidance during my Ph.D. studies. I would like to thank Dr. Frank Lewis, Dr. Wei-Jen Lee, Dr. David Wetz, and Dr. Kambiz Alavi for their agreement to be on my committee and their valuable suggestions and comments. My special thanks go to Dr. Jonathan Bredow and Dr. Rasool Kenarangui for their guidance and mentoring throughout the course of my Ph.D. work at the University of Texas at Arlington.

My gratitude goes to the members of the Renewable Energy and Vehicular Technology Laboratory at the University of Texas at Arlington, especially Mr. Lei Niu, for being supportive over the past few years.

Finally, I would like to thank my lovely fiancé, Kristina, to whom I dedicate this dissertation.

November 18, 2013

ABSTRACT

MULTIPORT DC ENERGY CONVERSION SYSTEMS

Hamid Behjati, PhD

The University of Texas at Arlington, 2013

Supervising Professor: Ali Davoudi

Sustainable energy sources and power electronic systems for utilizing such energy sources are becoming indispensible components of the modern power grid. The ability of multiport converters to mitigate the intermittency issues associated with these energy sources have made them attractive candidates for renewable energy conversion systems. Two single-stage multiport dc-dc converters, with independent and series outputs, are proposed in this dissertation. The advantages and applications of the proposed topologies are discussed. The ability of the proposed converters to regulate the input powers, coming from different energy sources, in addition to regulating the output voltages stands out. Specific switching schemes are presented for the proposed converters and the dynamic models of the converters are developed based on the designated switching scheme. Appropriate control algorithms are presented for regulating the input powers and output voltages.

Proper design and development of digital controllers for multiport dc energy conversion systems requires exact discrete-time modeling of such systems. An exact discrete-time modeling framework is set forth for direct digital-control design of multiport dc-dc converters. The proposed modeling technique addresses the peculiar aspects of multiport dc-dc converters, which make the use of conventional continuous-time modeling for such converters prone to failure. Time-multiplexing switching schemes are accommodated by considering multiple propagation paths during each switching period. Sampling effects, modulator effects, and the propagation delays due to multiple propagation paths are included. The proposed model can accommodate both leading and trailing edge PWM schemes. The approximations inherent in the averaging techniques are avoided by using Floquet theory.

A cooperative control method is also proposed for multiphase dc-dc converters. The proposed cooperative control scheme enjoys structural modularity, plug-and-play capability, fault tolerance against random failures in the converters and/or communication links, and satisfactory dynamic performance. A general analytical framework is provided to study modular dc-dc converters with an arbitrary communication graph. Hence, the designer has the freedom to choose among the various types of graphs based on the available communication resources and the desired level of reliability and fault tolerance. The dynamic model of the cooperative multi-phase converter system is developed and analyzed.

Semiconductor switches are, arguably, among the reliability bottlenecks in power electronic converters and, especially, multiport converters. Redundant switch structures are proposed for reliability improvement in such systems. Parallel and standby configurations are applied to semiconductor switches to this aim. The reliability models of both configurations are developed based on Markov process. Mean Time to Failure (MTTF) of each configuration is derived in terms of the underlying parameters. It is demonstrated that there is a boundary condition in which both configurations have the same MTTF. This boundary condition is expressed in terms of the junction temperature of the semiconductor switch in the steady state. The temperature range in which the parallel configuration is more reliable is formulated for different types of power semiconductor switches.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	x
LIST OF TABLES	XV
NOMENCALTURE	xvi
Chapter	Page
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. MULTIPORT DC-DC CONVERTER WITH INDEPENDENT OUTPUTS	5
2.1 Operational Principles	6
2.2 Dynamic Characterization	10
2.2.1 SSA for a General m-input n-output Converter	10
2.2.1.1 Average Model	10
2.2.1.2 Linearization and Equilibrium Point	13
2.2.2 Model Development for a Two-input Two-output Converter	15
2.2.2.1 Average Model	15
2.2.2.2 Equilibrium Point	16
2.2.2.3 Linearization and Small-signal Model Extraction	17
2.2.2.4 Equivalent Small-signal Circuit	
2.2.2.5 Input-to-output Transfer Functions	19
2.3 Power Budgeting	22
2.3.1 Feedback Loop Design	23
2.3.2 Stability Analysis	25
2.4 Case Studies	26
2.4.1 Hardware Setup	
2.4.2 Converter Operation in Steady-state	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.4.3 Small-signal Model Verification	
2.4.4 Controller Performance	
2.4.4.1 Line Regulation	29
2.4.4.2 Load Regulation	
3. MULTIPORT DC-DC CONVERTER WITH SERIES OUTPUTS	
3.1 Converter Topology and Operation Principles	
3.2 Steady-state Characterization	
3.2.1 CCM	
3.2.1.1 Average Output Voltages and Inductor Current	
3.2.1.2 Ripple Analysis	
3.2.2 DCM	
3.2.2.1 Definition of h-th DCM Mode	
3.2.2.2 Determining the DCM Mode	41
3.2.2.3 Average Output Voltages and Inductor Current	41
3.2.2.4 Ripple Analysis	
3.3 Dynamic Characterization	
3.3.1 Average Value Model	
3.3.2 Equilibrium Point	44
3.3.3 Linearization and Small-signal Modeling	45
3.3.4 Equivalent Small-signal Circuit	
3.3.5 Input-to-output Transfer Functions	47
3.4 Controller Design	49
3.4.1 Multi-variable Feedback Loop	
3.4.2 System Stability	
3.5 Loss Modeling	
3.5.1 Steady-state Operation	

3.5.2 Efficiency Analysis	53
3.6 Sensitivity Analysis	53
3.6.1 Sensitivity to Input-voltage Variations	54
3.6.2 Sensitivity to Variations in Input Duty Cycles	54
3.6.3 Sensitivity to Variations in Output Duty Cycles	55
3.7 Case Studies	55
3.7.1 Steady-state Operation	55
3.7.1.1 CCM	56
3.7.1.2 DCM	56
3.7.2 Dynamic Performance	64
3.7.2.1 Input-to-output Transfer Functions	64
3.7.2.2 Line Regulation	65
3.7.2.3 Load Regulation	65
3.7.3 Efficiency	67
4. DISCRETE-TIME MODELING OF MULTIPORT DC-DC CONVERTERS	69
4.1 Discrete-time Model	71
4.2 Case Studies	77
5. DISCRETE-TIME MODELING OF MULTIPHASE CONVERTERS	
5.1 Discrete-time Model Development	
5.2 Case Studies	85
6. COOPERATIVE CONTROL OF MULTIPHASE CONVERTERS	
6.1 Dynamic Systems on Graphs	91
6.2 Cooperative Current Synchronization	94
6.2.1 Average Model	94
6.2.2 Agent Dynamics	95
6.2.3 Global Dynamics	

6.3 Case Studies	
6.3.1 Hardware Setup	
6.3.2 Startup Response and Steady-state Operation	
6.3.3 Fault Tolerance	
6.3.3.1 Converter Failure	
6.3.3.2 Communication Link Failure	
6.3.4 Plug-and-play Capability	
6.3.5 Audio Susceptibility	
6.3.6 Load Regulation	
7. RELIABILITY ANALYSIS	
7.1 Redundant Switch Structures	
7.2 Markov Reliability Model Development	
7.2.1 Parallel Configuration	
7.2.2 Standby Configuration	
7.3 Comparative Reliability Analysis	
7.4 Junction Temperature Effect	
7.5 Effects of Ambient Temperature and Converter's Power Level	
7.6 Case Studies	
7.7 Discussion on Heat Sinks	
7.8 Detailed Derivation of the Boundary Condition	
8. CONCLUSIONS	
8.1 Conclusion	
8.2 Future works	
REFERENCES	
BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION	

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure	Page
1.1 A general multiport dc energy conversion system	1
1.2 Modular realization of multiport dc energy conversion system.	2
2.1 The proposed independent-output MIMO topology: a general <i>m</i> -input <i>n</i> -output converter.	7
2.2 The designated switching scheme for the independent-output MIMO converter	8
2.3 The equivalent small-signal circuits describing the converter's dynamics.	19
2.4 The lumped equivalent small-signal circuit describing converter's dynamics	19
2.5 Definition of the system inputs, outputs, and input-to-output transfer functions	21
2.6 The closed-loop block diagram of the converter and controller	24
2.7 The hardware setup: (a) The converter prototype, (b) target computer (ezDSP-F2808 board), (c) host computer (laptop), (d) input voltage sources, (e) output static loads, (f) dynamic load, (g) oscilloscope.	27
2.8 The measured circuit waveforms in steady state: q_1 , q_2 , q'_2 , v_a , v_b , v_L and i_L	27
2.9 The input-to-output transfer function $H_d^{11}(s)$	
2.10 The measured line-regulation performance of the converter (25% increase in $v_{in,1}$).	29
2.11 The measured load-regulation performance of the converter (230% increase in $i_{o,1}$).	
3.1 The proposed MIMO converter with series outputs	
3.2 The switching scheme for the input and output switches	
3.3 The sequential switching states of the converter.	
3.4 A three-input two-output converter operating in the second DCM mode: (a) inductor voltage, v_L , and (b) inductor current, i_L .	40
3.5 The equivalent small-signal subcircuits of the converter.	
3.6 The lumped equivalent small-signal circuit of the converter.	
3.7 Definition of system inputs, outputs, and input-to-output transfer functions	
3.8 Closed-loop system block diagram.	

3.9 The output voltages obtained by analytical derivations, (3.46), in CCM ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$): (a) $v_{o,1}$ surface, (b) $v_{o,1}$ curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$, (c) $v_{o,1}$	
curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.2$, (d) $v_{o,2}$ surface, (e) $v_{o,2}$ curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$, (f) $v_{o,2}$	
curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.2$	
3.10 The output voltages obtained by detailed switch-level simulations in CCM ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$): (a) $v_{o,1}$ surface, (b) $v_{o,1}$ curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$, (c) $v_{o,1}$	
curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.2$, (d) $v_{o,2}$ surface, (e) $v_{o,2}$ curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$, (f) $v_{o,2}$	50
curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.2$.	
3.11 The calculated, simulated, and measured output voltages in CCM ($D_{e,1} = 0.2$,	
$D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$): (a) $v_{o,2}$, and (b) $v_{o,1}$	
3.12 The calculated, simulated, and measured output voltages in CCM ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$,	50
$D_{e,3} = 0.3$, and $A_{e,2} = 0.2$). (a) $v_{o,1}$, and (b) $v_{o,2}$	
3.13 The circuit waveforms obtained by simulations in CCM ($D_{e,1} = 0.2$, $D_{e,2} = 0.1$,	
$D_{e,3} = 0.3$, and $A_{e,2} = 0.2$): (a) v_L (5V/div), (b) i_L (500mA/div), (c) $v_{o,1}$ (5V/div), and	50
(d) $v_{o,2}$ (10V/div), (time scale: 20µs/div).	
3.14 The circuit waveforms obtained by hardware measurements in CCM ($D_{e1} = 0.2$, $D_{e2} = 0.1$, $D_{e3} = 0.3$, and $A_{e2} = 0.2$): (a) v_L (5V/div), (b) i_L	
(500mA/div) , (c) $v_{o,1}$ (5V/div), and (d) $v_{o,2}$ (10V/div), (time scale: 20µs/div)	60
3.15 The output voltages obtained by analytical derivations, in DCM ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and	
$D_{e,3} = 0.3$): (a) $v_{o,1}$ surface, (b) $v_{o,1}$ curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.1$, (c) $v_{o,1}$ curve when	
$A_{e,2} = 0.2$, (d) $v_{o,2}$ surface, (e) $v_{o,2}$ curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.1$, (f) $v_{o,2}$ curve when	
A _{e,2} = 0.2	61
3.16 The output voltages obtained by detailed switch-level simulations in DCM ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$): (a) $v_{o,1}$ surface, (b) $v_{o,1}$ curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.1$, (c) $v_{o,1}$	
curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$, (d) $v_{o,2}$ surface, (e) $v_{o,2}$ curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.1$, (f) $v_{o,2}$	
curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$.	61
3.17 The calculated, simulated, and measured output voltages in DCM, ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$,	
$D_{e,3} = 0.3$, $A_{e,2} = 0.2$): (a) $v_{o,2}$, and (b) $v_{o,1}$	
3.18 The calculated, simulated, and measured output voltages in DCM, when	
$D_{e,1} = 0.1$, $D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$: (a) $v_{o,1}$, and (b) $v_{o,2}$.	
3.19 The circuit waveforms obtained by simulations in DCM ($D_{e,1} = 0.1$, $D_{e,2} = 0.2$,	
$D_{e,3} = 0.1$, and $A_{e,2} = 0.2$): (a) q'_2 , (b) i_L (200mA/div), (c) $v_{o,1}$ (2V/div), and (d) $v_{o,2}$	
(2V/div), (time scale: 20µs/div)	

3.20 The circuit waveforms obtained by hardware measurements in DCM ($D_{e,1} = 0.1, D_{e,2} = 0.2, D_{e,3} = 0.1$, and $A_{e,2} = 0.2$): (a) q'_2 , (b) i_L (200mA/div), (c) $v_{o,1}$	
(2V/div), and (d) $v_{o,2}$ (2V/div), (time scale: 20µs/div).	63
3.21 The hardware setup: (a) MIMO converter, (b) target computer (ezDSP TMS320F2808 board), (c) host computer (laptop), (d) input sources, (e) static output loads (rheostats), (f) dynamic output load, (g) oscilloscope.	64
3.22 The input to output transfer functions $H_{11}^d(s)$ and $H_{22}^d(s)$	65
3.23 Line regulation: measured converter response to step change in $v_{in,1}$	66
3.24 Load regulation: the converter's response to step change in R_1	67
3.25 The converter efficiency versus total output power.	68
4.1 The buck-boost-type MIMO dc-dc converter proposed in [54].	71
4.2 Switching commands, effective duty cycles, state-vector evolution in steady state, propagation matrices, state-space matrices, and Floquet matrices for the MIMO converter in Figure 4.1 (two inputs/two outputs)	72
4.3 The hardware setup: (a) MIMO DC-DC converter, (b) target computer (TMS320F2808 digital signal processor), (c) host computer (laptop), (d) input sources, (e) output static loads, (f) output dynamic load, (g) oscilloscope	
4.4 The frequency responses obtained by hardware measurements, switching-level simulations, and the discrete-time average model	79
4.5 The frequency responses due to perturbations in $d_{e,2}$ and $d_{e,3}$, obtained by the	
discrete-time model, switching-level simulations, and the conventional average model.	
5.1 A digitally-controlled, multiphase dc-dc buck converter	
5.2 The state vector trajectory due to perturbation in duty cycle, $\hat{d}[n-1]$, and initial state vector, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}[n-1]$.	
5.3 Open loop, control-to-output transfer functions predicted by the average-value model and the proposed discrete-time model	86
5.4 Loop-gain transfer functions predicted by the proposed model and obtained by hardware measurements	
6.1 Modular converters on communication graphs: (a) an undirected gossip ring, (b) a directed tree, (c) a random graph, and (d) a connected graph with a leader node	93
6.2 IPOP buck converters in a cyber-physical structure	94
6.3 The proposed cyber-physical structure for the IPOP system: (a) the converters that know the voltage reference, (b) their control schemes, (c) the converters that do not know the voltage reference, and (d) their control schemes	06
THE KIEW THE VOLASE TELETENES. AND THE THEIL CONTROL SCHEDUCS.	90

6.4 Global dynamic model for an arbitrary graph with adjacency matrix, L, and pinning gain matrix, G.	101
6.5 Hardware setup: (a) host computer (laptop), (b) power supplies, (c) parallel converters, (d) target computer (TMSF2808 DSP), (e) oscilloscope, (f) output loads	103
6.6 Startup response and steady-state waveforms of the IPOP converter: (a) Startup response, (b) zoomed-in view of the startup response, (c) steady-state waveforms	
6.7 System response to the failure of converter 1: (a) converter waveforms, (b) zoomed-in view of current waveforms, (c) currents waveforms after failure, (d) current waveforms before failure.	105
6.8 Failure of the link e_{31} in a gossip ring with the leader node pinning to the third agent (A3): (a) directed gossip ring, (b) undirected gossip ring	
6.9 System response to the failure of communication link e_{31} using an undirected gossip ring with the leader node pinning to the third agent (Figure 6.8(b))	
6.10 System response to the failure of communication link e_{31} using a directed gossip ring with the leader node pinning to the third agent (Figure 6.8(a)).	
6.11 Plug and play feature: (a) system response to the augmentation of a new converter (converter 1), (b) zoomed-in view of the current transients, (c) current waveforms after the augmentation, and (d) current waveforms before the augmentation.	109
6.12 Audio susceptibility: (a) system response to the sudden decrease of the output voltage from 24V to 20V, (b) current waveforms before the step change in the input voltage, and (c) current waveforms after the step change.	
6.13 Load regulation performance: (a) system response to the sudden change in the output load from 2Ω to 3Ω and vice versa, (b) current waveforms at 2Ω output load, and (c) current waveforms at 3Ω output load.	
7.1 Redundant switch structures: (a) parallel configuration; (b) standby configuration.	115
7.2 The Markov chain diagram of two switches operating in the parallel configuration.	
7.3 The Markov chain diagram of two switches operating in the standby configuration.	119
7.4 (a) MTTF of the standby configuration, $MTTF_{sb}$; (b) MTTF of the parallel	
configuration, $MTTF_p$; (c) the boundary condition, ($P_{sb}^c = P_p^c$).	
7.5 The boundary conditions corresponding to different values of $(P_p^c - P_{sb}^c)$: (a) the region in which the parallel configuration is more reliable; (b) the region in which the standby configuration is more reliable.	
· · · ·	

7.6 (a) The ratio of half-load failure rate to full-load failure rate, K, for power	
MOSFETs; (b) $K = 0.5 / (1 + P_{sb}^c - P_p^c)$ plane; (c) the boundary condition, $(P_{sb}^c = P_p^c)$	
7.7 The thermal equivalent circuit of power semiconductor switches.	
7.8 The schematics of a buck converter with (a) full-loaded MOSFET, and (b) half-loaded MOSFETs	129
7.9 The hardware setup: (a) power supplies, (b) oscilloscope, (c) laser thermometer,(d) converters, (e) thermal camera.	130
7.10 The measured current, (b) voltage, and (c) instantaneous power loss of the half-loaded MOSFETs. (2A/div, 10V/div, 50W/div, 20µs/div)	
7.11 The magnified (a) current, and (b) voltage of the half-loaded MOSFETs during the turn off transients. (2A/div, 10V/div, 1µs/div)	
7.12 The magnified instantaneous power loss of the half-loaded MOSFETs during the turn off transients. (20W/div, 1µs/div)	
7.13 (a) The measured current, (b) voltage, and (c) instantaneous power loss of the full-loaded MOSFET. (2A/div, 10V/div, 50W/div, 20µs/div)	
7.14 The magnified (a) current, and (b) voltage of the full-loaded MOSFET during the turn off transients. (2A/div, 10V/div, 1µs/div)	
7.15 The magnified instantaneous power loss of the full-loaded MOSFET during the turn off transients. (50W/div, 1µs/div)	134
7.16 (a) The buck converter with full-loaded MOSFET, (b) the buck converter with half-loaded MOSFETs.	134
7.17 The thermal image of the converters when both are on and the case temperatures of the MOSFETs reached their steady state values: (a) the buck converter with full-loaded MOSFET. (b) the buck converter with half-loaded	
MOSFETs.	

LIST OF TABLES

Figure	Page
7.1 The junction temperature range in which the parallel configuration is more reliable for different types of power semiconductors	126
7.2 The switching loss, conduction loss, average power loss, and junction temperature of the MOSFETs in full-load and half-load operation modes	131

NOMENCALTURE

SISO	Single Input Single Output	JTAG	Joint Test Action Group
MISO	Multiple Input Single Output	ADC	Analog to Digital Converter
SIMO	Single Input Multiple Output	MOSFET	Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor
MIMO	Multiple Input Multiple Output	SCR	Silicon Controlled Rectifier
FCBB	Forward Conducting Bidirectional Blocking	TRIAC	Triode for Alternating Current
ССМ	Continuous Conduction Mode	BJT	Bipolar Junction Transistor
DCM	Discontinuous Conduction Mode	DDM	Direct Design Method
EDC	Effective Duty Cycle	IDM	Indirect Design Method
SSA	State Space Averaging	IPOP	Input Parallel Output Parallel
CA	Circuit Averaging	ISOP	Input Series Output Parallel
GSSA	Generalized State Space Averaging	IPOS	Input Parallel Output Series
MTTF	Mean Time To Failure	ISOS	Input Series Output Series
FDIR	Fault Detection Isolation and Reconfiguration	PWM	Pulse Width Modulation
DSP	Digital Signal Processor	PI	Proportional Integral
USB	Universal Serial Bus	PID	Proportional Integral Derivative

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Depletion of fossil fuel resources has become one of the major concerns of the new century and attracted much attention to the renewable energy sources, as alternatives. However, several challenges are yet to be overcome in the way of large-scale utilization of the renewable energy sources, among which intermittent characteristic of such energy sources (e.g. solar, wind) is the major concern. The ability of multi-port power electronic converters to diversify the energy sources, and consequently, mitigate the inherent intermittency of renewable energy sources has made them attractive candidates to be used in renewable energy systems.

Figure 1.1 depicts the schematic of a general multiport dc energy conversion system. Such energy conversion system can feed several loads and accommodate several sources, simultaneously. The voltage/current characteristics of the input and output ports are not necessarily identical. For instance, the input ports can be connected to photovoltaic panel, fuel cell, battery, rectified wind, etc.. Some ports can act as both input and output, e.g., those connected to rechargeable batteries.



Figure 1.1 A general multiport dc energy conversion system

The multiport dc energy conversion system is essentially a power-electronics based system. Multiport converters can be synthesized using two different approaches, namely, the modular approach, and the single-stage approach. In modular approach, several SISO converters are connected to a common dc bus to realize a multiport system, as seen in Figure 1.2. Such modular configuration enjoys improved reliability through structural redundancy, easing the thermal management, reducing the component stress, reducing the manufacturing cost by standardization of system components, and re-configurability. However, the modular approach results in a complex structure and high cost. Besides, the control complexity and stability issues associated with the modular system make the single-stage multiport converters more attractive alternatives, especially in cost-effective applications. In single-stage approach, the power processing takes place in one converter stage. Thus, the efficiency is expected to improve due to the reduction in the total number of the components and the resulting power loss reduction. Reduction in the total number of components also results in reduction in cost and size of the system.



Figure 1.2 Modular realization of multiport dc energy conversion system.

Chapter 2 proposes a single-stage multiport dc-dc converter topology with independent outputs. The advantages and applications of the proposed topology are also discussed in chapter 2. The ability of the proposed converter to regulate the input powers, coming from different energy sources, in addition to regulating the output voltages stands out. A specific switching scheme is presented for the proposed multiport converter and the dynamic model of the converter is developed based on the designated switching scheme. An appropriate control algorithm is also presented, based on which the input powers and output voltages are regulated.

Chapter 3 proposes another single-stage multiport dc-dc topology that provides series outputs. The proposed series-output multiport converter, as discussed in chapter 3, is a good candidate for interfacing between the diversified energy sources and grid-tied multilevel inverters. The steady-state and dynamic characteristics of the proposed converter are analyzed. A controller scheme is proposed that allows budgeting of the input powers coming from different energy sources, in addition to regulating the output voltages. Loss and efficiency modeling as well as sensitivity analysis to the underlying parameters are performed.

Digital controllers are widely used in modern power electronic systems, including multiport converters, due to their salient features. These features include immunity to parameter variations, less electromagnetic-interference, and ability to handle complex control algorithms. Proper design and development of digital controller for the multiport converters requires exact discrete-time modeling of such systems. In chapter 4, an exact discrete-time modeling framework is set forth for direct digital-control design of multiport dc-dc converters (including those proposed in Chapters 2 and 3). The proposed modeling technique addresses the peculiar aspects of multiport dc-dc converters, which make the use of conventional continuous-time modeling for such converters prone to failure. Time-multiplexing switching schemes are accommodated by considering multiple propagation paths during each switching period. Sampling effects, modulator effects, and the propagation delays due to multiple propagation paths are included. The proposed model can accommodate both leading and trailing edge PWM schemes. The approximations inherent in the averaging techniques are avoided by using Floquet theory.

The so-called 'multiphase' dc-dc converters can be considered as modular multiport converters, as shown in Figure 1.2, with all the input and output ports connected together. By doing so, a new SISO converter can be synthesized where one of its ports is the dc bus in the antecedent configuration (see Figure 1.2). Chapter 5 proposes a discrete-time modeling method that is suitable for direct digital-control design for multiphase dc-dc converters.

In chapter 6, a cooperative control method is proposed for multiphase converters. The proposed cooperative control scheme enjoys structural modularity, plug-and-play capability, fault tolerance against random failures in the converters and/or communication links, and satisfactory dynamic performance. Chapter 6 provides a general analytical framework to study modular dc-dc converters with an arbitrary communication graph. Hence, the designer has the freedom to choose among the various types of graphs based on the available communication resources and the desired level of reliability and fault tolerance. The dynamic model of the cooperative multiphase converter system is developed and analyzed.

One of the shortcomings of the single-stage multiport systems, compared to their modular counterparts, is less reliability since the single-stage configurations have minimum redundancy. Semiconductor switches are, arguably, among the reliability bottlenecks in power electronic converters, in general, and single-stage multiport converters, specifically. Chapter 7 proposes redundant switch structures for reliability improvement in such systems. Parallel and standby configurations are applied to semiconductor switches to this aim. The reliability models of both configurations are developed based on Markov process. MTTF of each configuration is derived in terms of the underlying parameters. It is demonstrated that there is a boundary condition in which both configurations have the same MTTF. This boundary condition is expressed in terms of the junction temperature of the semiconductor switch in the steady state. The temperature range in which the parallel configuration is more reliable is formulated for different types of power semiconductor switches.

CHAPTER 2

MULTIPORT DC-DC CONVERTER WITH INDEPENDENT OUTPUTS

Multi-port converters can be synthesized by connecting several SISO converters to a common dc bus. This configuration, even though prevalent in conventional renewable energy systems, is not costor size-effective. Besides, control and stability issues associated with the negative input impedance of the SISO converters further degrade the performance of such systems and make a unified, single-stage, multiport converter a more attractive alternative. Single-stage multi-port converters can be categorized as MISO, SIMO, and MIMO converters.

MISO and SIMO dc-dc converters have been well studied in the literature. Several MISO topologies are derived from the basic SISO converters, namely, buck [1, 2], boost [3, 4], buck-boost [5-7], H-bridge [8-10], flyback, and forward [11, 12] converters. Assumptions, restrictions, and conditions for expanding basic SISO converters to their MISO versions are discussed in [13]. Systematic approaches to synthesize MISO converters are studied in [14]. SIMO converters can be categorized into isolated- and non-isolated topologies. In isolated topologies, a multiple-winding transformer is employed to provide multiple output ports. Usually, the output port that is connected to the heaviest load has a tight closed-loop control while the other output voltages are determined by the conversion ratios of the secondary windings and, thus, make independent regulation of output voltages challenging [15]. The non-isolated SIMO converters can be further categorized into independent- and series-output configurations. In independent-output configuration [16, 17], all outputs share the same ground whereas in series-output configuration [18, 19], different outputs are connected in a series fashion. Series-output SIMO converters are mostly used for balancing the dc-link voltages of diode-clamped multilevel inverters [19, 20].

Unlike MISO and SIMO converters, less attention has been paid to MIMO DC-DC converters in the literature to date. A MIMO converter is presented in [21] for energy harvesting in wireless sensor networks. High power operation of such converter would be challenging since it is designated to operate in discontinuous conduction mode, which means, inductor current cannot exceed above a certain limit. Another MIMO converter is proposed in [22] to interface between a Li-ion battery, a fuel cell, and a passive load. Even though only one passive load can be supplied, this topology is considered as a MIMO converter since it allows the battery to supply and sink the current, and hence, act as both "source" and "load". This chapter introduces a MIMO converter topology with independent outputs and "power budgeting capability" [23, 24]. Power budgeting capability can be defined as the ability of the converter to regulate the input powers coming from different energy sources in addition to regulating the output voltages.

The fundamental features of the proposed converter can be summarized as follows.

- Employing multiple energy sources and supplying multiple loads
- Power budgeting capability

• Employing a single inductor, which in turn, can reduce the size and cost of the converter, and simplify current sensing [6] (given the switching signals of the active switches, all input and output currents can be determined by only sensing the inductor current.)

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. The operational principles of the converter are discussed in section 2.1. Section 2.2 presents average value modeling and dynamic characterization for the converter. The control algorithm for power budgeting is developed in Section 2.3. Section 2.4 presents several case studies to verify analytical derivations and evaluate the performance of the proposed multiport converter.

2.1 Operational Principles

Figure 2.1 illustrates the proposed converter topology. This topology, in general, is capable of employing arbitrary number of input energy resources, $V_{in,1}$, $V_{in,2}$, ..., $V_{in,m}$, while regulating arbitrary number of output voltages, $V_{0,1}$, $V_{0,2}$, ..., $V_{0,n}$. Without loss of generality, the input voltage sources are assumingly arranged such that $V_{in,1} > V_{in,2} > \cdots > V_{in,m}$. The output voltages are assumed to be regulated

such that $V_{0,1} > V_{0,2} > \cdots > V_{0,n}$. It can be shown that the output voltage arrangement is achievable using the proposed switching scheme.



Figure 2.1 The proposed independent-output MIMO topology: a general *m*-input *n*-output converter.

The input and output switches are denoted by S_k and S'_k for the k^{th} input and output ports, respectively. All switches are FCBB except for S_1 , S_{m+1} , S'_1 , and S'_{n+1} . The FCBB switches are realized by a series connection of a MOSFET and a diode here. Switches S_1 and S'_{n+1} are single MOSFETs whereas S_{m+1} and S'_1 are single diodes. Even though FCBB switches imply unidirectional power flow, they are prevalent in MISO and SIMO converters to avoid simultaneous parallel connection of different dc sources [5-7]. Moreover, unidirectional multi-port converters are preferred in applications with unidirectional inputs (e.g. solar cells, fuel cells, primary batteries) or loads.

The proposed switching scheme for the converter is depicted in Figure 2.2. Switching commands are denoted by $q_1, q_2, ..., q_m$ and $q'_2, q'_3, ..., q'_{n+1}$ for the input and output MOSFETs, respectively. As shown in Figure 2.2, the leading edges of the switching commands coincide but the trailing edges do not necessarily coincide. The average-values of switching commands are the input and

output duty cycles, $d_1, d_2, ..., d_m$ and $\alpha_2, \alpha_3, ..., \alpha_{n+1}$, respectively. The switching command of S_m and S'_{n+1} are the same, i.e., $d_m = \alpha_{n+1}$. Since S_{m+1} and S'_1 are diodes, they do not require switching commands. However, to simplify model formulation, on-state switching commands are assigned, i.e., $d_{m+1} = \alpha_1 = 1$, as shown in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2 The designated switching scheme for the independent-output MIMO converter.

If two or more input switches are turned on, only the one connected to the highest input voltage conducts. This is the input switch with the lowest index. Likewise, if two or more output switches are turned on, only the one connected to the lowest output voltage conducts. This is the commanded output switch with the highest index. This property of the FCBB switches enables defining the concept of effective duty cycles for both input and output switches. A similar notion of the effective duty cycles for FCBB switches is defined in [6, 7] for MISO converters.

The effective duty cycles of input and output switches are denoted by $d_{e,1}, d_{e,2}, \dots, d_{e,m+1}$ and $\alpha_{e,1}, \alpha_{e,2}, \dots, \alpha_{e,n+1}$, respectively. These effective duty cycles are shown in Figure 2.2. The effective duty cycles of input switches, $d_{e,i}$, can be expressed in terms of commanded input duty cycles, d_i , as

$$d_{e,i} = \begin{cases} 0 & ,d_i < \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} d_{e,k} \\ d_i - \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} d_{e,k} & ,d_i \ge \sum_{k=1}^{i-1} d_{e,k} \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

where i = 2, ..., m + 1 and $d_{e,1} = d_1$. Similarly, the effective output duty cycles, $\alpha_{e,j}$, can be expressed in terms of the commanded output duty cycles, α_i , as

$$\alpha_{e,j} = \begin{cases} 0 & , \alpha_j < \sum_{k=j+1}^{n+1} \alpha_{e,k} \\ \alpha_j - \sum_{k=j+1}^{n+1} \alpha_{e,k} & , \alpha_j \ge \sum_{k=j+1}^{n+1} \alpha_{e,k} \end{cases}$$
(2.2)

where j = 1, 2, ..., n and $\alpha_{e,n+1} = \alpha_{n+1}$. On the other hand, given a set of effective input and output duty cycles, $d_{e,i}$ and $\alpha_{e,j}$, the commanded duty cycles, d_i and α_j , can be calculated to be used by the modulation circuitry as follows.

$$d_i = \sum_{k=1}^{i} d_{e,k} , i = 1, ..., m+1$$
(2.3)

$$\alpha_j = \sum_{k=j}^{n+1} \alpha_{e,k} \quad j = 1, ..., n+1.$$
(2.4)

In each sequential switching state, either one source is utilized or one load is powered. This time multiplexing method is prevalent in MISO dc-dc converters [5-7, 25]. Pulsating input currents is one of the inherent characteristics of this method, which can be justified by simplicity and compactness of the converter structure. Moreover, additional input current filters can be employed for those input sources that are unable to tolerate pulsating currents.

2.2 Dynamic Characterization

Dynamic characterization is an indispensable part of analyzing PWM converters. Proper controller design and stability analysis require extracting the dynamic model of the converter around the designated operating point (equilibrium point). Several dynamic characterization methods have been well studied in the literature including SSA, CA, and GSSA [26, 27]; among which SSA is the most well-established method; it is considered here.

First, the SSA model for a general *m*-input *n*-output converter is developed. Then, using the general model, the equivalent small-signal circuit for a two-input two-output converter is derived and different input to output transfer functions are obtained.

2.2.1 SSA for a General m-input n-output Converter

2.2.1.1 Average Model

SSA is based on the state-space description of the converter in each switching state. Assuming a m-input n-output converter, the state-space description of the converter in each switching state can be expressed as

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{K} \frac{d\mathbf{x}(t)}{dt} = \mathbf{A}_i \mathbf{x}(t) + \mathbf{B}_i \mathbf{u}(t) \\ \mathbf{y}(t) = \mathbf{C}_i \mathbf{x}(t) + \mathbf{D}_i \mathbf{u}(t) \end{cases}$$
(2.5)

where $\mathbf{x}(t)$, $\mathbf{u}(t)$, and $\mathbf{y}(t)$ are state, input, and output vectors:

$$\mathbf{x}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} v_{C_1} \\ \vdots \\ v_{C_n} \\ i_L \end{bmatrix}_{n+1}, \mathbf{u}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} v_{in,1} \\ \vdots \\ v_{in,m} \end{bmatrix}_m, \mathbf{y}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} i_{in,1} \\ \vdots \\ i_{in,m} \end{bmatrix}_m.$$
(2.6)

The outputs are arbitrarily chosen to be the input currents, $i_{in,1}, ..., i_{in,m}$. This assumption will simplify the derivation of equivalent small-signal circuit. Matrices \mathbf{A}_i , \mathbf{B}_i , \mathbf{C}_i , and \mathbf{D}_i are state matrix, input matrix, output matrix, and feed-forward matrix, respectively. Matrix **K** depends on the inductance and capacitance values of the energy storage components and remains constant during all switching states. The first *m* switching states (i = 1, ..., m) pertain to the charging subinterval of the inductor whereas the last *n* switching states (i = m + 1, ..., m + n) pertain to its discharging subinterval.

The basic principle of SSA states that the average of the product of a switching function (e.g. q_i) and one of the system vectors (e.g. $\mathbf{x}(t)$) can be approximated by the product of their averages over a switching period, T_s . In other words,

$$\langle q_i \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s} = \langle q_i \rangle_{T_s} \langle \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s} = d_i \langle \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$$
 (2.7)

where $\langle \rangle_{T_s}$ denotes the moving average of a signal over a switching period, T_s .

In order to apply the basic principle of SSA to MIMO converters, two modifications should be applied to (2.7). First, since the effective duty cycles are involved rather than commanded duty cycles, $d_{e,i}$ should be used in (2.7) instead of d_i . Second, for output switches, q'_i and $\alpha_{e,i}$ should be considered. Applying SSA to the state-space description of the converter (2.5), results in

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{K} \frac{d \langle \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s}}{dt} = \mathbf{\bar{A}} \langle \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s} + \mathbf{\bar{B}} \langle \mathbf{u}(t) \rangle_{T_s} \\ \langle \mathbf{y}(t) \rangle_{T_s} = \mathbf{\bar{C}} \langle \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s} + \mathbf{\bar{D}} \langle \mathbf{u}(t) \rangle_{T_s} \end{cases}$$
(2.8)

where

$$\left\langle \mathbf{x}(t) \right\rangle_{T_{s}} = \begin{bmatrix} \left\langle v_{C_{1}} \right\rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \vdots \\ \left\langle v_{C_{n}} \right\rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \left\langle i_{L} \right\rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix}, \left\langle \mathbf{u}(t) \right\rangle_{T_{s}} = \begin{bmatrix} \left\langle v_{in,1} \right\rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \vdots \\ \left\langle v_{in,m} \right\rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix}, \left\langle \mathbf{y}(t) \right\rangle_{T_{s}} = \begin{bmatrix} \left\langle i_{in,1} \right\rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \vdots \\ \left\langle i_{in,m} \right\rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.9)

The average state, $\overline{\mathbf{A}}$, input, $\overline{\mathbf{B}}$, output, $\overline{\mathbf{C}}$, and feedforward, $\overline{\mathbf{D}}$, matrices can be found as follows.

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\mathbf{A}} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{e,i}(t) \mathbf{A}_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{e,j}(t) \mathbf{A}_{m+n-j+1} \\ \overline{\mathbf{B}} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{e,i}(t) \mathbf{B}_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{e,j}(t) \mathbf{B}_{m+n-j+1} \\ \overline{\mathbf{C}} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{e,i}(t) \mathbf{C}_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{e,j}(t) \mathbf{C}_{m+n-j+1} \\ \overline{\mathbf{D}} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{e,i}(t) \mathbf{D}_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{e,j}(t) \mathbf{D}_{m+n-j+1} \end{cases}$$
(2.10)

It should be noted that the first output's effective duty cycles, $\alpha_{e,1}(t)$, is uncontrollable since it belongs to a diode, D'_1 . This duty cycle is internally determined such that the summation of all effective duty cycles will be 1. Hence, it can be expressed in terms of the other effective duty cycles as

$$\alpha_{e,1}(t) = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{e,i}(t) - \sum_{j=2}^{n} \alpha_{e,j}(t).$$
(2.11)

Considering (2.11), (2.10) can be modified as follows.

$$\overline{\mathbf{A}} = \mathbf{A}_{m+n} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{e,i}(t) (\mathbf{A}_{i} - \mathbf{A}_{m+n}) + \sum_{j=2}^{n} \alpha_{e,j}(t) (\mathbf{A}_{m+n-j+1} - \mathbf{A}_{m+n}) .$$

$$\overline{\mathbf{B}} = \mathbf{B}_{m+n} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{e,i}(t) (\mathbf{B}_{i} - \mathbf{B}_{m+n}) + \sum_{j=2}^{n} \alpha_{e,j}(t) (\mathbf{B}_{m+n-j+1} - \mathbf{B}_{m+n}) .$$

$$\overline{\mathbf{C}} = \mathbf{C}_{m+n} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{e,i}(t) (\mathbf{C}_{i} - \mathbf{C}_{m+n}) + \sum_{j=2}^{n} \alpha_{e,j}(t) (\mathbf{C}_{m+n-j+1} - \mathbf{C}_{m+n}) .$$

$$\overline{\mathbf{D}} = \mathbf{D}_{m+n} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} d_{e,i}(t) (\mathbf{D}_{i} - \mathbf{D}_{m+n}) + \sum_{j=2}^{n} \alpha_{e,j}(t) (\mathbf{D}_{m+n-j+1} - \mathbf{D}_{m+n}) .$$
(2.12)

2.2.1.2 Linearization and Equilibrium Point

In steady-state, the averaged state variables, $\langle \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, inputs, $\langle \mathbf{u}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, and outputs, $\langle \mathbf{y}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, are supposed to be settled at a desired equilibrium point. They can be expressed in terms of their steady-state values (at the equilibrium point) and perturbations around it:

$$\begin{cases} \langle \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s} = \mathbf{X} + \langle \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s} \\ \langle \mathbf{u}(t) \rangle_{T_s} = \mathbf{U} + \langle \mathbf{u}(t) \rangle_{T_s} \\ \langle \mathbf{y}(t) \rangle_{T_s} = \mathbf{Y} + \langle \mathbf{y}(t) \rangle_{T_s} \end{cases}$$
(2.13)

where **X**, **U**, **Y** represent the equilibrium point for state variables, inputs, and outputs, respectively; $\langle \hat{\mathbf{x}}(t) \rangle_{T_s}, \langle \hat{\mathbf{u}}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, and $\langle \hat{\mathbf{y}}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, denote the corresponding perturbations around the equilibrium point. The input and output duty cycles can be similarly expressed in terms of their values at the equilibrium point and perturbations around them:

$$\begin{cases} d_{e,i}(t) = D_{e,i} + \hat{d}_{e,i}(t) \\ \alpha_{e,j}(t) = A_{e,j} + \hat{\alpha}_{e,j}(t) \end{cases}$$
(2.14)

where $D_{e,i}$ and $A_{e,j}$ denote the equilibrium point values of $d_{e,i}(t)$ and $\alpha_{e,j}(t)$, respectively.

Substituting (2.13) and (2.14) into (2.8) and discarding the perturbation terms, one may find the basic algebraic equations that govern the steady state operation of the converter:

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{0} = \mathbf{A}\mathbf{X} + \mathbf{B}\mathbf{U} \\ \mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{C}\mathbf{X} + \mathbf{D}\mathbf{U} \end{cases}$$
(2.15)

where

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{A} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} D_{e,i} \mathbf{A}_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} A_{e,j} \mathbf{A}_{m+n-j+1} \\ \mathbf{B} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} D_{e,i} \mathbf{B}_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} A_{e,j} \mathbf{B}_{m+n-j+1} \\ \mathbf{C} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} D_{e,i} \mathbf{C}_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} A_{e,j} \mathbf{C}_{m+n-j+1} \\ \mathbf{D} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} D_{e,i} \mathbf{D}_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} A_{e,j} \mathbf{D}_{m+n-j+1} \end{cases}$$
(2.16)

Thus, the steady-state values of state variables, **X**, and outputs, **Y**, (i.e. equilibrium point) can be found as follows.

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{X} = -\mathbf{A}^{-1}\mathbf{B}\mathbf{U} \\ \mathbf{Y} = \left(\mathbf{D} - \mathbf{C}\mathbf{A}^{-1}\mathbf{B}\right) \mathbf{U} \end{cases}$$
(2.17)

Equation (2.17) is used to design a proper equilibrium point for the converter, i.e., determining the required $D_{e,i}$ and $A_{e,j}$ to achieve the desired **X** and **Y**.

Substituting (2.13) and (2.14) into (2.8) and (2.12), one can find the SSA model for a general *m*-input *n*-output converter. In order to linearize the obtained model, the higher order terms that pertain to multiplication of two perturbation signals (e.g. $\hat{d}_{e,i}\langle \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$), should be discarded. The resulted linearized SSA model can be found as follows.

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{K} \frac{d \langle \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s}}{dt} = \mathbf{A} \langle \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s} + \mathbf{B} \langle \mathbf{u}(t) \rangle_{T_s} + \sum_{i=1}^m \mathbf{F}_i \hat{d}_{e,i}(t) + \sum_{j=2}^n \mathbf{G}_j \hat{\alpha}_{e,j}(t) \\ \hat{\mathbf{y}}(t) \rangle_{T_s} = \mathbf{C} \langle \mathbf{x}(t) \rangle_{T_s} + \mathbf{D} \langle \mathbf{u}(t) \rangle_{T_s} + \sum_{i=1}^m \mathbf{L}_i \hat{d}_{e,i}(t) + \sum_{j=2}^n \mathbf{M}_j \hat{\alpha}_{e,j}(t) . \end{cases}$$
(2.18)

where

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{F}_{i} = (\mathbf{A}_{i} - \mathbf{A}_{m+n}) \mathbf{X} + (\mathbf{B}_{i} - \mathbf{B}_{m+n}) \mathbf{U} \\ \mathbf{G}_{j} = (\mathbf{A}_{m+n-j+1} - \mathbf{A}_{m+n}) \mathbf{X} + (\mathbf{B}_{m+n-j+1} - \mathbf{B}_{m+n}) \mathbf{U} \\ \mathbf{L}_{i} = (\mathbf{C}_{i} - \mathbf{C}_{m+n}) \mathbf{X} + (\mathbf{D}_{i} - \mathbf{D}_{m+n}) \mathbf{U} \\ \mathbf{M}_{j} = (\mathbf{C}_{m+n-j+1} - \mathbf{C}_{m+n}) \mathbf{X} + (\mathbf{D}_{m+n-j+1} - \mathbf{D}_{m+n}) \mathbf{U} \end{cases}$$
(2.19)

As suggested by (2.18), matrices \mathbf{F}_i , \mathbf{G}_j , \mathbf{L}_i , and \mathbf{M}_j determine the effect of the effective input and output duty cycles, $\hat{d}_{e,i}$ and $\hat{\alpha}_{e,j}$, on the state-space equations of the linearized SSA model.

2.2.2 Model Development for a Two-input Two-output Converter

2.2.2.1 Average Model

~

According to (2.6), the state, $\mathbf{x}(t)$, input, $\mathbf{u}(t)$, and output, $\mathbf{y}(t)$, vectors for a two-input twooutput converter are

$$\mathbf{x}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} v_{C_1} \\ v_{C_2} \\ i_L \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{u}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} v_{in,1} \\ v_{in,2} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{y}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} i_{in,1} \\ i_{in,2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.20)

Since two inputs and two outputs are considered, four switching states exist. The state-space description of the two-input two-output converter in these switching states can be written in a lumped format as follows.

$$\begin{cases} C_1 \frac{dv_{C_1}}{dt} = -\frac{v_{C_1}}{R_1} + (q_1' - q_2')i_L \\ C_2 \frac{dv_{C_2}}{dt} = -\frac{v_{C_2}}{R_2} + (q_2' - q_3')i_L \\ L \frac{di_L}{dt} = (q_2' - q_1')v_{C_1} + (q_3' - q_2')v_{C_2} + q_1v_{in,1} + q_2v_{in,2} \\ \end{cases}$$

$$\begin{cases} i_{in,1} = q_1i_L \\ i_{in,2} = (q_2 - q_1)i_L \end{cases}$$
(2.21)

The state, input, output, and feedforward matrices pertaining to each switching state, \mathbf{A}_i , \mathbf{B}_i , \mathbf{C}_i , and \mathbf{D}_i , can be extracted from the state-space equation in (2.21). This step is skipped here for conciseness.

2.2.2.2 Equilibrium Point

Considering (2.16) and the system matrices pertaining to each switching state, A_i , B_i , C_i , and D_i , the averaged system matrices in equilibrium point, A, B, C, and D, can be obtained as follows.

$$\mathbf{A} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{-1}{R_{1}} & 0 & A_{e,1} \\ 0 & \frac{-1}{R_{2}} & A_{e,2} \\ -A_{e,1} & -A_{e,2} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \mathbf{B} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ D_{e,1} & D_{e,2} \end{bmatrix}, \mathbf{C} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & D_{e,1} \\ 0 & 0 & D_{e,2} \end{bmatrix}, \mathbf{D} = \mathbf{0}_{2 \times 2}.$$
 (2.22)

Thus, the equilibrium values (steady-state values) of the state variables, \mathbf{X} , and outputs, \mathbf{Y} , can be found using (2.17) and (2.22):

$$\mathbf{X} = \begin{bmatrix} V_{C_1} \\ V_{C_2} \\ I_L \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{R_1 A_{e,1} (V_{in,1} D_{e,1} + V_{in,2} D_{e,2})}{R_1 A_{e,1}^2 + R_2 A_{e,2}^2} \\ \frac{R_2 A_{e,2} (V_{in,1} D_{e,1} + V_{in,2} D_{e,2})}{R_1 A_{e,1}^2 + R_2 A_{e,2}^2} \\ \frac{V_{in,1} D_{e,1} + V_{in,2} D_{e,2}}{R_1 A_{e,1}^2 + R_2 A_{e,2}^2} \end{bmatrix}, \mathbf{Y} = \begin{bmatrix} I_{in,1} \\ I_{in,2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{D_{e,1} (V_{in,1} D_{e,1} + V_{in,2} D_{e,2})}{R_1 A_{e,1}^2 + R_2 A_{e,2}^2} \\ \frac{D_{e,2} (V_{in,1} D_{e,1} + V_{in,2} D_{e,2})}{R_1 A_{e,1}^2 + R_2 A_{e,2}^2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.23)

It should be noted that assuming an ideal converter, the capacitors' voltages in (2.23) are the same as output voltages. Thus, the first two rows of vector **X** in (2.23) are the steady-state conversion ratios of the converter from $V_{in,1}$ and $V_{in,2}$ to $V_{o,1}$ and $V_{o,2}$. Using the same method, it can be shown in general that the conversion ratios for a general *m*-input *n*-output converter have the same form:

$$V_{o,j} = \frac{A_{e,j} \sum_{i=1}^{m} V_{in,i} D_{e,i}}{\sum_{k=1}^{n} n_{k,j} A_{e,k}^2}, \quad n_{k,j} = \frac{R_k}{R_j}, \quad j = 1, \cdots, n,$$
(2.24)

Similarly, the inductor average current, I_L , and average input currents, $I_{in,i}$, for a general *m*-input *n*-output converter have the same form as those of two-input two-output converter in (2.23):

$$I_{L} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} V_{in,i} D_{e,i}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} R_{j} A_{e,j}^{2}}, \quad I_{in,i} = \frac{D_{e,i} \sum_{k=1}^{m} V_{in,k} D_{e,k}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} R_{j} A_{e,j}^{2}}, \quad i = 1, \cdots, m.$$
(2.25)

2.2.2.3 Linearization and Small-signal Model Extraction

Applying the general linearized SSA model in (2.18) and (2.19) to the two-input two-output converter with the switching states described in (2.21) results in (2.26). Equations (2.26) describes the linearized small-signal SSA model for the two-input two-output converter. This model can be used to construct the equivalent small-signal circuit for a two-input two-output converter.

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & C_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & L \\ \hline \mathbf{K} \end{bmatrix} \stackrel{\land}{\mathbf{K}} \begin{bmatrix} \langle \mathbf{v}_{C_{1}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \langle \mathbf{v}_{C_{2}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \langle \mathbf{i}_{L}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{R_{1}} & 0 & A_{e,1} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{R_{2}} & A_{e,2} \\ -A_{e,1} & -A_{e,2} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \langle \mathbf{v}_{C_{1}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \langle \mathbf{i}_{L}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix} \\ \stackrel{\land}{\mathbf{K}} \end{bmatrix} \stackrel{\land}{\mathbf{K}} \begin{bmatrix} \langle \mathbf{v}_{m,1}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \langle \mathbf{v}_{m,2}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -I_{L} \\ 0 \\ V_{C_{1}} + V_{m,1} \end{bmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{d}}_{e,1}(t) + \begin{bmatrix} -I_{L} \\ 0 \\ V_{C_{1}} + V_{m,2} \end{bmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{d}}_{e,2}(t) + \begin{bmatrix} -I_{L} \\ I_{L} \\ V_{C_{1}} - V_{C_{2}} \end{bmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{d}}_{e,2}(t),$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \langle \hat{\mathbf{i}}_{m,1}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \langle \mathbf{w}_{m,2}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & D_{e,1} \\ \langle \mathbf{v}_{C_{1}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \langle \mathbf{v}_{C_{1}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \langle \mathbf{v}_{C_{1}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{v}_{C_{1}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \langle \mathbf{v}_{C_{1}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{v}_{L} \\ \mathbf{v}_{D_{1}} + V_{m,1} \end{bmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{d}}_{e,1}(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ I_{L} \\ I_{L} \end{bmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{d}}_{e,2}(t).$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \langle \hat{\mathbf{v}}_{D_{1}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \langle \mathbf{v}_{D_{1}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & D_{e,1} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & D_{e,2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \langle \mathbf{v}_{C_{1}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \langle \mathbf{v}_{C_{2}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} I_{L} \\ \mathbf{0} \\ \langle \mathbf{v}_{C_{2}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} I_{L} \\ \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{d}}_{e,1}(t) + \begin{bmatrix} I_{L} \\ \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{1}_{L} \end{bmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{d}}_{e,2}(t).$$

$$(2.26)$$

2.2.2.4 Equivalent Small-signal Circuit

An equivalent small-signal circuit can be constructed from the linearized small-signal SSA model in (2.26). This equivalent circuit helps to better understand the dynamics of the converter. Moreover, extracting the input-to-output transfer functions is more straightforward using this equivalent circuit rather than inspecting (2.26).

Figure 2.3(a and b) depict the equivalent small-signal circuits corresponding to the first and second row of the algebraic equations in (2.26), pertaining to $\langle i_{in,1}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$ and $\langle i_{in,2}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, respectively. These sub-circuits illustrate the dynamics of the input ports of the converter. Similarly, Figure 2.3(c, d, and e) pertain to the first, second, and third rows of the differential equations in (2.26), pertaining to $\langle v_{c_1}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, $\langle v_{c_2}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, and $\langle i_L(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, respectively. These sub-circuits illustrate the dynamics of the input ports of the differential equations in (2.26), pertaining to $\langle v_{c_1}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, $\langle v_{c_2}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, and $\langle i_L(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, respectively. These sub-circuits illustrate the dynamics of the inductor and the output ports of the converter.

The dependent current source $D_{e,1}\langle i_L(t)\rangle_{T_s}$ in the sub-circuit shown in Figure 2.3(a) and the dependent voltage source $D_{e,1}\langle \hat{v}_{in,1}(t)\rangle_{T_s}$ in the sub-circuit shown in Figure 2.3(e) imply the presence of a transformer between these sub-circuits. The turn-ratio of this transformer is 1: $D_{e,1}$. Similarly, other coupled dependent voltage and current sources can be identified in Figure 2.3(a-e). These coupled dependent sources are depicted in squares whereas the independent sources are shown in circles. Replacing the coupled dependent current and voltage sources by the equivalent transformers, all sub-circuits in Figure 2.3(a-e) can be combined together and a lumped equivalent circuit can be constructed. Figure 2.4 depicts the lumped equivalent small-signal circuit.



Figure 2.3 The equivalent small-signal circuits describing the converter's dynamics.



Figure 2.4 The lumped equivalent small-signal circuit describing converter's dynamics.

2.2.2.5 Input-to-output Transfer Functions

Using the lumped equivalent small-signal circuit in Figure 2.4, different input-to-output transfer functions can be derived. To this point, the outputs have been defined as the input currents, $i_{in,1}$ and $i_{in,2}$ in (2.20). This assumption was made to simplify development of the equivalent small-signal circuit. Now that the small-signal circuit is found, the outputs of the system can be defined as the output voltages (capacitors' voltages) since they need to be tightly regulated. In addition, the inputs of the system are comprised of three categories: the input voltages, $\langle \hat{v}_{in,1}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$, the effective input duty cycles, $\hat{d}_{e,i}$, and the

effective output duty cycles, $\hat{\alpha}_{e,i}$. Thus, three types of input-to-output transfer functions can be identified as illustrated in Figure 2.5. The transfer function matrix, **H**(*s*), can be defined, elements of which are the input-to-output transfer functions

$$\mathbf{H}(s) = \left[\mathbf{H}^{d}(s) \mid \mathbf{H}^{\alpha}(s) \mid \mathbf{H}^{\nu}(s)\right], \qquad (2.27)$$

$$\mathbf{H}^{d}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} H_{11}^{d}(s) & \cdots & H_{m1}^{d}(s) \\ H_{12}^{d}(s) & \cdots & H_{m2}^{d}(s) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ H_{1n}^{d}(s) & \cdots & H_{mn}^{d}(s) \end{bmatrix}, \\ \mathbf{H}^{\alpha}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} H_{21}^{\alpha}(s) & \cdots & H_{n1}^{\alpha}(s) \\ H_{22}^{\alpha}(s) & \cdots & H_{n2}^{\alpha}(s) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ H_{2n}^{\alpha}(s) & \cdots & H_{mn}^{\alpha}(s) \end{bmatrix}, \\ \mathbf{H}^{\nu}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} H_{11}^{\nu}(s) & \cdots & H_{m1}^{\nu}(s) \\ H_{12}^{\nu}(s) & \cdots & H_{m2}^{\nu}(s) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ H_{1n}^{\nu}(s) & \cdots & H_{mn}^{\nu}(s) \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$(2.28)$$

Thus,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{v}}_{v_{0,1}} \rangle_{T_{s}}(s) \\ \hat{\mathbf{v}}_{v_{0,2}} \rangle_{T_{s}}(s) \\ \vdots \\ \hat{\mathbf{v}}_{v_{0,2}} \rangle_{T_{s}}(s) \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{H}(s) \times \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{d}}_{e}(s) \\ \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{e}(s) \\ \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{e}(s) \\ \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{e}(s) \end{bmatrix}, \hat{\mathbf{d}}_{e}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{d}_{e,1}(s) \\ \vdots \\ \hat{d}_{e,m}(s) \end{bmatrix}, \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{e}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\alpha}_{e,2}(s) \\ \vdots \\ \hat{\alpha}_{e,n}(s) \end{bmatrix}, \hat{\mathbf{v}}_{in} \rangle_{T_{s}}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{v}}_{in,1} \rangle_{T_{s}}(s) \\ \vdots \\ \hat{\mathbf{v}}_{in,m} \rangle_{T_{s}}(s) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.29)


Figure 2.5 Definition of the system inputs, outputs, and input-to-output transfer functions.

For a two-input two-output converter, the dimensions of $\mathbf{H}(s)$ is 2×5; ten transfer functions can be identified. Here, the transfer function $H_{11}^d(s)$ is derived in terms of the circuit parameters:

$$H_{11}^{d}(s) = \frac{\beta_2^{d11}s^2 + \beta_1^{d11}s + \beta_0^{d11}}{\mu_3 s^3 + \mu_2 s^2 + \mu_1 s + \mu_0}$$
(2.30)

This transfer functions will be used in the case studies section (section 2.4). The numerator and denominator coefficients of this transfer functions are given as follows.

$$\begin{cases} \mu_{0} = R_{1}A_{e,1}^{2} + R_{2}A_{e,2}^{2} \\ \mu_{1} = L + R_{1}R_{2}(C_{2}A_{e,1}^{2} + C_{1}A_{e,2}^{2}) \\ \mu_{2} = (R_{1}C_{1} + R_{2}C_{2})L \\ \mu_{3} = R_{1}R_{2}LC_{1}C_{2} \end{cases}$$

$$\begin{cases} \beta_{0}^{d11} = (V_{C_{1}} + V_{in,1})A_{e,1}R_{1} - R_{1}R_{2}I_{L}A_{e,2}^{2} \\ \beta_{1}^{d11} = (V_{C_{1}} + V_{in,1})A_{e,1}R_{1}R_{2}C_{2} - LR_{1}I_{L} \\ \beta_{2}^{d11} = -R_{1}R_{2}C_{2}I_{L}L \end{cases}$$

$$(2.31)$$

Other input-to-output transfer functions can be similarly found by inspecting the lumped equivalent small-signal circuit (Figure 2.4).

2.3 Power Budgeting

The objective of this section is to design and analyze a MIMO controller that is able to regulate the input powers and output voltages at the same time. It should be noted that, assuming an ideal converter, the conservation of power principle implies that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} P_{in,i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{V_{o,j}^2}{R_j}.$$
(2.32)

Hence, it is not possible to regulate all the input powers and output voltages at the same time; one of the inputs should be relaxed to supply arbitrary power. For the two-input two-output converter considered here, $P_{in,2}$ is relaxed.

Before designing the controller to regulate the output voltages and input powers, it is necessary to analyze the regulation problem in equilibrium point (steady-state). Then, a closed-loop MIMO controller can be designed around this equilibrium point. Using (2.25), for a m-input n-output converter, the input powers coming from diversified sources can be found as

$$P_{in,i} = V_{in,i}I_{in,i} = \frac{V_{in,i}D_{e,i}\sum_{k=1}^{m}V_{in,k}D_{e,k}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n}R_{j}A_{e,j}^{2}}, \quad i = 1,...,m$$
(2.33)

in steady-state. Besides, proper output voltage regulation in steady-state requires that (2.24) is satisfied. Equation (2.24) and (2.33) form a set of m + n nonlinear equations to be solved for the steady-state values of duty cycles, $D_{e,1}, ..., D_{e,m}, A_{e,2}, ..., A_{e,n}$. Only m + n - 1 of these equations are independent since conservation of power must be satisfied (2.32). Besides, $A_{e,1}$ is not controllable since S'_1 is a single diode; thus, there are m + n - 1 unknown variables to solve for (the number of equations and unknown variables are equal). Once the steady-state values of $D_{e,1}, ..., D_{e,m}, A_{e,2}, ..., A_{e,n}$ are calculated, a MIMO controller can be designed around the corresponding equilibrium point.

2.3.1 Feedback Loop Design

The state-space description of the converter's small-signal model is needed for designing the controller. The small-signal SSA model developed in (2.26) can be used with two modifications. First, since the input voltage perturbations are not concerned when designing the controller, $\langle \hat{v}_{in,1}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$ and $\langle \hat{v}_{in,2}(t) \rangle_{T_s}$ in (2.26) can be neglected (set to zero). Then, by arranging the effective duty cycles as the input vector of the system, **u**, one can find

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{A} \\ i_{L}(t) \end{pmatrix}_{T_{s}} \\ \hat{A} \\ \langle v_{C_{1}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \hat{A} \\ \langle v_{C_{2}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \frac{-A_{e,1}}{L} & \frac{-A_{e,2}}{L} \\ \frac{A_{e,1}}{C_{1}} & \frac{-1}{R_{1}C_{1}} & 0 \\ \frac{A_{e,2}}{C_{2}} & 0 & \frac{-1}{R_{2}C_{2}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{A} \\ \langle v_{C_{1}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \hat{A} \\ \langle v_{C_{2}}(t) \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{bmatrix} + \underbrace{\begin{bmatrix} \frac{V_{C_{1}} + V_{in,2}}{L} & \frac{V_{C_{1}} - V_{C_{2}}}{L} \\ \frac{-I_{L}}{C_{1}} & \frac{-I_{L}}{C_{1}} & \frac{-I_{L}}{C_{1}} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{I_{L}}{C_{2}} \end{bmatrix}} \underbrace{\begin{bmatrix} \hat{d}_{e,1}(t) \\ \hat{d}_{e,2}(t) \\ \hat{d}_{e,2}(t) \end{bmatrix}}_{\mathbf{u}}, \quad (2.34)$$

where **x**, \mathbf{A}_{ol} , and \mathbf{B}_{ol} are the state vector, open-loop state matrix, and open-loop input matrix. In (2.20), system outputs were defined to be the input currents, to simplify derivation of the small-signal equivalent circuit. However, the outputs of the system for the purpose of controller design should be defined as the input powers and output voltages. The average power delivered by the first input source, $p_{in,1}(t)$, can be expressed as

$$\langle p_{in,1}(t) \rangle_{T_s} = V_{in,1} d_{e,1}(t) \langle i_L(t) \rangle_{T_s}.$$
 (2.35)

Linearizing (2.35) around the equilibrium point, one may find

$$\left\langle p_{in,1}(t) \right\rangle_{T_s} = V_{in,1} D_{e,1} \left\langle i_L(t) \right\rangle_{T_s} + V_{in,1} I_L \hat{d}_{e,1}(t).$$
(2.36)

Thus, the system output equation can be written as

where $\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{C}_{ol}$, and \mathbf{D}_{ol} are the output vector, output matrix, and feedforward matrix.

Equations (2.34) and (2.37) form the state-space description of the converter's small-signal model or simply the "plant" model. A closed-loop control scheme can be constructed around the plant model to regulate the outputs, $p_{in,1}(t)$, $v_{o,1}(t)$, and $v_{o,2}(t)$. Figure 2.6 illustrates such closed-loop control scheme using a MIMO PI controller. The integral and proportional terms, \mathbf{K}_i and \mathbf{K}_p , of a MIMO PI controller are matrices as opposed to conventional PI controllers, where they are real numbers. The integrator part, \mathbf{K}_i/s , of the controller ensures eliminating the steady-state error between the output vector, \mathbf{y} , and reference vector, \mathbf{r} .



Figure 2.6 The closed-loop block diagram of the converter and controller.

Employing the MIMO PI controller introduces new state variables to the system, \mathbf{v} . In order to analyze the stability and dynamic performance of the closed-loop system, it is necessary to develop a new state-space description for the system that takes account of \mathbf{v} as a part of the state vector. The differential equations governing the system block diagram in Figure 2.6 are

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\mathbf{x}}{dt} = \mathbf{A}_{ol}\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{B}_{ol}\mathbf{u} \\ \mathbf{y} = \mathbf{C}_{ol}\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{D}_{ol}\mathbf{u} \\ \frac{d\mathbf{v}}{dt} = \mathbf{r} - \mathbf{y} \\ \mathbf{u} = \mathbf{K}_{i}\mathbf{v} + \mathbf{K}_{p}\frac{d\mathbf{v}}{dt} \end{cases}$$
(2.38)

These equations can be manipulated to obtain the state space description of the closed-loop system as follows.

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{v} \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{A}_{cl} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{v} \end{bmatrix} + \mathbf{B}_{cl} \mathbf{r} \\ \mathbf{y} = \mathbf{C}_{cl} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{v} \end{bmatrix} + \mathbf{D}_{cl} \mathbf{r} \end{cases}$$
(2.39)

where

$$\mathbf{A}_{cl} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A}_{ol} - \mathbf{B}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p} (\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{ol} & \mathbf{B}_{ol} (\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{K}_{p} (\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{ol}) \mathbf{K}_{i} \\ -(\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{ol} & -(\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{i} \end{bmatrix} \\ \mathbf{B}_{cl} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{B}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p} (\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \\ (\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.40)
$$\mathbf{C}_{cl} = [(\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{ol} & (\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{i}] \\ \mathbf{D}_{cl} = [(\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p}]$$

and \mathbf{A}_{cl} , \mathbf{B}_{cl} , \mathbf{C}_{cl} , and \mathbf{D}_{cl} are the state, input, output, and feedthrough matrices of the closed-loop system.

2.3.2 Stability Analysis

In order for the designed closed-loop system to be stable, the eigenvalues of the closed-loop state matrix, \mathbf{A}_{cl} , must lie on the left-hand complex plane. In other words, the real part of the eigenvalues must be negative:

$$\begin{cases} \det(\lambda_i \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{cl}) = 0\\ \forall \lambda_i : \quad \operatorname{Re}\{\lambda_i\} < 0 \end{cases}, i = 1, \cdots, 2n+1 \tag{2.41}$$

2.4 Case Studies

2.4.1 Hardware Setup

A two-input two-output laboratory-scale prototype is built to evaluate the performance of the proposed topology. The hardware setup is shown in Figure 2.7. The circuit parameters of the implemented prototype are as follows. $V_{in,1} = 25$ V, $V_{in,2} = 20$ V, $L = 250\mu$ H, $R_1 = 24\Omega$, $R_2 = 13\Omega$, $C_1 = 2200\mu$ F, $C_2 = 2200\mu$ F, $V_{o,1} = 22$ V, and $V_{o,2} = 11$ V. The controller algorithm is implemented in ezDSP-F2808 DSP board (target computer). The target computer is connected to a laptop (host computer) via USB JTAG emulation connector for real-time monitoring purposes. The first input's voltage and current, $v_{in,1}$ and $i_{in,1}$ are measured and fed to the target computer to compute the first input's power, $p_{in,1}$. The output voltages, $v_{o,1}$ and $v_{o,2}$ are also sampled by the target computer. Since the input current $i_{in,1}$ is pulsating, it goes through a second order analog Butterworth filter before being sampled by ADCs of the target computer. All other measured variables, $v_{in,1}$, $v_{o,1}$, and $v_{o,2}$, also go through the same analog filters to filter high-frequency components and avoid aliasing. The switching frequency and the cut-off frequencies of all Butterworth filters are 40kHz and 400Hz, respectively.

2.4.2 Converter Operation in Steady-state

Figure 2.8 illustrates the measured circuit waveforms in steady-state. The switching signals, q_1 , q_2 , q'_2 , corresponding to the active switches, S_1 , S_2 , and S'_2 , are depicted in Figure 2.8 for two switching cycles. As seen in Figure 2.8, the commanded duty cycles, d_1 , d_2 , α_2 , are not the same as effective duty cycles, $d_{e,1}$, $d_{e,2}$, $\alpha_{e,2}$, and $\alpha_{e,1}$, determine the portions of the switching period that different input and output voltages, $V_{in,1}$, $V_{in,2}$, $V_{o,2}$, and $V_{o,1}$, are applied across the inductor, respectively. The measured voltages of the left and right sides of the inductor, v_a and v_b in Figure 2.1, and the inductor voltage, $v_L = v_a - v_b$, are also shown in Figure 2.8. As seen in Figure 2.8, the input and output voltages are applied to the inductor according to the pattern $V_{in,1}$, $V_{in,2}$, $-V_{o,2}$, $-V_{o,1}$, ..., and cause the inductor current to increase and decrease sequentially. The steady-state duty

cycles for regulation of output voltages and the first input power, $v_{o,1}$, $v_{o,2}$, and $p_{in,1}$, are measured to be $D_1 \approx 0.3$, $D_2 \approx 0.5$, $A_2 \approx 0.7$, which verify the steady-state characterizations in (2.24) and (2.25).



Figure 2.7 The hardware setup: (a) The converter prototype, (b) target computer (ezDSP-F2808 board), (c) host computer (laptop), (d) input voltage sources, (e) output static loads, (f) dynamic load, (g) oscilloscope.



Figure 2.8 The measured circuit waveforms in steady state: q_1 , q_2 , q'_2 , v_a , v_b , v_L and i_L .

2.4.3 Small-signal Model Verification

According to (2.27) and (2.28), for the two-input two-output converter prototype, 10 input to output transfer functions can be considered, one of which are illustrated in Figure 2.9 as an example. The considered transfer function, $H_{11}^d(s)$, is analytically derived in (2.30) and (2.31), and plotted in Figure 2.9. Measurement and simulation data are also incorporated in Figure 2.9 to verify the analytical derivations. Numerical simulations are conducted using SIMULINK in MATLAB [28].



Figure 2.9 The input-to-output transfer function $H_d^{11}(s)$.

2.4.4 Controller Performance

Employing the proposed control scheme in section 2.3, the converter is able to regulate the output voltages, $v_{o,1}$ and $v_{o,2}$, as well as the first input power, $p_{in,1}$. The second input power, $p_{in,2}$ is relaxed to enable proper output voltages regulation, according to (2.32). It should be noted that the controller coefficients are not tuned for optimal performance since optimal controller design is not within the scope of this dissertation. However, the designed controller shows good dynamic performance; Using the given controller coefficient, all eigenvalues of the resulting closed-loop state matrix will be located on the left side of the complex plane, i.e., the closed-loop system is stable.

Besides, the integrator term in the control rule, \mathbf{K}_i/s , ensures zero steady-state error, which means all output voltages and input power will be regulated at the desired levels in steady-states.

2.4.4.1 Line Regulation

Figure 2.10 illustrates the measured line-regulation performance of the converter. The output voltages and the first input power, $v_{o,1}$, $v_{o,2}$, and $p_{in,1}$, are set at 22V, 11V, and 35W, respectively. As seen in Figure 2.10, once the step change in the first input voltage, $v_{in,1}$, occurs, the controller adjusts the input and output duty cycles to decrease the average current coming from the first input, $\langle i_{in,1} \rangle$, in order to keep $p_{in,1}$ at the desired setpoint ($p_{in,1} = 35W$). Moreover, the output voltages regulation is also achieved at the same time.



Figure 2.10 The measured line-regulation performance of the converter (25% increase in $v_{in,1}$).

2.4.4.2 Load Regulation

Figure 2.11 depicts the measured load-regulation performance of the converter prototype. A 230% step change in the first output load, $i_{o,1}$, is applied at the marked instance in Figure 2.11. Since the first input voltage, $v_{in,1}$, does not vary, regulation of the first input power, $p_{in,1}$, is equivalent to keeping $\langle i_{in,1} \rangle$ at the constant level. As shown in Figure 2.11, the controller adjusts the input and output duty cycles to keep $\langle i_{in,1} \rangle$ at the constant level ($\langle i_{in,1} \rangle = 1.4A$) and consequently, regulate the first input power, $p_{in,1}$. The output voltages, $v_{o,1}$ and $v_{o,2}$, are also properly regulated as seen in Figure 2.11.



Figure 2.11 The measured load-regulation performance of the converter (230% increase in $i_{o,1}$).

The next chapter proposes another type of MIMO dc-dc converter with series outputs.

CHAPTER 3

MULTIPORT DC-DC CONVERTER WITH SERIES OUTPUTS

Single-stage multiport converters, as discussed in chapter 2, can be categorized into MISO, SIMO, and MIMO topologies. MISO converters have been well established in the literature. Early MISO converters were constructed by connecting the input voltage sources in series to obtain a multiple-input topology [29]. In such configurations, if one input source is diminished, the output voltage regulation will be challenging. An alternative approach is to put the input voltage sources in parallel with the input port of a SISO converter [7]. To prevent the input voltage sources from being shorted together, an active switch must be connected in series with each input source. Thus, only one input source can transfer energy to the load at a time. The operation of this family of MISO converters is based on time-multiplexing scheme [25]. Such scheme has been applied to buck, boost [3], buck-boost [5, 6], H-bridge [8, 9], flyback and forward [11, 12] converters and the resulting MISO converters have been studied. On the other hand, a number of MISO converter are able to transfer power to the load simultaneously [4, 10, 30], thus overcoming the shortcoming of time-multiplexing scheme. Assumptions, restrictions, and conditions for expanding SISO converters to their MISO versions are studied in [13] and systematic approaches to synthesize MISO converter are presented in [14].

SIMO converters can be categorized into isolated and non-isolated configurations. In isolated topologies, a transformer with multiple secondary windings interfaces between the input and output ports. Only one output voltage (usually the one with the heaviest load) is regulated while the others are determined by the turn ratios of the secondary windings. Hence, independent output voltage regulation is not straightforward [15]. The non-isolated SIMO topologies can be further categorized into independent-and series-output configurations. In independent-output configuration [16, 17], all output ports share the same ground whereas in series-output configuration [18, 19], different outputs are constructed in a series fashion. Series-output SIMO converters are suggested as efficient solutions to balance the dc-link voltages of diode-clamped multilevel inverters [20].

To date, MIMO converters have not received as much attention as MISO or SIMO converters. They are potentially able to combine the advantages of both MISO and SIMO topologies and provide a more cost-effective solution. A MIMO converter is proposed in [21] for energy harvesting applications (e.g. wireless sensor networks). This converter is designed to operate in DCM, which limits the maximum inductor current and inhibits the high power operation of such converter. Another MIMO power chargersupply is proposed in [22], whereby a fuel-cell and a Li-ion battery power a passive load. The Li-ion battery is considered as both load and source since it can be charged or discharged, respectively. However, only one output voltage can be regulated and this converter cannot supply more than one passive load.

In this chapter, a MIMO dc-dc converter topology with series outputs is proposed. The salient features of the proposed topology are as follows.

- An arbitrary number of inputs dc sources and passive loads can be accommodated.
- It can operate in both CCM and DCM.
- The input powers delivered by different dc sources can be individually regulated; thus, power budgeting between input energy sources can be accommodated.

• It only employs a single inductor, which can reduce complexity and cost of the system as well as simplifying the current sensing [6]. By sensing the inductor current and monitoring the switching signals of the switches, the input and output currents can be determined without employing additional current sensing circuitry.

• The output voltages can be, individually, higher than the maximum input voltage or lower than the minimum input voltage.

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. Section 3.1 presents the converter topology and its operational principle. The steady-state operation of the converter is analyzed in section 3.2. Dynamic characterization and subsequent controller design are performed in sections 3.3 and 3.4, respectively. Section 3.5 presents loss and efficiency modeling. Sensitivity analysis studies are presented in section

3.6. Section 3.7 includes several case studies to verify the analytical characterizations and evaluate the performance of the converter.

3.1 Converter Topology and Operation Principles

The schematic of the proposed converter is illustrated in Figure 3.1. The input and output switches are denoted by $S_1, ..., S_{m+1}$ and $S'_1, ..., S'_{n+1}$, respectively. All switches are FCBB except for S_1 , S_{m+1} , S'_1 , and S'_{n+1} . FCBB switches can be realized by a series connection of a MOSFET and a diode, as shown in Figure 3.1. They prevent parallel connection of the input voltage sources [3, 6], however, imply unidirectional power flow. Unidirectional dc-dc converters are of interest in applications with unidirectional energy sources (e.g. solar array, primary battery, and fuel cell) or loads.

The converter provides non-isolated output voltages that are constructed in a series fashion. Non-isolated converters are prevalent in multiport dc systems that allow common ground such as those in [1, 5]. In such systems, replacing a bulky multiple-winding transformer with a single inductor, which sacrifices isolation, leads to significant reduction in complexity, size, and cost of the converter.



Figure 3.1 The proposed MIMO converter with series outputs.

The designated switching scheme for the converter is depicted in Figure 3.2. The gating signals of $S_1, ..., S_{m+1}$ and $S'_1, ..., S'_{n+1}$ are denoted by $q_1, ..., q_{m+1}$ and $q'_1, ..., q'_{n+1}$, respectively. The respective duty cycles are denoted by $d_1, ..., d_{m+1}$ and $\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_{n+1}$. Although S_{m+1} and S'_1 are uncontrollable (they are diodes), abstract gating signals, q_{m+1} and q'_1 , are still considered for them to simplify the converter analysis. As expected, the duty cycles of these abstract gating signals are always one ($d_{m+1} = \alpha_1 = 1$). It should be noted that the proposed switching scheme requires the same gating signals for S_m and S'_{n+1} i.e. $d_m = \alpha_{n+1}$, as shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2 The switching scheme for the input and output switches.

Without loss of generality, the input voltage sources are arbitrarily arranged such that $V_{in,1} > V_{in,2} > \cdots > V_{in,m}$. This arrangement simplifies the analysis of the converter operation as follows. If two or more input switches are commanded to turn on, only the one connected to the highest input voltage conducts and the rests are reverse-biased. Since the input voltages are arranged in a descending order, when gating signals overlap, the switch with the lower index conducts. This property of the converter enables defining the concept of effective duty cycles, similar to [3, 6, 7]. The effective duty cycle of the k^{th} input switch, $d_{e,k}$, can be defined as the portion of the switching period that S_k conducts, which is not necessarily the same as its commanded duty cycle, d_k . A similar discussion is applied to the output duty cycles. The effective input and output duty cycles, $d_{e,k}$ and $\alpha_{e,k}$, are depicted in Figure 3.2. They can be expressed in terms of their corresponding commanded duty cycles, d_i and α_j as follows.

$$d_{e,i} = \begin{cases} 0 & ,d_i < d_{i-1} \\ d_i - d_{i-1} & ,d_i \ge d_{i-1} \end{cases}, \qquad i = 2, \cdots, m+1,$$
(3.1)

$$\alpha_{e,j} = \begin{cases} 0 & ,\alpha_j < \alpha_{j+1} \\ \alpha_j - \alpha_{j+1} & ,\alpha_j \ge \alpha_{j+1} \end{cases}, \quad j = 1, \cdots, n.$$
(3.2)

where $d_{e,1} = d_1$ and $\alpha_{e,n+1} = \alpha_{n+1}$. Alternatively, the commanded duty cycles, d_i and α_j , can be constructed from a given set of effective duty cycles, $d_{e,i}$ and $\alpha_{e,j}$, to be used by the modulation circuitry:

$$d_i = \sum_{k=1}^{i} d_{e,k}, \quad i = 1, \cdots, m+1,$$
(3.3)

$$\alpha_j = \sum_{k=j}^{n+1} \alpha_{e,k}, \quad j = 1, ..., n+1.$$
(3.4)

The sequential switching states of the converter are illustrated in Figure 3.3. In the first m switching states, $V_{in,1}, ..., V_{in,m}$ charge the inductor, sequentially. Then, S_m and S'_{n+1} turn off and the inductor current flows through S_{m+1} and S'_n . Thus, the last output capacitor, C_n , starts charging and the inductor current starts decreasing. Likewise, other output capacitors, $C_{n-1}, ..., C_1$, are charged sequentially in the next switching states. The sequential operation of the converter is based on time multiplexing

method, which has been widely used in MISO and SIMO converters [6, 18]. One of the inherent shortcomings of this method is pulsating input currents, which can be justified by the compactness of the converter when compared with multi-converter topologies [14]. Moreover, additional current filtering can be used for those inputs that cannot tolerate pulsating currents.



Figure 3.3 The sequential switching states of the converter.

3.2 Steady-state Characterization

In the following derivations, capital letters denote the average-values whereas the lowercase letters denote the instantaneous values.

3.2.1 CCM

3.2.1.1 Average Output Voltages and Inductor Current

Inductor volt-second balance principle implies that the average inductor voltage over a switching interval, V_L , is zero, in steady state. Assuming an ideal converter, the inductor volt-second balance in CCM can be written as

$$V_L = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left(D_{e,i} V_{in,i} \right) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(A_{e,j} \sum_{k=j}^{n} V_{o,k} \right) = 0.$$
(3.5)

Moreover, capacitor charge-balance principle implies that

$$A_{e,j}I_L = \begin{cases} \frac{V_{o,1}}{R_1} & , j = 1\\ \frac{V_{o,j}}{R_j} - \frac{V_{o,j-1}}{R_{j-1}} & , j = 2, \cdots, n \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

The derivations in (3.5) and (3.6) form a set of n + 1 equations that can be explicitly solved for the average inductor current, I_L , and average output voltages, $V_{0,1}, ..., V_{0,n}$:

$$I_{L} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} V_{in,i} D_{e,i}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} R_{j} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} A_{e,k} \right)^{2}},$$

$$V_{o,j} = \frac{\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} A_{e,k} \right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} V_{in,i} D_{e,i} \right)}{\sum_{k=1}^{n} n_{k,j} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{k} A_{e,l} \right)^{2}}, \quad j = 1, \cdots, n.$$
(3.8)

where $n_{k,j}$ is defined as

$$n_{k,j} = \frac{R_k}{R_j}.$$
(3.9)

According to (3.8), the output voltages, $V_{o,j}$, depend on the ratio of the loads, $n_{k,j}$. The load dependency of the output voltages is common in SIMO converters [18, 19]. The controller, however, regulates the output voltages and compensates for the load dependency in such converters.

To obtain a desired operating point, the steady-state values of effective input and output duty cycles, $D_{e,i}$ and $A_{e,j}$, must satisfy the output voltage equations in (3.8). Since (3.8) dictates *n* number of constraints but m + n number of variables are to be determined, $D_{e,1}, ..., D_{e,m}, A_{e,1}, ..., A_{e,n}$, designer has *m* degree of freedom. This freedom in determining the duty cycles can be used to regulate the input powers in addition to the output voltages, as will be discussed in section 3.4.

3.2.1.2 Ripple Analysis

The inductor current profile has a piecewise linear shape (assuming that the switching frequency, f_{sw} , is much faster than the inductor dynamics). Thus, the inductor current ripple for an ideal converter can be expressed as

$$\left|\Delta i_{L}\right| = \frac{1}{Lf_{sw}} \sum_{i=1}^{m} V_{in,i} D_{e,i}.$$
(3.10)

According to (3.10), to obtain a inductor current ripple that is less than a desired maximum value, $|\Delta i_L|_{max}$, L should satisfy the following inequality:

$$L \ge \frac{1}{|\Delta i_L|_{\max}} \int_{sw} \sum_{i=1}^m V_{in,i} D_{e,i}.$$
 (3.11)

The discharging subinterval of the j^{th} output capacitor, $(A_{e,j+1} + \dots + A_{e,n+1})T_{sw}$, can be considered to find the output voltages ripples for an ideal converter:

$$\left|\Delta v_{o,j}\right| = \frac{\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} A_{e,k}\right) \left(\sum_{k=j+1}^{n+1} A_{e,k}\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} V_{in,i} D_{e,i}\right)}{\left(C_{j} f_{sw}\right) \sum_{k=1}^{n} R_{k} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{k} A_{e,l}\right)^{2}}, j = 1, ..., n.$$
(3.12)

Thus, in order to obtain small enough output voltage ripples, $|\Delta v_{o,j}|_{max}$, the output capacitors should satisfy the following inequalities:

$$C_{j} \geq \frac{\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} A_{e,k}\right) \left(\sum_{k=j+1}^{n+1} A_{e,k}\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} V_{in,i} D_{e,i}\right)}{\left|\Delta v_{o,j}\right|_{\max} f_{sw} \sum_{k=1}^{n} R_{k} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{k} A_{e,l}\right)^{2}}, \quad j = 1, \cdots, n.$$
(3.13)

3.2.2 DCM

3.2.2.1 Definition of h-th DCM Mode

For an *m*-input *n*-output converter, *n* distinct DCM modes can be identified. As an example, a three-input two-output converter in the second DCM mode is considered. A sample inductor voltage and current profiles for this converter are illustrated in Figure 3.4. The input voltages, $V_{in,1}$, $V_{in,2}$, and $V_{in,3}$, are applied to the inductor in subsequent charging intervals, $D_{e,1}T_{sw}$, $D_{e,2}T_{sw}$, and $D_{e,3}T_{sw}$, and cause the inductor current to increase piecewise linearly. Then, in the first discharging subinterval ($A_{e,2}T_{sw}$), $-V_{o,2}$ is applied to the inductor and reduces the inductor current to $i_{p,4}$. In the second discharging subinterval ($A_{e,1}T_{sw}$), $-(V_{o,1} + V_{o,2})$ is applied to the inductor and reduces the inductor current to zero at t_f . Since the inductor current reaches zero in the second discharging subinterval, this converter is defined to be operating in the second DCM mode. In general, for an *m*-input *n*-output converter, *n* discharging subintervals exist, $A_{e,n}T_{sw}$, ..., $A_{e,1}T_{sw}$. The converter is defined to be operating in the h^{th} DCM mode if the inductor current becomes zero in the h^{th} discharging subinterval, $A_{e,n-h+1}T_{sw}$.

It should be noted that for a converter operating in the h^{th} DCM mode, the effective duty cycle of the last conducting switch, S'_{n-h+1} , is no longer $A_{e,n-h+1}$. This is because S'_{n-h+1} does not conduct current for the whole duration of $A_{e,n-h+1}T_{sw}$. For instance, in the converter considered in Figure 3.4, S'_1 does not conduct the current for the whole duration of $A_{e,1}T_{sw}$. Therefore, the actual effective duty cycle of the last conducting switch, $A'_{e,n-h+1}$, is always less than or equal to $A_{e,n-h+1}$. This new effective duty cycle, $A'_{e,n-h+1}$, is determined by the inductor volt-second balance:

$$A_{e,n-h+1}' = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} V_{in,i} D_{e,i} - \sum_{j=n-h+2}^{n} A_{e,j} \left(\sum_{k=j}^{n} V_{o,k} \right)}{\sum_{j=n-h+1}^{n} V_{o,j}}.$$
(3.14)



Figure 3.4 A three-input two-output converter operating in the second DCM mode: (a) inductor voltage, v_L , and (b) inductor current, i_L .

3.2.2.2 Determining the DCM Mode

An *m*-input *n*-output converter is operating in boundary condition between CCM and DCM if

$$A_{e,1}' = A_{e,1}. (3.15)$$

Moreover, the boundary condition between h^{th} and $(h + 1)^{\text{th}}$ DCM modes, can be characterized as

$$A'_{e,n-h+1} = A_{e,n-h+1}.$$
(3.16)

It should be noted that considering h = n in (3.16), gives the same result as (3.15); thus, CCM can be treated as the (n + 1)th DCM mode when determining the operating mode of the converter.

3.2.2.3 Average Output Voltages and Inductor Current

In DCM, the inductor current after k^{th} subinterval, $i_{p,k}$, can be expressed as

$$i_{p,k} = \begin{cases} i_{p,k-1} + \frac{V_{in,k}D_{e,k}}{Lf_{sw}}, & ,k = 1, 2, ..., m \\ \\ i_{p,k-1} - \frac{\sum_{j=n+m-k+1}^{n} V_{o,j}}{Lf_{sw}} & A_{e,n+m-k+1} \\ & ,k = m+1, ..., m+h-1 \end{cases}$$
(3.17)

where $i_{p,0} = 0$. The average inductor current, I_L , can be expressed in terms of $i_{p,k}$'s as

$$I_L = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \frac{i_{p,k-1} + i_{p,k}}{2} D_{e,k} + \sum_{k=m+1}^{m+h-1} \frac{i_{p,k-1} + i_{p,k}}{2} A_{e,n+m-k+1} + \frac{i_{p,m+h-1}}{2} A'_{e,n-h+1}$$
(3.18)

in the h^{th} DCM mode. The average output voltages, $V_{o,1}, \dots, V_{o,n}$, can also be found in terms of $i_{p,k}$'s as

$$V_{o,j} = \begin{cases} 0 & j = 1, \dots, n-h \\ A'_{e,j} \frac{i_{p,m+n-j}}{2} & j = n-h+1 \\ A_{e,j} \frac{i_{p,m+n-j} + i_{p,m+n-j+1}}{2} & j = n-h+2, \dots, n \end{cases}$$
(3.19)

It should be noted only *h* output ports have nonzero voltage in the *h*th DCM mode i.e. $V_{o,1} = V_{o,2} = \cdots = V_{o,n-h} = 0$, as stated in (3.19).

For a two-input two-output converter, (3.17)-(3.19) can be explicitly solved to find the output voltages in terms of input voltages and effective duty cycles. The explicit solution of (3.17)-(3.19) for a two-input two-output converter are given in (3.20) and (3.21) to be used in section 3.7.

$$V_{o,1} = \frac{\left(k_2 + \frac{A_{e,2}^2}{2}\right)V_{o,2} - A_{e,2}\sum_{i=1}^2 D_{e,i}V_{in,i}}{k_1}$$
(3.20)

$$V_{o,2} = \frac{2A_{e,2}(A_{e,2}^2 + 2k_2) + \sqrt{8k_1k_2(k_1 + k_2 - A_{e,2}^2) + 2k_1A_{e,2}^4}}{(A_{e,2}^2 + 2k_2)^2 + 4k_1k_2} \sum_{i=1}^2 D_{e,i}V_{in,i}$$
(3.21)

The term k_i in (3.20) and (3.21) is defined as

$$k_j = L/(R_j T_{sw}).$$
 (3.22)

3.2.2.4 Ripple Analysis

The inductor current ripple in DCM is the same as its peak value, $i_{p,m}$:

$$\left|\Delta i_{L}\right| = i_{p,m} = \frac{1}{Lf_{sw}} \sum_{i=1}^{m} D_{e,i} V_{in,i}.$$
(3.23)

The output voltage ripples in DCM can be found by considering the discharging subintervals of the output capacitors as follows:

$$|\Delta v_{o,j}| = \begin{cases} 0 , j = 1, ..., n-h \\ \frac{1}{C_j f_{sw}} \left(\frac{V_{o,j}}{R_j}\right) \left(\sum_{k=j+1}^{n+1} A_{e,k}\right) , j = n-h+1, ..., n \end{cases}$$
(3.24)

3.3 Dynamic Characterization

Dynamic characterization of the converter is essential for controller design and stability assessment. Several dynamic characterization methods have been well established in the literature for the power electronic converters, among which SSA is a well-known technique [26]. The SSA model of a two-input, two-output MIMO converter is developed in this section. This model can easily be extended to the general case where a *m*-input *n*-output converter is considered.

3.3.1 Average Value Model

SSA is based on the state-space description of the converter in each switching subinterval. In order to determine the state-space description, the input, $\mathbf{u}(t)$, output, $\mathbf{y}(t)$, and state, $\mathbf{x}(t)$, vectors are defined as:

$$\mathbf{x}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} v_{C_1} \\ v_{C_2} \\ i_L \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{u}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} v_{in,1} \\ v_{in,2} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{y}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} i_{in,1} \\ i_{in,2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.25)

Here, the input currents, $i_{in,1}$ and $i_{in,1}$, are chosen as the output variables to simplify small-signal model development. Once the small-signal equivalent circuit is developed, the transfer function from any input to any output can be easily extracted.

By inspecting the converter topology, one can find the following state-space-description, which represents all switching subintervals in a compact form:

$$\begin{cases} C_1 \frac{dv_{C_1}}{dt} = -\frac{v_{C_1}}{R_1} + (q_1' - q_2')i_L \\ C_2 \frac{dv_{C_2}}{dt} = -\frac{v_{C_2}}{R_2} + (q_1' - q_3')i_L \\ L \frac{di_L}{dt} = q_1 v_{in,1} + (q_2 - q_1) v_{in,2} - (q_1' - q_2') v_{C_1} - (q_1' - q_3') v_{C_2} \\ i_{in,1} = q_1 i_L \\ i_{in,2} = (q_2 - q_1)i_L \end{cases}$$
(3.26)

The switching functions of input and output switches, q_i and q'_j , are illustrated in Figure 3.2. The state-space description given in (3.26) is time variant because it includes the switching functions, q_i and q'_j . It can be converted to a time-invariant model by applying SSA. The average of a signal, x(t), over the switching period, T_s , is defined as

$$\left\langle x\right\rangle_{T_s}(t) = \frac{1}{T_s} \int_t^{t+T_s} x(t) dt.$$
(3.27)

SSA states that the average of the product of a switching function, e.g. q(t), and a converter's variable, e.g. x(t), can be approximated by the product of their averages, i.e.

$$\left\langle q(t)x(t)\right\rangle_{T_s} = \left\langle q(t)\right\rangle_{T_s} \left\langle x(t)\right\rangle_{T_s} = d(t)\left\langle x(t)\right\rangle_{T_s}$$
(3.28)

where d(t) is the duty cycle of q(t). Applying SSA to (3.26) yields to (3.29). The model described by (3.29) is time invariant, yet, nonlinear since it includes multiplication of different signals (e.g. $\alpha_{e,1}$ and $\langle i_L \rangle_{T_s}$). To obtain a linear time invariant model, (3.29) should be linearized around a specific equilibrium point.

$$\begin{cases} C_{1} \frac{d\langle v_{C_{1}} \rangle_{T_{s}}}{dt} = -\frac{\langle v_{C_{1}} \rangle_{T_{s}}}{R_{1}} + \alpha_{e,1} \langle i_{L} \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ C_{2} \frac{d\langle v_{C_{2}} \rangle_{T_{s}}}{dt} = -\frac{\langle v_{C_{2}} \rangle_{T_{s}}}{R_{2}} + (\alpha_{e,1} + \alpha_{e,2}) \langle i_{L} \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ L \frac{d\langle i_{L} \rangle_{T_{s}}}{dt} = d_{e,1} \langle v_{in,1} \rangle_{T_{s}} + d_{e,2} \langle v_{in,2} \rangle_{T_{s}} - \alpha_{e,1} \langle v_{C_{1}} \rangle_{T_{s}} - (\alpha_{e,1} + \alpha_{e,2}) \langle v_{C_{2}} \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \langle i_{in,1} \rangle_{T_{s}} = d_{e,1} \langle i_{L} \rangle_{T_{s}} \\ \langle i_{in,2} \rangle_{T_{s}} = d_{e,2} \langle i_{L} \rangle_{T_{s}} \end{cases}$$

$$(3.29)$$

3.3.2 Equilibrium Point

The equilibrium point of the converter can be determined by equating the derivative terms of (3.29) to zero. Eliminating the derivative terms yields a set of algebraic equations that can be solved to find V_{C_1} , V_{C_2} , I_L , $I_{in,1}$ and $I_{in,2}$. The equilibrium point values of V_{C_1} , V_{C_2} , and I_L are, in fact, the same as the

steady-state values calculated in (3.7) and (3.8); they are not repeated here for brevity. The equilibrium point values of $I_{in,1}$ and $I_{in,2}$ are

$$\begin{bmatrix} I_{in,1} \\ I_{in,2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{D_{e,1}(V_{in,1}D_{e,1} + V_{in,2}D_{e,2})}{R_1A_{e,1}^2 + R_2(A_{e,1} + A_{e,2})^2} \\ \frac{D_{e,2}(V_{in,1}D_{e,1} + V_{in,2}D_{e,2})}{R_1A_{e,1}^2 + R_2(A_{e,1} + A_{e,2})^2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.30)

3.3.3 Linearization and Small-signal Modeling

The average model described in (3.29) can be linearized considering small perturbations around the equilibrium point represented by (3.31). In general, all average variables $(\langle v_{c_1} \rangle, \langle v_{c_2} \rangle, \langle i_L \rangle, \text{ etc.})$ can be expressed as

$$\left\langle x\right\rangle_{T_s} = X + \hat{x} \tag{3.31}$$

where X and \hat{x} denote the equilibrium value and perturbation of the signal $\langle x \rangle_{T_s}$. Similarly, some perturbations can be applied around the equilibrium values of input and output duty cycles as follows

$$\begin{cases} d_{e,i} = D_{e,i} + \hat{d}_{e,i} \\ \alpha_{e,j} = A_{e,j} + \hat{\alpha}_{e,j} \end{cases}$$
(3.32)

where $\hat{d}_{e,i}$ and $\hat{\alpha}_{e,j}$ denote the perturbations around $D_{e,i}$ and $A_{e,j}$, respectively.

Considering the discussed perturbations, one can linearize (3.29) as follows.

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & C_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & L \end{bmatrix} d d \begin{bmatrix} \hat{v}_{C_{1}} \\ \hat{v}_{C_{2}} \\ \hat{i}_{L} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{R_{1}} & 0 & A_{e,1} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{R_{2}} & A_{e,1} + A_{e,2} \\ -A_{e,1} & -A_{e,1} - A_{e,2} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{v}_{c_{1}} \\ \hat{v}_{c_{2}} \\ \hat{i}_{L} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ D_{e,1} & D_{e,2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{v}_{in,1} \\ \hat{v}_{in,2} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -I_{L} \\ -I_{L} \\ V_{in,1} + V_{C_{1}} + V_{C_{2}} \end{bmatrix} d_{e,1} + \begin{bmatrix} -I_{L} \\ -I_{L} \\ V_{in,2} + V_{C_{1}} + V_{C_{2}} \end{bmatrix} d_{e,2} + \begin{bmatrix} -I_{L} \\ 0 \\ V_{C_{1}} \end{bmatrix} \hat{\alpha}_{e,2}$$
(3.33)
$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{i}_{in,1} \\ \hat{i}_{e,2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & D_{e,1} \\ 0 & 0 & D_{e,2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{v}_{C_{1}} \\ \hat{v}_{C_{2}} \\ \hat{i}_{L} \end{bmatrix} + I_{L} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{d}_{e,1} \\ \hat{d}_{e,2} \end{bmatrix}$$

3.3.4 Equivalent Small-signal Circuit

An equivalent small-signal circuit can be developed to represent the dynamic behavior of the converter and extract the transfer functions from any arbitrary input (e.g. duty cycles) to any arbitrary output (e.g. output voltages). This small-signal circuit is based on the linearized SSA model given in (3.33). Each row of the differential-algebraic equations in (3.33) corresponds to an equivalent subcircuit. Figure 3.5 illustrates these equivalent subcircuits. The first and second rows of the algebraic equations in (3.33), pertaining to $\hat{t}_{in,1}$ and $\hat{t}_{in,2}$, correspond to the subcircuits shown in Figure 3.5(a and b), respectively. Likewise, the first, second, and third rows of the differential equations in (3.33), pertaining to \hat{t}_{c_1} , \hat{t}_{c_2} , and \hat{t}_L , correspond to the subcircuits depicted in Figure 3.5(c, d, and e), respectively.

In Figure 3.5, the independent voltage or current sources are shown in circles whereas the dependent sources are shown in squares. The dependent voltage and current sources can be combined together to obtain a lumped small-signal equivalent circuit, shown in Figure 3.6. As demonstrated by Figure 3.6, the MIMO converter operation is equivalent to a circuit comprising of multiple transformers with conversion ratios equal to the input and output effective duty cycles. Figure 3.6 can autonomously describe the dynamic behavior of the converter.

3.3.5 Input-to-output Transfer Functions

Three types of inputs can be recognized for the converter: input voltages, $v_{in,i}$, input duty cycles, $d_{e,i}$, and output duty cycles, $\alpha_{e,i}$. System outputs are defined as the output voltages (capacitor voltages). Figure 3.7 illustrates the input/output assignments. Therefore, three types of input-to-output transfer function can be identified, namely, input-voltage to output-voltage $(H_{ij}^v(s))$, input-duty-cycle to output-voltage $(H_{ij}^\alpha(s))$ transfer functions.

The input-to-output transfer function can be found by inspecting the lumped equivalent smallsignal circuit of the converter (Figure 3.6). Here, the transfer functions from the first input voltage to the second output voltage ($H_{12}^{v}(s)$), and from the first input duty cycle to the first output voltage $H_{11}^{d}(s)$ are calculated as an example:

$$\begin{cases} H_{12}^{\nu}(s) = \frac{\beta_1^{\nu 12}s + \beta_0^{\nu 12}}{\mu_3 s^3 + \mu_2 s^2 + \mu_1 s + \mu_0} \\ H_{11}^{d}(s) = \frac{\beta_2^{d 11} s^2 + \beta_1^{d 11} s + \beta_0^{d 11}}{\mu_3 s^3 + \mu_2 s^2 + \mu_1 s + \mu_0} \end{cases}$$
(3.34)

where

$$\begin{cases}
\mu_{0} = R_{1}A_{e,1}^{2} + R_{2}(A_{e,1} + A_{e,2})^{2} \\
\mu_{1} = L + R_{1}R_{2}\left(C_{2}A_{e,1}^{2} + C_{1}(A_{e,1} + A_{e,2})^{2}\right) \\
\mu_{2} = (R_{1}C_{1} + R_{2}C_{2})L \\
\mu_{3} = R_{1}R_{2}C_{1}C_{2}L \\
\begin{cases}
\beta_{0}^{v12} = R_{2}D_{e,1}(A_{e,1} + A_{e,2}) \\
\beta_{1}^{v12} = R_{1}R_{2}C_{1}D_{e,1}(A_{e,1} + A_{e,2})
\end{cases}$$
(3.35)
$$\begin{cases}
\beta_{0}^{d11} = R_{1}A_{e,1}(V_{C_{1}} + V_{C_{2}} + V_{in,1}) - R_{1}R_{2}A_{e,2}(A_{e,1} + A_{e,2})I_{L} \\
\beta_{1}^{d11} = R_{1}R_{2}C_{2}A_{e,1}(V_{in,1} + V_{C_{1}} + V_{C_{2}}) - R_{1}LI_{L} \\
\beta_{2}^{d11} = -R_{1}R_{2}C_{2}LI_{L}
\end{cases}$$



Figure 3.5 The equivalent small-signal subcircuits of the converter.



Figure 3.6 The lumped equivalent small-signal circuit of the converter.



Figure 3.7 Definition of system inputs, outputs, and input-to-output transfer functions.

3.4 Controller Design

A *m*-input *n*-output MIMO converter has m + n active switches. Thus, a controller must adjust m + n duty cycles, $d_{e,1}, \dots, d_{e,m}, \alpha_{e,1}, \dots, \alpha_{e,n}$, to regulate *n* output voltages and *m* input powers. Assuming an ideal converter, the conservation of power principle states that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} P_{in,i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{V_{o,j}^2}{R_j}.$$
(3.36)

Equation (3.36) implies that one of the input powers should be relaxed in order to achieve proper regulation for output voltages. In other words, for a *m*-input *n*-output converter, with output voltage regulation, only (m - 1) input powers can be regulated.

In equilibrium (steady state), the input powers coming from each energy source can be expressed as

$$P_{in,i} = V_{in,i}I_{in,i} = \frac{V_{in,i}D_{e,i}\sum_{k=1}^{m}V_{in,k}D_{e,k}}{\sum_{j=1}^{n}R_{j}A_{e,j}^{2}}, \quad i = 1,...,m.$$
(3.37)

For proper output voltage and input power regulation, (3.8) and (3.37) should be satisfied in steady state. Therefore, the set of nonlinear algebraic equations formed by (3.8) and (3.37) can be simultaneously solved to determine the equilibrium values of input and output duty cycles, $D_{e,i}$ and $A_{e,j}$, respectively. Then, a MIMO controller can be designed around this equilibrium point.

For a two-input two-output converter considered in section 3.7, $p_{in,1}$, $v_{o,1}$, and $v_{o,2}$ are the designated output variables to be regulated. The average value of $p_{in,1}$ can be expressed as

$$\left\langle p_{in,1} \right\rangle_{T_{e}} = V_{in,1} d_{e,1} \left\langle i_{L} \right\rangle_{T_{s}}.$$
(3.38)

Thus, perturbations in $p_{in,1}$ can be expanded as

$$\hat{p}_{in,1} = V_{in,1} D_{e,1} \hat{i}_L + V_{in,1} I_L \hat{d}_{e,1}.$$
(3.39)

Considering the small-signal behavior of $p_{in,1}$ in (3.39), the dynamic model of the plant (converter) can be developed as follows.

where \mathbf{A}_{ol} , \mathbf{B}_{ol} , \mathbf{C}_{ol} , and \mathbf{D}_{ol} are the open-loop state, input, output, and feed through matrices, respectively. The state, input, and output vectors are denoted by \mathbf{x} , \mathbf{u} , and \mathbf{y} , respectively.

3.4.1 Multi-variable Feedback Loop

A multi-variable PI controller is implemented here. In order to regulate the output vector, \mathbf{y} , including $p_{in,1}$, $v_{o,1}$, and $v_{o,2}$, one strategy is to measure \mathbf{y} , subtract it from a reference vector, \mathbf{r} , and feed it through an integrator to ensure zero steady-state error. Figure 3.8 illustrates the proposed control scheme. The error vector is multiplied by a integrator-gain matrix, \mathbf{K}_i , to enable fine-tuning of the controller. A proportional term (\mathbf{K}_p) is also implemented to enhance the transient performance.

3.4.2 System Stability

To examine the stability of the resulting linear, time-invariant system, one can study the location of the system poles. All system poles must lie on the left side of the imaginary axis to achieve a stable system. The poles of the closed-loop system are eigen-values of the closed-loop state matrix, \mathbf{A}_{cl} . The

closed-loop state matrix, \mathbf{A}_{cl} , can be found by adding vector \mathbf{v} (shown in Figure 3.8) to the state vector \mathbf{x} , and determining the state-space description of the new system. The dynamics of the closed-loop system is governed by

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d\mathbf{x}}{dt} &= \mathbf{A}_{ol} \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{B}_{ol} \mathbf{u} \\ \mathbf{y} &= \mathbf{C}_{ol} \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{u} \\ \frac{d\mathbf{v}}{dt} &= \mathbf{r} - \mathbf{y} \\ \mathbf{u} &= \mathbf{K}_{i} \mathbf{v} + \mathbf{K}_{p} \frac{d\mathbf{v}}{dt} \end{aligned}$$
(3.42)

The closed-loop system matrix, \mathbf{A}_{cl} , can be derived by inspecting (3.42) as follows

$$\mathbf{A}_{cl} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A}_{ol} - \mathbf{B}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p} (\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{ol} & \mathbf{B}_{ol} (\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{K}_{p} (\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{ol}) \mathbf{K}_{i} \\ -(\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \mathbf{C}_{ol} & -(\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{p})^{-1} \mathbf{D}_{ol} \mathbf{K}_{i} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.43)

The closed-loop system is stable if and only if the eigen-values of \mathbf{A}_{cl} lie on the left side of the imaginary axis, i.e.,

$$\begin{cases} \det(\lambda_i \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{cl}) = 0\\ \forall \lambda_i : \quad \operatorname{Re}\{\lambda_i\} < 0 \end{cases}, i = 1, \cdots, N.$$
(3.44)

where N is the number of the eigen-values of \mathbf{A}_{cl} .



Figure 3.8 Closed-loop system block diagram.

3.5 Loss Modeling

3.5.1 Steady-state Operation

The parasitic elements of the converter components, including on-state input and output switches' resistances, $r_{on,i}$ and $r'_{on,j}$, on-state input and output switches' voltage-drops, $V_{on,i}$ and $V'_{on,j}$, and the inductor resistance, r_L , decrease the steady-state output voltages and inductor current. Considering the parasitic elements for (3.5) and (3.6), it can be shown that the steady-state inductor current, I_L , and output voltages, $V_{o,j}$, of a non-ideal converter are

$$I_{L} = \frac{V_{in,eff}}{r_{L,eff} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} R_{j} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} A_{e,k}\right)^{2}},$$
(3.45)

and

$$V_{o,j} = \frac{\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} A_{e,k}\right) V_{in,\text{eff}}}{\left(\frac{r_{L,\text{eff}}}{R_{j}}\right) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} n_{k,j} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{k} A_{e,l}\right)^{2}}, \quad j = 1, \cdots, n,$$
(3.46)

where

$$r_{L,\text{eff}} = r_L + \sum_{i=1}^{m+1} r_{on,i} D_{e,i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} r'_{on,j} A_{e,j}, \qquad (3.47)$$

and

$$V_{\text{in,eff}} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} V_{\text{in},i} D_{e,i} - \sum_{i=1}^{m+1} V_{on,i} D_{e,i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} V'_{on,j} A_{e,j}.$$
(3.48)

It can be concluded from (3.47) that the on-state resistances of the input and output switches, $r_{\text{on},i}$ and $r'_{\text{on},j}$, can be reflected to the inductor side, if they are multiplied by the corresponding effective duty cycles, $D_{e,i}$ and $A_{e,j}$, respectively. Upon reflection, they can be lumped together with the inductor's resistance (3.47). The same conclusion applies to on-state voltage drops as demonstrated by (3.48).

3.5.2 Efficiency Analysis

The conduction losses and non-idealities of the converter components undermine the converter efficiency. The dominating converter losses are considered as follows.

$$P_{loss} = P_L + P_{S_i,cond} + P_{S_i,sw} + P_{S_i',cond} + P_{S_i',sw}$$
(3.49)

where P_L , $P_{S_i,cond}$, $P_{S_i,sw}$, and $P_{S_i',sw}$ are inductor power loss, input and output switches' conduction loss, and input and output switching loss, respectively. All terms of (3.49), except for the switching losses, can be approximated using the inductor current in the steady state (3.45):

$$P_L = r_L I_L^2 \tag{3.50}$$

$$P_{S_i,cond} = I_L \sum_{i=1}^m (V_{on,i} D_{e,i}) + I_L^2 \sum_{i=1}^m (r_{on,i} D_{e,i})$$
(3.51)

$$P_{S'_i,cond} = I_L \sum_{j=1}^n (V'_{on,i}A_{e,j}) + I_L^2 \sum_{j=1}^n (V'_{on,i}A_{e,j})$$
(3.52)

The switching losses should be determined by precisely measuring the voltage and current profiles of the switches in the implemented converter. The output powers, assuming ripple-free output voltages, can be approximated as

$$P_o = \frac{V_{o,1}^2}{R_1} + \dots + \frac{V_{o,n}^2}{R_n}.$$
(3.53)

The converter's efficiency is

$$\eta = \frac{P_o}{P_o + P_{loss}}.$$
(3.54)

3.6 Sensitivity Analysis

Sensitivity of the output voltages with respect to the duty cycles, $D_{e,i}$ and $A_{e,i}$, and input voltages, $V_{in,i}$, determines how significant the effect of these variables on changing the equilibrium point

of the converter is. Sensitivity of variable y with respect to variable x is defined as the ratio of the percentage change in y (dependent variable) caused by that in x (independent variable), i.e.,

$$S_x^y = \frac{dy/y}{dx/x} = \frac{dy}{dx} \cdot \frac{x}{y}$$
(3.55)

Here, the sensitivity of output voltages to the variation in input voltage as well as input and output duty cycles are found.

3.6.1 Sensitivity to Input-voltage Variations

The sensitivity of output voltages to input voltages can be found using (3.55) and (3.8) as

$$S_{V_{in,i}}^{V_{o,j}} = \frac{dV_{o,j}}{dV_{in,i}} \cdot \frac{V_{in,i}}{V_{o,j}} = \frac{D_{e,i}V_{in,i}}{\sum_{k=1}^{m} V_{in,k}D_{e,k}}.$$
(3.56)

3.6.2 Sensitivity to Variations in Input Duty Cycles

The last effective output duty cycle, $A_{e,1}$, depends on other effective duty cycles since S_1 is not controllable, i.e.,

$$A_{e,1} = 1 - \sum_{k=1}^{m} D_{e,k} - \sum_{k=2}^{n} A_{e,k}.$$
(3.57)

Equation (3.57) implies that

$$\frac{\partial A_{e,1}}{\partial D_{e,i}} = -1 \qquad , i = 1, \cdots, m.$$
(3.58)

Moreover, the output voltages are functions of all effective input and output duty cycles, including $A_{e,1}$. Thus,

$$S_{D_{e,i}}^{V_{o,j}} = \frac{dV_{o,j}(D_{e,i}, A_{e,1})}{dD_{e,i}} \cdot \frac{D_{e,i}}{I_L} = \left(\frac{\partial V_{o,j}}{\partial D_{e,i}} \cdot \frac{\partial D_{e,i}}{\partial D_{e,i}} + \frac{\partial V_{o,j}}{\partial A_{e,1}} \cdot \frac{\partial A_{e,1}}{\partial D_{e,i}}\right) \cdot \frac{D_{e,i}}{I_L}.$$
(3.59)

Using (3.58), (3.59), and (3.8), the sensitivity of output voltages with respect to the effective input duty cycles can be found as

$$S_{D_{e,i}}^{V_{o,j}} = \frac{D_{e,i}V_{in,i}}{\sum_{k=1}^{m}V_{in,k}D_{e,k}} - \frac{D_{e,i}}{\sum_{k=1}^{j}A_{e,k}} + \frac{2D_{e,i}\sum_{k=1}^{n}n_{k,j}\left(\sum_{l=1}^{k}A_{e,l}\right)}{\sum_{k=1}^{n}n_{k,j}\left(\sum_{l=1}^{k}A_{e,l}\right)^{2}}.$$
(3.60)

3.6.3 Sensitivity to Variations in Output Duty Cycles

Similar to (3.60), the sensitivity of output voltages to the output duty cycles can be found using partial differentiation:

$$S_{A_{e,i}}^{V_{o,j}} = \begin{cases} \frac{2A_{e,i}\sum_{k=1}^{i-1} n_{k,j} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{k} A_{e,l}\right)}{\sum_{k=1}^{n} n_{k,j} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{k} A_{e,l}\right)^{2}} , 1 \le i \le j \end{cases}$$

$$\left(-\frac{A_{e,i}}{\sum_{k=1}^{j} A_{e,k}} + \frac{2A_{e,i}\sum_{k=1}^{i-1} n_{k,j} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{k} A_{e,l}\right)}{\sum_{k=1}^{n} n_{k,j} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{k} A_{e,l}\right)^{2}} , j < i \le n \end{cases}$$

$$(3.61)$$

3.7 Case Studies

3.7.1 Steady-state Operation

A laboratory-scale prototype with three inputs and two outputs is built to evaluate the steadystate characterizations in both CCM and DCM. Since steady-state operation is intended, no closed-loop feedback scheme is employed in this converter. The circuit parameters pertaining to this converter are as follows. $V_{in,1} = 12V$, $V_{in,2} = 9V$, $V_{in,3} = 5V$, L = 1.2mH, $C_1 = 22\mu$ F, $C_2 = 68\mu$ F, $r_L = 0.44\Omega$, $r_{C,1} =$ 0.1Ω , $r_{C,2} = 0.2\Omega$, $r_{on,diode} = 0.014\Omega$, $V_{on,diode} = 0.4V$, $r_{on,MOSFET} = 0.07\Omega$, and $f_{sw} = 10$ KHz. The output loads in CCM and DCM are { $R_1 = 46.7\Omega$, $R_2 = 12.0\Omega$ } and { $R_1 = 440\Omega$, $R_2 = 120\Omega$ }, respectively.

3.7.1.1 CCM

The output voltages, $V_{o,1}$ and $V_{o,2}$, are functions of $D_{e,1}$, $D_{e,2}$, $D_{e,3}$, and $A_{e,2}$; note that $A_{e,1}$ is uncontrollable since S'_1 is a single diode. First, $D_{e,2}$ and $D_{e,3}$ are kept constant ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$) while $D_{e,1}$ and $A_{e,2}$ can change. The output voltages found by (3.46) are plotted in Figure 3.9. The corresponding plot obtained by detailed switch-level simulation is illustrated in Figure 3.10. The detailed switch-level simulation is conducted using the PLECS toolbox in MATLAB/SIMULINK [28]. A good match between the analytical derivations, Figure 3.9, and detailed switch-level simulations, Figure 3.10, can be observed.

Next, $D_{e,1}$ is also kept constant ($D_{e,1} = 0.2$, $D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$). The highlighted curves in Figure 3.9(c,f) and Figure 3.10(c,f) correspond to this condition. These curves are plotted in two dimensions in Figure 3.11. Measurement data are also included in Figure 3.11 to further verify the analytical model.

If $D_{e,2}$, $D_{e,3}$, and $A_{e,2}$ are kept constant ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$, $D_{e,3} = 0.3$, $A_{e,2} = 0.2$), the output voltages will be only functions of $D_{e,1}$. The highlighted curves in Figure 3.9(b,e) and Figure 3.10(b,e) correspond to this condition. These curves are plotted together with the measurement data in Figure 3.12. A good match between the analytical derivations, detailed switch-level simulations, and measurement data can be observed in Figure 3.12.

Next, all effective input and output duty cycles are kept constant ($D_{e,1} = 0.2$, $D_{e,2} = 0.1$, $D_{e,3} = 0.3$, $A_{e,2} = 0.2$). Circuit waveforms obtained by simulation and hardware measurement for this operating point are depicted in Figure 3.13 and Figure 3.14, respectively. A good match between simulation and measurement can be observed from Figure 3.13 and Figure 3.14.

3.7.1.2 DCM

The converter operation in the second DCM mode is considered. Similar to CCM, the output voltages are functions of effective input and output duty cycles, $D_{e,1}$, $D_{e,2}$, $D_{e,3}$, $A_{e,2}$. First, $D_{e,2}$ and $D_{e,3}$
are set at 0.1 and 0.3, respectively. Therefore, the output voltages are functions of only $D_{e,1}$ and $A_{e,2}$. The calculated and simulated output voltages in this condition are illustrated in Figure 3.15 and Figure 3.16, respectively.

Setting $A_{e,2}$ at 0.2, the highlighted curves in Figure 3.15(c,f) and Figure 3.16(c,f) are resulted. These curves are plotted in Figure 3.17 along with the measurement data. A good match can be observed between analytical derivations, detailed switch-level simulations, and measurements.



Figure 3.9 The output voltages obtained by analytical derivations, (3.46), in CCM ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$): (a) $v_{o,1}$ surface, (b) $v_{o,1}$ curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$, (c) $v_{o,1}$ curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.2$, (d) $v_{o,2}$ surface, (e) $v_{o,2}$ curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$, (f) $v_{o,2}$ curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.2$.



Figure 3.10 The output voltages obtained by detailed switch-level simulations in CCM ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$): (a) $v_{o,1}$ surface, (b) $v_{o,1}$ curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$, (c) $v_{o,1}$ curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.2$, (d) $v_{o,2}$ surface, (e) $v_{o,2}$ curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$, (f) $v_{o,2}$ curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.2$.



Figure 3.11 The calculated, simulated, and measured output voltages in CCM ($D_{e,1} = 0.2$, $D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$): (a) $v_{o,2}$, and (b) $v_{o,1}$.



Figure 3.12 The calculated, simulated, and measured output voltages in CCM ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$, $D_{e,3} = 0.3$, and $A_{e,2} = 0.2$): (a) $v_{o,1}$, and (b) $v_{o,2}$.



Figure 3.13 The circuit waveforms obtained by simulations in CCM ($D_{e,1} = 0.2$, $D_{e,2} = 0.1$, $D_{e,3} = 0.3$, and $A_{e,2} = 0.2$): (a) v_L (5V/div), (b) i_L (500mA/div), (c) $v_{o,1}$ (5V/div), and (d) $v_{o,2}$ (10V/div), (time scale: 20µs/div).



Figure 3.14 The circuit waveforms obtained by hardware measurements in CCM ($D_{e,1} = 0.2$, $D_{e,2} = 0.1$, $D_{e,3} = 0.3$, and $A_{e,2} = 0.2$): (a) v_L (5V/div), (b) i_L (500mA/div), (c) $v_{o,1}$ (5V/div), and (d) $v_{o,2}$ (10V/div), (time scale: 20 μ s/div).

If $D_{e,1}$ is also kept constant and $A_{e,2}$ is relaxed ($D_{e,1} = 0.1$, $D_{e,2} = 0.1$, $D_{e,3} = 0.3$), the output voltages will be functions of only $A_{e,2}$. The highlighted curves in Figure 3.15(b,e) and Figure 3.16(b,e) correspond to this condition. These curves are plotted in Figure 3.18 together with the measurement results. A good match between analytical derivations, detailed switch-level simulation, and hardware measurements is reported.

The simulated circuit waveforms for an specific operating point are shown in Figure 3.19. In this operating point, $D_{e,1} = 0.1$, $D_{e,2} = 0.2$, $D_{e,3} = 0.1$, and $A_{e,2} = 0.2$. The corresponding measured waveforms are depicted in Figure 3.20. A good match can be observed between simulation and measurement from Figure 3.19 and Figure 3.20. The oscillation of the inductor current in Figure 3.20(b), once it touches zero, is due to the parasitic capacitances of the MOSFETs and reverse recovery effects of the diodes. This oscillation is negligible and does change the equilibrium point.



Figure 3.15 The output voltages obtained by analytical derivations, in DCM ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$): (a) $v_{o,1}$ surface, (b) $v_{o,1}$ curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.1$, (c) $v_{o,1}$ curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$, (d) $v_{o,2}$ surface, (e) $v_{o,2}$ curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.1$, (f) $v_{o,2}$ curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$.



Figure 3.16 The output voltages obtained by detailed switch-level simulations in DCM ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$): (a) $v_{o,1}$ surface, (b) $v_{o,1}$ curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.1$, (c) $v_{o,1}$ curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$, (d) $v_{o,2}$ surface, (e) $v_{o,2}$ curve when $D_{e,1} = 0.1$, (f) $v_{o,2}$ curve when $A_{e,2} = 0.2$.



Figure 3.17 The calculated, simulated, and measured output voltages in DCM, ($D_{e,2} = 0.1$, $D_{e,3} = 0.3$, $A_{e,2} = 0.2$): (a) $v_{o,2}$, and (b) $v_{o,1}$.



Figure 3.18 The calculated, simulated, and measured output voltages in DCM, when $D_{e,1} = 0.1$, $D_{e,2} = 0.1$ and $D_{e,3} = 0.3$: (a) $v_{o,1}$, and (b) $v_{o,2}$.



Figure 3.19 The circuit waveforms obtained by simulations in DCM ($D_{e,1} = 0.1$, $D_{e,2} = 0.2$, $D_{e,3} = 0.1$, and $A_{e,2} = 0.2$): (a) q'_2 , (b) i_L (200mA/div), (c) $v_{o,1}$ (2V/div), and (d) $v_{o,2}$ (2V/div), (time scale: 20 μ s/div).



Figure 3.20 The circuit waveforms obtained by hardware measurements in DCM ($D_{e,1} = 0.1$, $D_{e,2} = 0.2$, $D_{e,3} = 0.1$, and $A_{e,2} = 0.2$): (a) q'_2 , (b) i_L (200mA/div), (c) $v_{o,1}$ (2V/div), and (d) $v_{o,2}$ (2V/div), (time scale: 20 μ s/div).

3.7.2 Dynamic Performance

A two-input, two-output prototype, and corresponding closed-loop controller, are considered to evaluate the dynamic performance of the converter; Figure 3.21 shows the hardware setup. The circuit parameters for this converter are as follows: $V_{in,1} = 30V$, $V_{in,2} = 20V$, $P_{in,1} = 25W$, $V_{o,1} = 21V$, $V_{o,2} = 8V$, $L = 250\mu$ H, $C_1 = 2200\mu$ F, $C_2 = 2200\mu$ F, $R_1 = 25\Omega$, $R_2 = 6\Omega$, and $f_{sw} = 40$ KHz.



Figure 3.21 The hardware setup: (a) MIMO converter, (b) target computer (ezDSP TMS320F2808 board), (c) host computer (laptop), (d) input sources, (e) static output loads (rheostats), (f) dynamic output load, (g) oscilloscope.

3.7.2.1 Input-to-output Transfer Functions

According to Figure 3.7, ten input-to-output transfer functions can be identified for this converter, four of which relate the input voltages, $v_{in,1}$ and $v_{in,2}$, to the output voltages, $v_{o,1}$ and $v_{o,2}$. The other six transfer functions relate the effective duty cycles, d_{e1} , $d_{e,2}$, and $\alpha_{e,2}$, to the output voltages, $v_{o,1}$ and $v_{o,2}$. Here, two of these input-to-output transfer functions are considered for brevity, namely, H_{11}^d and H_{22}^d . Figure 3.22 illustrates the model prediction, numerical simulation, and measurement data pertaining to these transfer functions. Numerical simulations are conducted using MATLAB/SIMULINK. A good match can be observed between the model, simulation, and measurement in Figure 3.22.



Figure 3.22 The input to output transfer functions $H_{11}^d(s)$ and $H_{22}^d(s)$.

3.7.2.2 Line Regulation

The controller scheme described in section 3.4 is implemented on a ezDSP TMS320F2808 board (target computer). The DSP board is connected to the host computer (laptop) via a USB JTAG emulation connector. Optimum controller design for the converter requires optimal tuning of the \mathbf{K}_i and \mathbf{K}_p matrices, each of which has 3×3 entries. Optimum multivariable controller design is not within the scope of the discussion here. Thus, without the loss of generality, \mathbf{K}_p is set to zero for simplicity. Matrix \mathbf{K}_i is tuned to stabilize the system using (3.43) and (3.44). Figure 3.23 shows the dynamic response of the system to a step change in the first input voltage. As depicted in Figure 3.23, the first input power, $p_{in,1}$, is also regulated in addition to the output voltages. Once the step change occurs in first input voltage, $v_{in,1}$, the controller adjusts the duty cycles to change $\langle i_{in,1} \rangle$ accordingly, such that $p_{in,1}$ remains constant.

3.7.2.3 Load Regulation

The controller's response to a 40% step change in the first load, R_1 , is shown in Figure 3.24. Since the first input voltage, $v_{in,1}$, does not change, regulating $p_{in,1}$ is equivalent to keeping $\langle i_{in,1} \rangle$ constant in this case. The d_1 , d_2 , and α_2 traces in Figure 3.24 show how the controller adjusts the duty cycles to regulate $\langle i_{in,1} \rangle$ in addition to $v_{o,1}$ and $v_{o,2}$.



Figure 3.23 Line regulation: measured converter response to step change in $v_{in,1}$



Figure 3.24 Load regulation: the converter's response to step change in R_1 .

3.7.3 Efficiency

Figure 3.25 shows the efficiency of the converter versus the total output power. The output powers are equal in Figure 3.25, i.e., each load consumes half of the total output power. The measurement results show 86% efficiency for the laboratory-scale prototype in the designated operating point. It should be noted that MOSFETs and diodes are overdesigned in the laboratory-scale prototype; they have relatively high forward voltage drop and on-state resistance and, consequently, undermine the efficiency of the prototype. However, in general, since multiport topologies share the components among different sources and loads, they have fewer components compared to their multi-converter counterparts. Thus, one can expect the proposed topology to be more efficient than its conventional multi-converter counterparts with the same number of inputs and output ports.



Figure 3.25 The converter efficiency versus total output power.

The discrete-time model of the proposed MIMO converters will be presented in the next chapter.

CHAPTER 4

DISCRETE-TIME MODELING OF MULTIPORT DC-DC CONVERTERS

Multiport dc-dc converters, as discussed in chapters 2 and 3, have recently received great attention due to their desired characteristics including cost effectiveness, compact design, and diversification of energy sources with complementary natures [8, 13, 14, 31, 32]. Digital controllers are widely used in PWM converters due to their salient features, namely, immunity to parameter variations, passive component elimination, less electromagnetic-interference susceptibility, and ability to handle complex control algorithms [33, 34]. Automated system identification and self-tuning techniques, which are very difficult to realize using analog controllers, can be easily integrated in digital controllers [35, 36]. Therefore, digital controllers are becoming prevalent in multiport converters [16, 37, 38].

Digital design tools described in current literature can be categorized into IDM and DDM [39]. In IDM, the power-stage model (called "plant model" hereafter) is developed using conventional averaging methods [40-43]. The resulting continuous-time plant model is converted to the discrete-time domain using z-transform techniques and the digital controller is designed based on the resulting discrete-time model. Although straightforward, IDM have several drawbacks. The selection of the discretization method and the sampling rate can lead to models that are unable to accurately predict the stability of the closed-loop system [39]. Moreover, IDM models inherit the intrinsic shortcomings of averaging techniques, such as discrepancy at high frequencies and inaccuracy in predicting the closed-loop stability [27, 44]. In DDM models [45-47], the plant model is characterized directly in the discrete-time domain, which leads to a high-fidelity model. A DDM-based model that involves computation of matrix exponentials is proposed in [47-49] for SISO dc-dc converters. A similar approach is presented in [50] based on the transition of the spectral coefficients of the state variables. The state-variable sensitivity method is employed in [52] to develop a DDM-based model for AC/DC converters. The distinction between IDM and DDM is sometimes blurred in methods that combine the state-space

averaging and DDM to obtain a simplified discrete-time model, e.g., [53]. In general, direct digital controller design for multiport converters requires an accurate discrete-time modeling framework.

Multiport dc-dc converters can be modeled as continuous MIMO systems using conventional averaging methods [9, 54]. In multiple-output converters, cross regulation issues make the tight regulation of the output voltages challenging [18, 19]. Another aspect of multiport dc-dc converters, that employ time-multiplexing switching schemes, is the concept of EDCs [3, 6, 7, 31]. It will be shown that EDCs will cause multiple signal propagation paths throughout the switching period, which makes the precise dynamic modeling of such systems more mathematically involved. In this chapter, a general high-fidelity discrete-time modeling framework is set forth that extends the direct digital design methods in [47] to multiport converters. The salient features of this proposed technique can be summarized as follows.

• It accommodates the time-multiplexing switching schemes seen in the multiport dc-dc converters by accounting for the corresponding multiple propagation paths in each switching period.

• It avoids assumptions involved in averaging techniques (e.g., small state-variable ripples) by using the Floquet theory [55], while the final model is still simple enough for design purposes.

• It is able to model the sampling effect, modulator effect, and the propagation delays. The results can be extended to both leading- and trailing- edge PWM schemes.

Multiport dc-dc converters include MISO, SIMO, and MIMO converters. The most general case, MIMO converters, is considered. Figure 4.1 depicts the proposed MIMO converter in chapter 2, which utilizes a single inductor and time-multiplexing switching schemes [54]. As discussed in chapters 2 and 3, the EDCs of the input and output switches are not necessarily the same as their commanded duty cycles. An ideal discrete-time modeling framework should consider the effective duty cycles and time multiplexing properties of multiport converters.

The two-input two-output converter considered in chapter 2 is shown again in Figure 4.1. The converter has four active switches (MOSFETs), S_1 , S_2 , S'_2 , and S'_3 . Figure 4.2 depicts the switching

commands of the active switches; q_1 is the switching command of S_1 , q_2 is the switching command of both S_2 and S'_3 , and q_3 is the switching command of S'_2 . The duty cycles of q_1 , q_2 , and q_3 are denoted by d_1 , d_2 , and d_3 , respectively. In the first switching subinterval ($0 \le t < d_1T_s$), all S_1 , S_2 , S'_2 , and S'_3 are commanded on; however, only S_1 and S'_3 conduct the current. In the second subinterval ($d_1T_s \le t < d_2T_s$), S_1 is off and the inductor current flows through S_2 and S'_3 . In the third subinterval ($d_2T_s \le t < d_3T_s$), S_2 and S'_3 are off and the inductor current flows through the S_3 and S'_2 . In the fourth subinterval ($d_3T_s \le t < T_s$), all switches are off and the inductor current flows through the diodes S_3 and S'_1 .



Figure 4.1 The buck-boost-type MIMO dc-dc converter proposed in [54].

4.1 Discrete-time Model

The discrete-time model is developed based on the piecewise linear model of the converter in the different topological instances of a prototypical switching interval. There are M + N topological instances for the *M*-input *N*-output MIMO converter employing the time-multiplexing scheme. The converter linear model during each topological instance can be expressed in a canonical state-space format as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\mathbf{x}}{dt} = \mathbf{A}_k \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{b}_k \\ \mathbf{y} = \mathbf{C}_k \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{d}_k \end{cases}, \qquad k = 1, \cdots, M + N \tag{4.1}$$

where \mathbf{A}_k , \mathbf{b}_k , \mathbf{C}_k , and \mathbf{d}_k are the system matrix, input vector, output matrix, and feed-through vector in the k^{th} topological instance, respectively. The duration of each subinterval is determined by the corresponding effective duty cycle. A single ADC sampling per switching period is considered. The desired small-signal discrete-time model should be of the form

$$\begin{cases} {}^{(N+1)\times 1} \hat{\mathbf{x}}[n] = {}^{(N+1)\times (N+1)} \boldsymbol{\Phi} \hat{\mathbf{x}}[n-1] + {}^{(N+1)\times (M+N-1)} \boldsymbol{\Gamma} \hat{\mathbf{d}}_{e}[n-1] \\ {}^{M\times 1} \hat{\mathbf{y}}[n] = {}^{M\times (N+1)} \mathbf{C}_{1} \hat{\mathbf{x}}[n] \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

where $\hat{\mathbf{x}}[n]$, $\hat{\mathbf{d}}_e[n]$, and $\hat{\mathbf{y}}[n]$ are the perturbations in the state vector, effective duty-cycle vector, and output vector, respectively; and *n* is the index term (not to be confused with the number of the output ports, *N*). Matrices $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$, $\boldsymbol{\Gamma}$, and \mathbf{C}_1 form the discrete-time model. Without loss of generality, the sampling is assumed to take place at the beginning of each switching cycle; therefore, the matrix \mathbf{C}_1 , pertaining to the first topological instance in (4.1), determines the state-to-output relationship. Matrices $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$ and $\boldsymbol{\Gamma}$ are needed to finalize the model formulation.



Figure 4.2 Switching commands, effective duty cycles, state-vector evolution in steady state, propagation matrices, state-space matrices, and Floquet matrices for the MIMO converter in Figure 4.1 (two inputs/two outputs).

Although there are M + N effective duty cycles, only M + N - 1 of those are independent. The perturbation in the last effective duty cycle, $\hat{d}_{e,M+N}[n]$, can be expressed in terms of those in the other effective duty cycles as

$$\hat{d}_{e,M+N}[n] = 1 - \sum_{k=1}^{M+N-1} \hat{d}_{e,k}[n].$$
(4.3)

Consequently, vector $\hat{\mathbf{d}}_e[n]$ is of the length M + N - 1,

$$\hat{\mathbf{d}}_{e}[n-1] = [\hat{d}_{e,1}[n-1] \cdots \hat{d}_{e,M+N-1}[n-1]]^{T}$$
(4.4)

and matrix Γ has N + 1 rows and M + N - 1 columns,

$$\boldsymbol{\Gamma} = [\boldsymbol{\gamma}_1 \mid \boldsymbol{\gamma}_2 \mid \dots \mid \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{M+N-1}]$$
(4.5)

Each column, $\mathbf{\gamma}_k$, is determined separately and, then, they will be all aggregated to the matrix $\mathbf{\Gamma}$. The column $\mathbf{\gamma}_k$ describes the effect of perturbation in the effective duty cycle $\hat{d}_{e,k}[n-1]$ on the state vector at the end of the switching period, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}[n]$. To find $\mathbf{\gamma}_k$, the state-space description of the converter in the k^{th} and $(k + 1)^{\text{th}}$ consecutive topological instances are considered as follows

$$\begin{cases} \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} d_{e,i}T_s \leq t < \sum_{i=0}^{k} d_{e,i}T_s \\ \frac{d\mathbf{x}}{dt} = \mathbf{A}_k \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{b}_k \\ \mathbf{y} = \mathbf{C}_k \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{d}_k \end{cases}$$
(I),
$$\begin{cases} \sum_{i=0}^{k} d_{e,i}T_s \leq t < \sum_{i=0}^{k+1} d_{e,i}T_s \\ \frac{d\mathbf{x}}{dt} = \mathbf{A}_{k+1}\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{b}_{k+1} \\ \mathbf{y} = \mathbf{C}_{k+1}\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{d}_{k+1} \end{cases}$$
(II) (4.6)

It is assumed that the steady-state state vector at the switching instant between the two consecutive topological instances is $\mathbf{X}_{p,k}$. With a small-signal perturbation in $d_{e,k}$, the portion of the time spent in (4.6)-(I) is increased by $\hat{d}_{e,k}T_s$ while the portion of the time spent in (4.6)-(II) is decreased by $\hat{d}_{e,k}T_s$. Therefore, perturbation in $\hat{d}_{e,k}$ will cause a perturbation in the state vector at the switching instant between the two consecutive topological instances. This instantaneous state perturbation, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_d$, can be found by considering the difference between the time spent in (4.6)-(II) and (4.6)-(II) ($\hat{d}_{e,k}T_s$) as follows.

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{d} = [(\mathbf{A}_{k} - \mathbf{A}_{k+1})\mathbf{X}_{p,k} + (\mathbf{b}_{k} - \mathbf{b}_{k+1})]T_{s}d_{e,k}$$

$$(4.7)$$

The instantaneous perturbation in the state vector, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_d$, will then propagate throughout the rest of the switching period and causes a perturbation in the state vector at the next sampling instance, i.e., $\hat{\mathbf{x}}[n]$. The propagation effect is considered using different propagation matrices, Φ_k , depending on when $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_d$ happens during the switching period (see Figure 4.2). According to Figure 4.2, the perturbations occurring at the trailing edges of q_1 , q_2 , and q_3 will propagate through propagation matrices Φ_1 , Φ_2 , and Φ_3 , respectively.

It should be noted that perturbations in $\hat{d}_{e,1}$, while keeping other $d_{e,k}$ s constant, will cause three different instantaneous perturbations in the state vector at the trailing edges of q_1 , q_2 , and q_3 (see Figure 4.2). Similarly, perturbations in $\hat{d}_{e,2}$, while keeping other $d_{e,k}$ s constant, will cause two different instantaneous perturbations in the state vector at the trailing edges of q_2 and q_3 . Since q_3 is the last switching command, perturbations in $\hat{d}_{e,3}$ causes only a single instantaneous perturbation in the state vector at the trailing edge of q_3 . These instantaneous state perturbations travel through the switching period with different propagation matrices, Φ_k , depending on their relative location in the switching cycle. Consequently, one may find γ_k s (k = 1,2,3) as follows

 $\begin{cases} \gamma_1 = \Phi_1[(\mathbf{A}_1 - \mathbf{A}_2)\mathbf{X}_{p1} + (\mathbf{b}_1 - \mathbf{b}_2)]T_s + \Phi_2[(\mathbf{A}_2 - \mathbf{A}_3)\mathbf{X}_{p2} + (\mathbf{b}_2 - \mathbf{b}_3)]T_s + \Phi_3[(\mathbf{A}_3 - \mathbf{A}_4)\mathbf{X}_{p3} + (\mathbf{b}_3 - \mathbf{b}_4)]T_s \\ \gamma_2 = \Phi_2[(\mathbf{A}_2 - \mathbf{A}_3)\mathbf{X}_{p2} + (\mathbf{b}_2 - \mathbf{b}_3)]T_s + \Phi_3[(\mathbf{A}_3 - \mathbf{A}_4)\mathbf{X}_{p3} + (\mathbf{b}_3 - \mathbf{b}_4)]T_s \\ \gamma_3 = \Phi_3[(\mathbf{A}_3 - \mathbf{A}_4)\mathbf{X}_{p3} + (\mathbf{b}_3 - \mathbf{b}_4)]T_s \end{cases}$

(4.8)

Given the steady-state state vectors at the trailing edges of the switching commands, $\mathbf{X}_{p,k}$, and the propagation matrices, $\mathbf{\Phi}_k$, (4.8) can be used to find the input matrix $\mathbf{\Gamma}$ in (4.5). $\mathbf{X}_{p,k}$ can be approximated by the average steady-state state vector, $\mathbf{\overline{X}}$ [26]; however, exact calculation of $\mathbf{X}_{p,k}$ using Floquet theory [55] results in models with better accuracy.

Considering the canonical state-space description in each topological instance (4.6), $\mathbf{X}_{p,i}$ can be expressed in terms of the previous $\mathbf{X}_{p,i-1}$ as follows.

$$\mathbf{X}_{p,i} = e^{\mathbf{A}_i D_{e,i} T_s} \mathbf{X}_{p,i-1} + \int_0^{D_{e,i} T_s} e^{\mathbf{A}_i (D_{e,i} T_s - \tau)} \mathbf{b}_i d\tau = \mathbf{\Theta}_i \mathbf{X}_{p,i} + \mathbf{P}_i$$
(4.9)

where $D_{e,i}$ is the steady-state value of $d_{e,i}$ and Θ_i and \mathbf{P}_i are constant matrices pertaining to the *i*th topological instance (see Figure 4.2), given by

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{i} = e^{\mathbf{A}_{i} D_{e_{i}} T_{s}} \\ \mathbf{P}_{i} = \int_{0}^{D_{e_{i}} T_{s}} e^{\mathbf{A}_{i} (D_{e_{i}} T_{s} - \tau)} \mathbf{b}_{i} d\tau = (e^{\mathbf{A}_{i} D_{e_{i}} T_{s}} - \mathbf{I}) \mathbf{A}_{i}^{-1} \mathbf{b}_{i} = (\boldsymbol{\Theta}_{i} - \mathbf{I}) \mathbf{A}_{i}^{-1} \mathbf{b}_{i} \end{cases}$$
(4.10)

Thus, $\mathbf{X}_{p,i}$ can be determined recursively as

$$\mathbf{X}_{p,i} = \mathbf{\Theta}_i \mathbf{X}_{p,i-1} + \mathbf{P}_i = \mathbf{\Theta}_i \left(\mathbf{\Theta}_{i-1} \mathbf{X}_{p,i-2} + \mathbf{P}_{i-1} \right) + \mathbf{P}_i = \cdots$$
(4.11)

$$\Rightarrow \mathbf{X}_{p,i} = \mathbf{\Theta}_i \mathbf{\Theta}_{i-1} \cdots \mathbf{\Theta}_1 \mathbf{X}_{p,0} + \mathbf{\Theta}_i \mathbf{\Theta}_{i-1} \cdots \mathbf{\Theta}_2 \mathbf{P}_1 + \dots + \mathbf{\Theta}_i \mathbf{P}_{i-1} + \mathbf{P}_i.$$
(4.12)

In other words,

$$\mathbf{X}_{p,i} = \left(\prod_{k=1}^{i} \mathbf{\Theta}_{k}\right) \mathbf{X}_{p,0} + \sum_{j=1}^{i} \left(\prod_{k=j+1}^{i} \mathbf{\Theta}_{k}\right) \mathbf{P}_{j}$$
(4.13)

where the sequence product operator, $\Pi(\cdot)$, is defined such that the matrices are multiplied from the left as

$$\prod_{k=i}^{j} \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{k} = \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{j} \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{j-1} \cdots \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{i+1} \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{i}.$$
(4.14)

Additionally, in the steady state, $\mathbf{X}_{p,N}$ and $\mathbf{X}_{p,0}$ must be identical (see Figure 4.2), i.e.,

$$\mathbf{X}_{p,N} = \mathbf{X}_{p,0}.\tag{4.15}$$

Hence, $\mathbf{X}_{p,0}$, can be found as

$$\mathbf{X}_{p,0} = \left(\mathbf{I} - \prod_{k=1}^{N} \mathbf{\Theta}_{k}\right)^{-1} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{N} \left(\prod_{k=j+1}^{N} \mathbf{\Theta}_{k}\right) \mathbf{P}_{j}\right) = \left(\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{\Theta}_{tot}\right)^{-1} \mathbf{P}_{tot}, \qquad (4.16)$$

where matrices $\boldsymbol{\Theta}_{tot}$ and \mathbf{P}_{tot} are constant predetermined matrices defined as

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{tot} = \prod_{k=1}^{N} \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{k} \\ \mathbf{P}_{tot} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left(\prod_{k=j+1}^{N} \boldsymbol{\Theta}_{k} \right) \mathbf{P}_{j} \end{cases}$$
(4.17)

Once $\mathbf{X}_{p,0}$ is found, other $\mathbf{X}_{p,i}$ s can be determined recursively as

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{X}_{p,1} = \mathbf{\Theta}_{1} \mathbf{X}_{p,0} + \mathbf{P}_{1} \\ \mathbf{X}_{p,2} = \mathbf{\Theta}_{2} \mathbf{X}_{p,1} + \mathbf{P}_{2} \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{X}_{p,k} = \mathbf{\Theta}_{k} \mathbf{X}_{p,k-1} + \mathbf{P}_{k} \end{cases}$$
(4.18)

The propagation matrices, Φ_k , and the system matrix, Φ in (4.2), can be found considering the evolution of the state vector in each topological instance as

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{\Phi} = e^{\mathbf{A}_{4}D_{e,3}T_{s}} e^{\mathbf{A}_{3}D_{e,3}T_{s}} e^{\mathbf{A}_{2}D_{e,2}T_{s}} e^{\mathbf{A}_{1}D_{e,1}T_{s}} \\ \mathbf{\Phi}_{1} = e^{\mathbf{A}_{3}D_{e,3}T_{s}} e^{\mathbf{A}_{2}D_{e,2}T_{s}} e^{\mathbf{A}_{1}D_{e,1}T_{s}} \\ \mathbf{\Phi}_{2} = e^{\mathbf{A}_{2}D_{e,2}T_{s}} e^{\mathbf{A}_{1}D_{e,1}T_{s}} \\ \mathbf{\Phi}_{3} = e^{\mathbf{A}_{1}D_{e,1}T_{s}} \end{cases}$$
(4.19)

Equation (4.19) reveals the close relationship between the propagation matrices, Φ_k , and the Floquet matrices, Θ_k in (4.10). This relationship can be expressed as

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\Phi} = \boldsymbol{\Theta}_4 \boldsymbol{\Theta}_3 \boldsymbol{\Theta}_2 \boldsymbol{\Theta}_1 \\ \boldsymbol{\Phi}_1 = \boldsymbol{\Theta}_4 \boldsymbol{\Theta}_3 \boldsymbol{\Theta}_2 \\ \boldsymbol{\Phi}_2 = \boldsymbol{\Theta}_4 \boldsymbol{\Theta}_3 \\ \boldsymbol{\Phi}_3 = \boldsymbol{\Theta}_4 \end{cases}$$
(4.20)

It should be noted that the matrix exponential, $e^{\mathbf{A}_i D_{e,i} T_s}$, can be expressed in Taylor series format similar to scalar exponentials as

$$\Theta_{i} = e^{\mathbf{A}_{i}D_{e,i}T_{s}} = \mathbf{I} + \mathbf{A}_{i}D_{e,i}T_{s} + \frac{\left(\mathbf{A}_{i}D_{e,i}T_{s}\right)^{2}}{2} + \frac{\left(\mathbf{A}_{i}D_{e,i}T_{s}\right)^{3}}{3!} + \cdots$$
(4.21)

Considering the first two terms of the matrix exponential in (4.21) results in an approximate discrete-time model.

This discrete-time modeling framework is general and can be readily applied to any multiport converter in three steps. First, the state-space matrices in each topological instance are determined (\mathbf{A}_k , \mathbf{b}_k , \mathbf{C}_k , and \mathbf{d}_k). Then, steady-state state vectors, $\mathbf{X}_{p,i}$, the propagation matrices, $\mathbf{\Phi}_k$, and the discrete-time system matrix, $\mathbf{\Phi}$, are computed using (4.18) and (4.20), respectively. Finally, the columns of the discrete-time input matrix, $\mathbf{\Gamma}$, are computed using (4.8). The resulting system matrices, $\mathbf{\Phi}$, $\mathbf{\Gamma}$, and \mathbf{C}_1 in (4.2) are constant and computed prior to digital-control design. Subsequently, one can find the *z*-domain MIMO transfer function as

$$\hat{\mathbf{Y}}(z) = \underbrace{\left(\mathbf{C}_{1}(z\mathbf{I} - \boldsymbol{\Phi})^{-1}\boldsymbol{\Gamma}\right)}_{\mathbf{H}(z)}\hat{\mathbf{d}}_{e}(z).$$
(4.22)

4.2 Case Studies

A two-input two-output MIMO converter shown in Figure 4.1 is considered. The circuit parameters of the MIMO converter are $V_{in,1} = 24$ V, $V_{in,2} = 18$ V, $D_{e,1} = 0.2$, $D_{e,2} = 0.4$, $D_{e,3} = 0.2$, $D_{e,4} = 0.2$, $L = 247\mu$ H, $r_L = 0.6\Omega$, $C_1 = 1201\mu$ F, $r_{C_1} = 0.01\Omega$, $C_2 = 1200\mu$ F, $r_{C_2} = 0.02\Omega$, $R_1 = 50\Omega$, $R_2 = 25\Omega$, $f_s = 40$ kHz, V_F (diode) = 1.1V, r_F (diode) = 0.03\Omega, and r_F (MOSFET) = 0.07\Omega. Figure 4.3 illustrates the hardware setup. A digital signal processor (TMS320F2808), called the target computer, is employed to apply the small-signal perturbation in different effective duty cycles and sample the output voltages and the inductor current. The target computer is connected to the host computer (laptop) via a USB JTAG emulator for data acquisition and processing purposes.

Figure 4.4 illustrates the frequency responses of i_L , $v_{o,1}$, and $v_{o,2}$ to small-signal perturbations in $d_{e,1}$, predicted by the discrete-time model as well as those identified through switching-level simulations and measurements. The switching-level simulations are performed using the PLECS toolbox in MATLAB; where Fourier analysis is applied to the time-domain waveforms for each examined frequency point. The same perturbation injection and frequency sweep method is used to obtain the measured

transfer functions. A close match between the discrete-time model, switching-level simulations, and the measurement data can be seen in Figure 4.4.

The frequency responses of i_L , $v_{o,1}$, and $v_{o,2}$ to small-signal perturbations in $d_{e,2}$ and $d_{e,3}$ are considered. The proposed discrete-time model is compared with the conventional state-space average model in Figure 4.5. As seen in Figure 4.5, both discrete-time model and the average model offer acceptable results in predicting the frequency responses due to perturbations in $d_{e,2}$; however, the average model fails to accurately predict the frequency responses of magnitude, $|i_L|$, $|v_{o,1}|$, and phase, $< v_{o,1}$, due to perturbations in $d_{e,3}$. The reason that the average model cannot predict accurate results in all cases can be explained as follows.



Figure 4.3 The hardware setup: (a) MIMO DC-DC converter, (b) target computer (TMS320F2808 digital signal processor), (c) host computer (laptop), (d) input sources, (e) output static loads, (f) output dynamic load, (g) oscilloscope.



Figure 4.4 The frequency responses obtained by hardware measurements, switching-level simulations, and the discrete-time average model.



Figure 4.5 The frequency responses due to perturbations in $d_{e,2}$ and $d_{e,3}$, obtained by the discrete-time model, switching-level simulations, and the conventional average model.

In state-space averaging, the overall system matrix, $\overline{\mathbf{A}}$, is defined as the average of the system matrices pertaining to the different topological instances as follows.

$$\mathbf{A} = d_{e,1}\mathbf{A}_1 + d_{e,2}\mathbf{A}_2 + d_{e,3}\mathbf{A}_3 + d_{e,4}\mathbf{A}_4$$
(4.23)

Therefore, the system transition matrix, $\mathbf{\Phi}_{SSA}$, in one switching cycle, T_s , will be

$$\Phi_{\rm SSA} = e^{\bar{\mathbf{A}}T_s} = e^{(d_{e,1}\mathbf{A}_1 + d_{e,2}\mathbf{A}_2 + d_{e,3}\mathbf{A}_3 + d_{e,4}\mathbf{A}_4)T_s}$$
(4.24)

However, the exact system transition matrix, as suggested by (4.19) is

$$\Phi_{DT} = e^{d_{e,4}\mathbf{A}_4 T_s} e^{d_{e,3}\mathbf{A}_3 T_s} e^{d_{e,2}\mathbf{A}_2 T_s} e^{d_{e,1}\mathbf{A}_1 T_s}$$
(4.25)

As opposed to the scalar exponential operator, the matrix exponential operator, $e^{(\cdot)}$, does not have the distributive property, i.e.,

$$\mathbf{\Phi}_{DT} = e^{d_{e,A}\mathbf{A}_{4}T_{s}} e^{d_{e,3}\mathbf{A}_{3}T_{s}} e^{d_{e,2}\mathbf{A}_{2}T_{s}} e^{d_{e,1}\mathbf{A}_{1}T_{s}} \neq e^{(d_{e,1}\mathbf{A}_{1}+d_{e,2}\mathbf{A}_{2}+d_{e,3}\mathbf{A}_{3}+d_{e,4}\mathbf{A}_{4})T_{s}} = \mathbf{\Phi}_{SSA}$$
(4.26)

The only case that the matrix exponential operator shows the distributed property is when

$$\mathbf{X}\mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{Y}\mathbf{X} \implies e^{\mathbf{X}+\mathbf{Y}} = e^{\mathbf{X}}e^{\mathbf{Y}} = e^{\mathbf{Y}}e^{\mathbf{X}}.$$
(4.27)

However, if the norm of the topological system matrices, $\{\|d_{e,1}\mathbf{A}_1T_s\|, \|d_{e,2}\mathbf{A}_2T_s\|, \cdots\}$, are small enough, then the system transition matrix, $\mathbf{\Phi}$, can be approximated using the Taylor series as

$$\Phi_{DT} = e^{d_{e,4}\mathbf{A}_{4}T_{s}} e^{d_{e,3}\mathbf{A}_{3}T_{s}} e^{d_{e,2}\mathbf{A}_{2}T_{s}} e^{d_{e,1}\mathbf{A}_{1}T_{s}} =
\left(\mathbf{I} + d_{e,4}\mathbf{A}_{4}T_{s} + \cdots\right) \left(\mathbf{I} + d_{e,3}\mathbf{A}_{3}T_{s} + \cdots\right) \left(\mathbf{I} + d_{e,2}\mathbf{A}_{2}T_{s} + \cdots\right) \left(\mathbf{I} + d_{e,1}\mathbf{A}_{1}T_{s} + \cdots\right) \approx
\mathbf{I} + \left(d_{e,1}\mathbf{A}_{1} + d_{e,2}\mathbf{A}_{2} + d_{e,3}\mathbf{A}_{3} + d_{e,4}\mathbf{A}_{4}\right) \approx e^{(d_{e,1}\mathbf{A}_{1} + d_{e,2}\mathbf{A}_{2} + d_{e,3}\mathbf{A}_{3} + d_{e,4}\mathbf{A}_{4})T_{s}} = \Phi_{SSA}$$
(4.28)

Therefore, the state-space average model is expected to give acceptable results only when T_s is relatively small compared to the eigen values of matrices $\{d_{e,1}\mathbf{A}_1, d_{e,2}\mathbf{A}_2, d_{e,3}\mathbf{A}_3, d_{e,4}\mathbf{A}_4\}$, although it is not guaranteed in all cases.

The next chapter is dedicated to discrete-time model development for multiphase converters.

CHAPTER 5

DISCRETE-TIME MODELING OF MULTIPHASE CONVERTERS

Interleaved, multi-phase dc-dc converters are vastly used in microprocessor power supplies that require tight voltage regulation in the presence of drastic load transients. Digital controllers are preferred due to their less susceptibility to the noise and parameter variations, low power consumption, passive components elimination, system diagnostic, and programmability. Dynamic characterization of multiphase converters is required to extract small-signal models prior to the controller synthesis. Small-signal discrete-time models, that include time-delay effects of analog-to-digital converters and digital PWM generators, are presented in [47]. A bilinear mathematical method for discrete-time modeling of converters is studied in [42], where a new approximation of matrix exponential is used to further simplify the result. However, existing models are only suitable for single-phase converters, and there is no discrete-time model for multi-phase dc-dc converters despite their prevalent use in microprocessors power supplies. In this chapter, an accurate discrete-time model for multiphase dc-dc converters is presented.

5.1 Discrete-time Model Development

A multiphase digitally-controlled dc-dc buck converter is shown in Figure 5.1. The proposed methodology is general and applicable to all types of converters. The converter operates in continuous conduction mode with constant switching frequency and a single sampling per cycle. State-space equations describing circuit dynamics are

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\mathbf{x}}{dt} = \mathbf{A}_k + \mathbf{b}_k v_{in} \\ y = \mathbf{C}_k \mathbf{x} \end{cases} \qquad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m \tag{5.1}$$

where **x** is the state vector constituting of inductor currents and capacitor voltages, $(\mathbf{A}_k, \mathbf{b}_k, \mathbf{C}_k)$ are system matrices corresponding to the k^{th} switching subinterval, m is the number of topologies encountered in a switching interval, and y is the output vector (considered as the output voltage here).



Figure 5.1 A digitally-controlled, multiphase dc-dc buck converter

The exact small-signal model is found by perturbing the state vector, **x**, and duty cycles for each phase, and propagating the resulted perturbations through converter topological instances, as illustrated in Figure 5.2. The final small-signal discrete-time models should have the following form [48]

$$\hat{\mathbf{x}}[n] = \mathbf{\Phi}\hat{\mathbf{x}}[n-1] + \gamma \hat{d}[n-1]$$

$$\hat{y}[n] = \mathbf{C}\hat{\mathbf{x}}[n]$$
(5.2)

where **C** is the state-to-output system matrix in the first subinterval where the ADC sampling occurs. In order to extract the matrix and vector coefficients, (Φ, γ) , one can consider the effect of state and duty perturbations separately. The perturbation in previous state sample, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}[n-1]$, propagates through all topological instances in an *n*-phase converter with dynamics shown in (5.2). Thus, the matrix coefficient, Φ , is the product of all state transition matrices corresponding to each switching subinterval

$$\mathbf{\Phi} = e^{\mathbf{A}_1 D T_s} e^{\mathbf{A}_2 D T_s} \cdots e^{\mathbf{A}_n D T_s} e^{\overline{\mathbf{A}}(1-nD)T_s}$$
(5.3)

where, $(\mathbf{A}_1, ..., \mathbf{A}_n)$, are system matrices when the corresponding switches, $(\mathbf{q}_1, ..., \mathbf{q}_n)$, are on, and $\overline{\mathbf{A}}$ is the system matrix when all of the switches are off.

The perturbation in duty cycle, $\hat{d}[n-1]$, leads to a perturbation in state vector, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{d,k}$, at the modulation edge of the switching function at each phase, q_k , as shown in Figure 5.2. This perturbation in

state vector, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{d,k}$, can be calculated using linear combination of previous and current switching dynamics as

$$\begin{cases} \hat{\mathbf{x}}_{d,k} = \boldsymbol{\alpha}_k \hat{d}[n-1]T_s \\ \boldsymbol{\alpha}_k = \left(\mathbf{A}_k - \overline{\mathbf{A}}\right) \mathbf{X}_{p,k} + \left(\mathbf{b}_k - \overline{\mathbf{b}}\right) V_{in} \end{cases}$$
(5.4)

where, $\mathbf{X}_{p,k}$, is state vector at the falling edge of k^{th} switching function, \mathbf{q}_k . The resulting state perturbation in k^{th} phase, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}_{d,k}$, then propagates through remaining (n - k) switching subintervals. Once this process is repeated for all n phases, one can find the vector coefficient in (5.2), $\mathbf{\gamma}$, as

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\gamma} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \boldsymbol{\Phi}_{k} \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{k} T_{s} \\ \boldsymbol{\Phi}_{k} = e^{\mathbf{A}_{k+1} DT_{s}} e^{\mathbf{A}_{k+2} DT_{s}} \cdots e^{\mathbf{A}_{n} DT_{s}} e^{\overline{\mathbf{A}} \left[\frac{n-k+1}{n} - (n-k)D \right] T_{s}} e^{-\overline{\mathbf{A}} t_{d}} \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

where t_d is the total delay introduced by the digital controller consisting of ADC time, computational delays, and modulation delays. The final model is obtained by applying *z*-transform to (5.2).



Figure 5.2 The state vector trajectory due to perturbation in duty cycle, $\hat{d}[n-1]$, and initial state vector, $\hat{\mathbf{x}}[n-1]$.

5.2 Case Studies

The proposed methodology is applied to a dual-phase, digitally-controlled buck converter with the following parameters. $V_{in} = 10$ V, $V_{ref} = 1.8$ V, $f_{sw} = 300$ KHz, $L_1 = L_2 = 650$ nH, $R_{L_1} = R_{L_2} = 2.6$ m Ω , $C_1 = 672$ µF, $C_2 = 2 \times 47$ µF, $R_{C_1} = 14.4$ m Ω , $R_{C_2} = 18.0$ m Ω , $L_{C_1} = 6.5$ nH, $L_{C_2} = 3.0$ nH, $R_{load} = 0.225\Omega$, $R_{on} = 4.3$ m Ω , and $t_d = 450$ ns. For accurate representation of the power stage, equivalent series resistors and stray inductances are obtained from the hardware prototype and considered in numerical simulation. The open loop, control-to-output transfer-function predicted by the proposed discrete-time model and conventional average-value model are shown in Figure 5.3. A satisfactory agreement between two models is reported; however, conventional average-value model deviates at higher frequency as it does not include delay effects of digital controllers.



Figure 5.3 Open loop, control-to-output transfer functions predicted by the average-value model and the proposed discrete-time model.

Next, a digital PID controller, with $k_{dc} = 3500$, $f_p = 90$ KHz, and $f_z = 1.2$ KHz, is used to close the control loop. The loop-gain transfer-function is extracted from the experimental setup using a network analyzer. The closed-loop transfer function predicted by the proposed discrete-time model matches the experimental results, as shown in Figure 5.4, verifying model accuracy.



Figure 5.4 Loop-gain transfer functions predicted by the proposed model and obtained by hardware measurements

A cooperative control scheme based on distributed control of multi-agent systems is proposed for multiphase converters in the next chapter.

CHAPTER 6

COOPERATIVE CONTROL OF MULTIPHASE CONVERTERS

Modular dc-dc converters are prevalent in both front-end and point-of-load power processing units due to their numerous advantages. System wise, these advantages include increasing the reliability through structural redundancy, easing the thermal management, reducing the component stress, reducing the manufacturing cost by standardization of system components, re-configurability, and modularity. Performance wise, modular dc-dc systems allow for reducing the output voltage ripple through interleaving of the switching patterns, relaxing the requirements for input and output filters, higher efficiency, and better dynamic performance due to operation at higher frequencies.

Modular dc-dc converters can be categorized into IPOP, ISOP, IPOS, and ISOS systems [56]. The series port of the IPOS or ISOP converter is used at the high-voltage low-current side whereas the parallel port is connected to the low-voltage high-current side. IPOP or ISOS converters are useful for applications where both input and output ports are high-current or high-voltage, respectively. IPOP (or multiphase) converters are also prevalent in voltage regulators powering the modern microprocessors, where the output voltage is very low (1.1V-3.3V) and the load current is high (30A-50A) with substantial slew rates [57].

A critical challenge in multi-converter systems is balancing the stress among the constituent converters by proper current sharing at the parallel port and/or proper voltage sharing at the series port. Unbalanced voltages or currents lead to the need to overdesign the circuit elements and might even cause premature failure due to the thermal runaway in overloaded converters. If all converters are exactly identical, their currents and voltages are naturally balanced. In practice, however, these converters might not be identical due to the manufacturing tolerance of the electronic components and the inevitable parasitic elements in the circuit. Current and voltage sharing methods aim to compensate the effects of such non-idealities and ensure proper current/voltage balance among the constituent converters in the multi-module systems.

Several current and voltage sharing methods have been proposed in the literature. The current sharing methods can be categorized to droop and active-sharing schemes. In droop methods [58-61], the output voltage of individual converters droops as the load current increases. By selecting proper no-load voltage and droop slope for each converter, all converters can reach consensus on their output currents. Dc-dc converters, however, naturally have ideal voltage-source characteristics. Thus, the droop method requires implementation of a current-sharing controller that mimics the behavior of a non-ideal voltage source. Therefore, droop methods might exhibit poor voltage regulation [62]. The most well-known active-sharing methods include master-slave configuration [63-67], common duty-ratio control [68-70], digital resistive current control [71], sensorless current control [72-74], peak current-mode control [75], and cross-feedback control [76]. In master-slave configuration, the master converter regulates the output voltage while other converters try to synchronize their currents with the master. The master converter and its communication links to the slave converters are critical for proper operation of such scheme, i.e., they can be the single points of failure in the system. Therefore, master-slave configuration, although useful, undermines the system reliability. Besides, master-slave structure loses the modularity advantage because the master converter cannot be taken out. In common duty-ratio control, the same duty cycle is applied to all converters, and proper current balancing is achieved using the inherent characteristics of the employed converters. In such scheme, the resulting phase currents are different to the extent that parameters of the constituent converters are different [77]; thus, perfect current balance cannot be obtained in practice. In digital resistive current control, equal current sharing is achieved through converting the input characteristics of the converters from a negative resistance to a positive resistive load sink [71]. In sensorless current control approach, the current of each phase is estimated from the input voltage ripple information [78]. Both digital-resistive and sensorless current control schemes, although effective, are computationally intensive. In [79], the output voltage regulator is decoupled from the current sharing controller by applying elementary transformations to the Jacobian matrix of the average model. Such method gives the designer the freedom to design the output voltage regulation and current sharing loops

independently. A decentralized scheme is proposed in [80-82], where an 'active consumer agent' determines the total current reference for constituent converters, and the converters share this total current reference such that a prescribed cost function is minimized. This cost function could be, e.g., the power loss of each converter. The active consumer agent is a critical point of failure in such scheme. A general circuit theoretic classification and comparative studies of different current sharing schemes are presented in [83].

In ISOP converters, if the output currents are balanced, the input voltages will be automatically balanced (and vice versa) since the input and output powers of the constituent converters must be identical [84]. Due to such a close relationship between the input voltage and output current sharing, the distinction between the voltage and current controllers is sometimes blurred, especially in methods that obtain both through the same control strategy. A charge control method with input voltage feed forward is proposed for voltage sharing in [85]. The arithmetic average of the input voltages is used as the voltage reference in [86] to obtain proper voltage sharing. A three-loop control scheme, consisting of an output-voltage regulation loop, an input-voltage sharing loop, and a current sharing loop is proposed for ISOP inverters in [86, 87].

Although several control strategies have been proposed for stress sharing (i.e., current sharing) in modular dc-dc converters, not much attention has been given to how the choice of the communication structure among converters can affect the stability and the performance measures of such systems (e.g. fault tolerance, plug and play ability, etc.). In this chapter, the problem of stress sharing is approached from the point of view of cooperative control in multi-agent systems, where each converter represents a node (agent) on a directed communication graph that represents the information flow among the converters. The concept of cooperative multi-agent systems is inspired by the synchronization phenomena observed in the nature (e.g., flocking in birds, swarming in insects, and schooling in fish), where each agent is only allowed to exchange information with some neighbor agents according to a prescribed communication graph [88-91]. In this chapter, IPOP converters are considered for the purpose

of the discussion. The proposed approach, however, is general and can be applied to ISOP, IPOS, and ISOS converters as well. The contributions of this chapter can be summarized as follows.

• The proposed cooperative control method is truly modular and can realize a plug-and-play environment in both cyber and physical domains, where any converter can be added to or removed from an existing structure without disrupting the system operation.

• System reliability is greatly improved. As opposed to the master-slave configuration where the master converter and its communication links with the slave converters are the reliability bottlenecks, there is no single point-of-failure in this cooperative framework. For example, even if a communication link or a converter fails, the cooperative system can still balance the currents through other links as long as the communication graph has certain basic properties. Such properties are identified and studied.

• Using the cooperative control scheme, the designer is free to choose the proper communication graph (e.g. star, linear, gossip-ring). Each graph has specific fault-tolerance characteristics and requires certain communication resources. For instance, gossip rings require minimum communication resources but are the most vulnerable to failure. On the other hand, complete graphs have the highest reliability since they have the most number of edges, but they require maximum communication resources. The effects of the choice of the communication graph on the system reliability and stability are discussed.

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. Section 6.1 describes the preliminaries of graph theory and multi-agent systems. Section 6.2 describes the proposed cooperative multi-agent control scheme. Several case studies are presented in section 6.3 to verify the performance of the proposed method.

6.1 Dynamic Systems on Graphs

Each converter can be considered as a node in a directed communication graph (digraph). This communication graph determines the information flow among converters [92, 93]. Node i can receive the information from node j if there is a directed edge from node j to i. Assuming N nodes, the

communication graph can be represented by an adjacency matrix, $\mathbf{A}_{N \times N} = [a_{ij}]$, with $a_{ij} = 1$ if there is a directed edge from node *j* to *i*, otherwise, $a_{ij} = 0$. The edge weights (a_{ij}) are assumed to be either 0 or 1 for simplicity; however, they can be any nonnegative real number in general. The in-degree of the node *i*, d_i , is defined as the number of the edges having node *i* at the receiving end. The neighbor nodes set of node *i*, N_i , is defined as the set of all nodes that pin to node *i*. The graph in-degree matrix, $\mathbf{D}_{N \times N}$, is a diagonal matrix whose diagonal entries are the in-degrees of the corresponding nodes in the communication graph. The sum of the entries of the *k*th row in matrix **A** equals to the number of edges having node k as a head. Therefore, the in-degree of each node is equal to the corresponding row sum in matrix **A**. The graph Laplacian matrix is defined as $\mathbf{L}_{N \times N} = \mathbf{D}_{N \times N} - \mathbf{A}_{N \times N}$.

Figure 6.1(a-c) illustrates a few possible communication graphs for the modular converter system. It is customary to remove the arrows of the bidirectional edges. A digraph is said to be connected if there is at least one directed path between every two arbitrary nodes. A spanning tree is a tree that includes all the nodes in the digraph. Each node can obtain the information from a few neighbor nodes. If the communication graph has a spanning tree, such information can be shown to be sufficient to reach consensus among all the converters. In other words, there is no need for a centralized controller that has access to the information of all nodes.


Figure 6.1 Modular converters on communication graphs: (a) an undirected gossip ring, (b) a directed tree, (c) a random graph, and (d) a connected graph with a leader node.

In cooperative tracking, an abstract leader node is considered that, as opposed to the other nodes, does not correspond to a physical converter. The leader node pins to a few nodes in the communication graph and has independent dynamics. The leader node is not a reliability bottleneck since it is not a physical converter. For instance, the leader node can simply be the reference output voltage information, which some follower nodes know. Node *i* is called a root node if the communication graph has a spanning tree whose root node is node *i*. Figure 6.1(d) depicts a connected communication graph with a leader node, A0, pinning to a root node, A3. It can be shown that if the leader node pins to a root node, all nodes will be synchronized with the leader node's dynamics in steady state [94, 95]. The pinning gains matrix, $\mathbf{G}_{N\times N}$, is a diagonal matrix defined as $\mathbf{G} = \text{diag}\{g_i\}$ where g_i is the weight of the pinning edge from the leader node to node *i*. Considering that the leader node does not need to pin to all the follower nodes to reach consensus, the pinning gain matrix, \mathbf{G} , is usually a sparse diagonal matrix.

6.2 Cooperative Current Synchronization

IPOP converters are considered here for the purpose of the discussion, although the proposed control method is general and can be applied to ISOP, IPOS, and ISOS converters as well. Figure 6.2 depicts the schematic of a IPOP system in a cyber-physical structure. The physical layer represents the converters and their dynamics whereas the cyber layer determines the information flow among the converters. The leader node in the cyber layer, A0, represents the voltage reference information, which some of the converters know. All converter units share the same output capacitor. The objective is to obtain a control scheme that balances the currents of all converters, regulates the output voltage, does not need a centralized controller, and is able to operate uninterruptedly whenever a converter is taken out or brought into the system. Upon failure of a converter, it can be automatically isolated and other converters can compensate for the lost current capacity by supplying more current. Of course, the maximum current handling capability of the converters should be taken into account in such cases.



Figure 6.2 IPOP buck converters in a cyber-physical structure.

6.2.1 Average Model

The time-invariant dynamic model of the IPOP system is required to design the cooperative controller; such model can be found using the conventional SSA techniques as follows [96].

$$\begin{cases} L_k \frac{d\langle i_k \rangle}{dt} = V_{in} \mu_k - \langle v_o \rangle, \quad k = 1, \cdots, N \\ C \frac{d\langle v_{out} \rangle}{dt} = -\frac{\langle v_{out} \rangle}{R} + \langle i_1 \rangle + \langle i_2 \rangle + \dots + \langle i_N \rangle \end{cases}$$
(6.1)

where L_k , C, R, and V_{in} are the circuit parameters shown in Figure 6.2, $\langle \cdot \rangle$ is the moving-average operator, and μ_k is the duty cycle of the *k*th converter. The switching frequency is assumed to be much faster than the converter dynamics for the average model to be accurate. The moving-average operator, $\langle \cdot \rangle$, is dropped hereafter for brevity; all the variables denote their averages over a switching cycle.

6.2.2 Agent Dynamics

Figure 6.3 illustrates the block diagrams of the control schemes embedded in the microcontrollers of the agents. Those agents that are connected to the leader node participate in the voltage regulation (Figure 6.3(a)); they are called group I hereafter. Those agents that are not connected to the leader node only try to synchronize their currents with the other agents (Figure 6.3(b)); they are called group II hereafter. The agents in group II do not need voltage sensor, which can reduce the cost of the system. The voltage PID controller, $H_1(s)$, employed in the control schemes of the agents in group I, can be described as

$$i_{\rm ref} = k_{p1} \left(V_{\rm ref} - v_{out} \right) + k_{i1} \int_{0}^{t} \left(V_{\rm ref} - v_{out} \right) dt + k_{d1} \frac{d}{dt} \left(V_{\rm ref} - v_{out} \right).$$
(6.2)

where k_{p1} , k_{i1} , and k_{d1} are the corresponding proportional, integral, and derivative coefficients of $H_1(s)$, respectively.



Figure 6.3 The proposed cyber-physical structure for the IPOP system: (a) the converters that know the voltage reference, (b) their control schemes, (c) the converters that do not know the voltage reference, and (d) their control schemes.

The output of the PID voltage controller, $H_1(s)$, is the reference current, i_{ref} , to which the kth converter is desired to synchronize. This reference current is fed to the cooperative tracker block governed by the following democratic voting protocol.

$$w_{k} = \sum_{m \in N_{k}} a_{km} \left(i_{m} - i_{k} \right) + g_{k} \left(i_{\text{ref}} - i_{k} \right)$$
(6.3)

where a_{km} s are the entries of the adjacency matrix of the communication graph, **A**, g_k s are the pinning gains which are the diagonal entries of the graph pinning gain matrix, **G**, and N_k is the set of the neighbor nodes of the node k. According to the voting protocol in (6.3), each node tries to synchronize its current

with those of the neighbor nodes and the leader (i_{ref}). For the nodes in group I, $g_k = 1$, whereas $g_k = 0$ for the nodes in group II. The cooperative control protocol described in (6.3) can be expressed as

$$w_{k} = -i_{k} \sum_{m \in N_{k}} a_{km} + \sum_{m \in N_{k}} a_{km}i_{m} + g_{k}i_{ref} - g_{k}i_{k}.$$
(6.4)

The term $\sum_{m \in N_k} a_{km}$ is the row sum of the *k*th row in the graph adjacency matrix, **A**, which is equal to the in-degree of node *k*, *d_k*. Hence,

$$w_{k} = -(d_{k} + g_{k})i_{k} + g_{k}i_{\text{ref}} + \sum_{m \in N_{k}} a_{km}i_{m}$$
(6.5)

As demonstrated by (6.5), only the information of the neighbor nodes of each node, N_k , is required in the proposed scheme, and the information flow is determined by the communication graph through a_{km} $\{m \in N_k\}$.

Equation (6.5) can be expressed in the matrix format by aggregating all currents to a single current vector as

$$\mathbf{I} = \begin{bmatrix} i_1 & i_2 & \cdots & i_N \end{bmatrix}^T. \tag{6.6}$$

Considering (6.6), it can be shown that (6.5) is equivalent to

$$\mathbf{W} = -(\mathbf{D} + \mathbf{G})\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{G}\mathbf{I}_{ref} + \mathbf{A}\mathbf{I}$$
(6.7)

where $\mathbf{I}_{ref} = [i_{ref} \quad \cdots \quad i_{ref}]^T$. Therefore,

$$\mathbf{W} = -(\mathbf{D} - \mathbf{A})\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{I}_{ref} - \mathbf{I}) = -\mathbf{L}\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{I}_{ref} - \mathbf{I})$$
(6.8)

where **L** is the graph Laplacian matrix defined in section 6.1. Since the summation of the entries in each row of **A** is equals to the corresponding diagonal entry in **D** and, $\mathbf{L} = \mathbf{D} - \mathbf{A}$, the row sum of **L** is always zero. In other words,

$$\mathbf{L}\begin{bmatrix}1 & 1 & \cdots & 1\end{bmatrix}^T = \mathbf{0} \to \mathbf{L}\mathbf{I}_{ref} = \mathbf{0}$$
(6.9)

Hence, one can express (6.8) as

$$\mathbf{W} = \mathbf{L}\mathbf{I}_{\text{ref}} - \mathbf{L}\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{I}_{\text{ref}} - \mathbf{I}) = (\mathbf{L} + \mathbf{G})(\mathbf{I}_{\text{ref}} - \mathbf{I}).$$
(6.10)

The output of the cooperative tracker, w_k , goes to the current controller, $H_2(s)$, to generate the required duty cycle, μ_k :

$$\mu_{k} = k_{p2}w_{k} + k_{i2}\int_{0}^{t} w_{k}dt + k_{d2}\frac{dw_{k}}{dt}$$
(6.11)

6.2.3 Global Dynamics

To evaluate the stability and dynamic performance of the proposed cooperative control scheme, the global dynamic model of the system should be determined. It is desired that the steady-state value of the output voltage, v_{out} , be the same as the reference voltage, V_{ref} . Besides, the current of all converters, i_k s, must be identical in the steady state. The differential equation governing the PID voltage and current controllers, $H_1(s)$ and $H_2(s)$, can be expressed in the general form of

$$y = k_p x + k_i \int_0^t x dt + k_d \frac{dx}{dt}$$
(6.12)

where x and y are the input and output of the PID controller, respectively. Assuming that the system is stable, (6.12) forces the steady-state value of x, denoted by X, to be zero (X = 0). If $X \neq 0$ in the steady state, the integral term in (6.12) keeps integrating x and, thus, y changes. Change in y means that the steady-state condition has not been reached yet. Thus, the input of both PID controllers should be zero in the steady state.

Setting the input of the PID voltage controller (6.2) to zero in the steady state, one may find

$$V_{\text{error}} = 0 \to V_{\text{out}} = V_{\text{ref}} \tag{6.13}$$

Thus, the output voltage is properly regulated, provided that the system is stable. Similarly, setting the input of the PID current controller, $H_2(s)$, to zero in (6.11), one may find

$$\mathbf{W} = \mathbf{0} \rightarrow (\mathbf{L} + \mathbf{G})(\mathbf{I}_{\text{ref}} - \mathbf{I}) = \mathbf{0}$$
(6.14)

It can be shown that the matrix $(\mathbf{L} + \mathbf{G})$ is invertible if the corresponding communication graph has a spanning tree and the leader node pins to the root node of that tree [91, 94]. It should be noted that since the row sum of **L** is zero, its null space is all the vectors of the form $r[1 \cdots 1]^T$, where *r* is a real number. Since the null space of **L** is nonzero, **L** is not invertible; however, the null space of $(\mathbf{L} + \mathbf{G})$ is always zero if the graph has a spanning tree and the leader pins to the root node of that spanning tree. In such cases, all currents will be identical and equal to the reference current in the steady state since

$$\left(\mathbf{I}_{\text{ref}} - \mathbf{I}\right) = \left(\mathbf{L} + \mathbf{G}\right)^{-1} \mathbf{0} = \mathbf{0} \to \mathbf{I} = \mathbf{I}_{\text{ref}} \to i_k = i_{\text{ref}}.$$
(6.15)

To construct the global dynamic model, the transfer function matrix from the duty cycles to the converter currents, $G_{id}(s)$, and the transfer function vector from the duty cycles to the output voltage, $G_{vd}(s)$, are required. Taking Laplace transform of (6.1), one may find

$$\begin{cases} sL_k I_k(s) = V_{in}M_k(s) - V_{out}(s) \\ sCV_{out}(s) = -\frac{V_{out}(s)}{R} + I_1(s) + I_2(s) + \dots + I_N(s) \end{cases}$$
(6.16)

where $M_k(s)$ is the Laplace transform of $\mu_k(t)$, the duty cycle. Equation (6.16) describes a system of N + 1 coupled differential equations with the $M_k(s)$ as the system inputs and $I_1(s), \dots, I_N(s), V_{out}(s)$ as the outputs. The Kron reduction technique [97] can be used to eliminate the row corresponding to $V_{out}(s)$. The result would be

$$\Gamma\begin{bmatrix}I_{1}(s)\\I_{2}(s)\\\vdots\\I_{N}(s)\end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix}M_{1}(s)\\M_{2}(s)\\\vdots\\M_{N}(s)\end{bmatrix}V_{in}$$
(6.17)

where

$$\boldsymbol{\Gamma} = \begin{bmatrix} sL_1 + \frac{R}{1 + RCs} & \frac{R}{1 + RCs} & \cdots & \frac{R}{1 + RCs} \\ \frac{R}{1 + RCs} & sL_2 + \frac{R}{1 + RCs} & \cdots & \frac{R}{1 + RCs} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \frac{R}{1 + RCs} & \frac{R}{1 + RCs} & \cdots & sL_N + \frac{R}{1 + RCs} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(6.18)

Therefore,

$$\mathbf{I}(s) = \mathbf{\Gamma}^{-1} V_{in} \mathbf{M}(s) = \mathbf{G}_{id}(s) \mathbf{M}(s) \to \mathbf{G}_{id}(s) = \mathbf{\Gamma}^{-1} V_{in}.$$
(6.19)

The transfer function vector $\mathbf{G}_{vd}(s)$ can then be found using (6.16) as follows.

$$V_{out}(s) = \frac{R}{1 + RCs} (I_1(s) + \dots + I_N(s)) =$$

$$\frac{R}{1 + RCs} (\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \mathbf{I}(s)) =$$

$$\frac{R}{1 + RCs} (\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{id}(s) \mathbf{M}(s))$$
(6.20)

Hence,

$$\mathbf{G}_{vd}(s) = \frac{R}{1 + RCs} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{G}_{id}(s) = \frac{R}{1 + RCs} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{\Gamma}^{-1} V_{in}$$
(6.21)

The block diagram of the global dynamic model is depicted in Figure 6.4 for a general communication graph with graph adjacency matrix **A** and pinning gain matrix **G**. There are two control loops, namely, the inner current control loop and the outer voltage control loop. Both loops should be stable. The inductor current of a buck converter is usually a fast state variable whereas the output capacitor voltage is the slow state variable. Thus, designing the cascaded loops, such that the inner loop regulates the inductor currents while the outer loop regulates the output voltage, is preferred. The inner loop can be modeled as a transfer function matrix $\mathbf{H}_c(s)$, where

$$\mathbf{M}(s) = \mathbf{H}_{c}(s)\mathbf{I}_{\text{ref}} \tag{6.22}$$

Considering the system block diagram in Figure 6.4, $H_c(s)$ can be expressed as

$$\mathbf{H}_{c}(s) = \left(\mathbf{I} + \underbrace{H_{2}(s)(\mathbf{L} + \mathbf{G})\mathbf{G}_{id}(s)}_{\mathbf{G}_{L1}(s)}\right)^{-1} H_{2}(s)(\mathbf{L} + \mathbf{G}).$$
(6.23)

Therefore, the loop gain of the inner current control loop, denoted by $G_{L1}(s)$ is

$$\mathbf{G}_{L1}(s) = H_2(s) \left(\mathbf{L} + \mathbf{G} \right) \mathbf{G}_{id}(s).$$
(6.24)

By proper tuning of the PID current controller, $H_2(s)$, and assigning the proper communication graph, $\mathbf{L} + \mathbf{G}$, the bandwidth of the inner current control loop, with the loop gain $\mathbf{G}_{L1}(s)$, can be tuned. This bandwidth, as mentioned, should be high enough to ensure fast response of the current control loop.



Figure 6.4 Global dynamic model for an arbitrary graph with adjacency matrix, **L**, and pinning gain matrix, **G**.

Similarly, the outer voltage control loop can be described by the scalar transfer function $H_t(s)$, where

$$V_{out}(s) = H_t(s)V_{\text{ref}}.$$
(6.25)

Considering the block diagram of the system in Figure 6.4, $H_t(s)$ can be expressed as

$$H_{t}(s) = \left(1 + \mathbf{G}_{vd}(s)\mathbf{H}_{c}(s)\begin{bmatrix}1\\\vdots\\1\end{bmatrix}H_{1}(s)\\ \mathbf{G}_{L2}(s)\end{bmatrix}^{-1} \times \left(\mathbf{G}_{vd}(s)\mathbf{H}_{c}(s)\begin{bmatrix}1\\\vdots\\1\end{bmatrix}H_{1}(s)\right)$$
(6.26)

Therefore, the loop gain of the outer voltage control loop, $G_{L2}(s)$, would be

$$G_{L2}(s) = \mathbf{G}_{vd}(s)^{1 \times N} \mathbf{H}_{c}(s)^{N \times N} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ \vdots\\ 1 \end{bmatrix} H_{1}(s)$$
(6.27)

By proper tuning of the PID voltage controller, $H_1(s)$, the bandwidth of the outer voltage-control loop can be properly adjusted to be lower than that of the inner current control loop. Stability of the system can be assessed using the well-known linear system methods (e.g., the root locus method ([98]) for $G_{L1}(s)$ and $G_{L2}(s)$.

6.3 Case Studies

6.3.1 Hardware Setup

Three laboratory-scale buck converters are implemented in an IPOP configuration. Figure 6.5 depicts the hardware setup. Interleaved switching patterns are used to reduce the output voltage ripple. The circuit parameters are as follows. $V_{in} = 24V$, $V_{out} = 18V$, $L_1 = L_2 = L_3 = 100\mu$ H, $C = 2200\mu$ F, $f_{sw} = 40$ kHz, $R = 2\Omega$. The bandwidths of the inner and outer loops are 2kHz and 100Hz, respectively. Without loss of modularity, the control algorithms of all converters are embedded in a single DSP to simplify the development of the hardware prototype. The employed DSP is TMS320F2808, which has 16 channels of ADC and 12-bit built-in ADCs. The ultra-fast ADCs (80ns conversion time) of this DSP keep the combined conversion and computation times for all converters below one switching cycle (25µs for f_{sw} =40kHz). Therefore, the controller delay is limited to 25µs, which results in a better resemblance between the developed analytical model and the implemented hardware. The DSP (target computer) is connected to the host computer (laptop) for programming and monitoring purposes. As a default, the converters communicate through a gossip ring and they all participate in the output voltage regulation (they are all connected to the leader), unless otherwise specified.

6.3.2 Startup Response and Steady-state Operation

Figure 6.6 illustrates the measured startup response of the IPOP converter. As seen in Figure 6.6(a and b), the current averages are not equal in the beginning due to the mismatch between the actual circuit parameters of the individual converters; however, the cooperative control algorithm manages to balance the currents and regulate the output voltage, simultaneously. The output voltage, v_{out} , rises smoothly and does not overshoot. The steady-state current waveforms of all converters are shown in Figure 6.6(c). The measured i_1 in Figure 6.6(c) has more high-frequency noise content compared to i_2

and i_3 since the nominal current rating of the current probe used for measuring i_1 is 150A, which is much higher than the actual measured current (3A). The current ratings of the current probes used for measuring i_2 and i_3 are both 30A; they show less noise content as seen in Figure 6.6(c).



Figure 6.5 Hardware setup: (a) host computer (laptop), (b) power supplies, (c) parallel converters, (d) target computer (TMSF2808 DSP), (e) oscilloscope, (f) output loads.



Figure 6.6 Startup response and steady-state waveforms of the IPOP converter: (a) Startup response, (b) zoomed-in view of the startup response, (c) steady-state waveforms.

6.3.3 Fault Tolerance

Two different fault categories can be considered, namely, converter failure and communication link failure. The former pertains to the faults in the physical layer whereas the latter pertains to the cyberlayer faults. When a converter fails, the FDIR mechanism [99] isolates the failed converter and reconfigures the communication graph, if necessary, based on the existing communication resources. When a communication link fails, the system can operate uninterruptedly if the new graph is still connected and has at least one spanning tree with the leader node spinning to the root node of that tree. Otherwise, the system loses the current synchronization, although output voltage regulation remains intact. To ensure fault-tolerant operation of the system, existence of the FDIR mechanism is necessary in the case of a converter failure but not required in the case of communication link failure. The output load is set at 3Ω for the following fault tolerance studies.

6.3.3.1 Converter Failure

Figure 6.7 depicts the system performance in the case of failure in converter 1. The failure is simulated through the DSP code by disabling the PWM generator module pertaining to converter 1. The remaining converters are simultaneously put in a gossip ring by the FDIR mechanism. As seen in Figure 6.7, the cooperative control scheme manages to compensate for the failure of converter 1 by increasing the reference current of the remaining converters, while maintaining proper output voltage regulation.



Figure 6.7 System response to the failure of converter 1: (a) converter waveforms, (b) zoomed-in view of current waveforms, (c) currents waveforms after failure, (d) current waveforms before failure.

6.3.3.2 Communication Link Failure

After failure of one or more communication links, the system can operate uninterruptedly if the remaining graph still has a spanning tree with the leader node pinning to the root of that tree. For instance, consider directed and undirected gossip rings as shown in Figure 6.8(a and b), respectively. The leader, first, second, and third agents are denoted by A0, A1, A2, and A3, respectively. In the directed ring, if the link e_{31} fails, there is still one spanning tree, but, the leader node does not pin to the root node of that spanning tree (A1). Therefore, the current synchronization is lost since the information of the leader node cannot propagate to A1 and A2. As a result, the current of both A1 and A2 will drop to zero while A3 catches the total load current. On the other hand, in the undirected graph in Figure 6.8(b), even if e_{31} fails, there is still a spanning tree with the root node A3, to which the leader node pins. Hence, the system is fault tolerant and continues normal operation. Obviously, improved fault tolerance comes at the price of increasing the communication resources since each converter should have two receivers and two transmitters in the undirected graph whereas only one transmitter and one receiver is needed for each converter in the directed graph.



Figure 6.8 Failure of the link e_{31} in a gossip ring with the leader node pinning to the third agent (A3): (a) directed gossip ring, (b) undirected gossip ring.

Existence of a directed edge from the leader to an agent implies that that agent participates in the output voltage regulation, i.e., that agent is in group I (see Figure 6.3). However, it is not necessary that

all of the converters participate in the output voltage regulation (being connected to the leader). In the converters of group II, the control scheme only has a cooperative current sharing loop depicted in Figure 6.3(d). The system can reach consensus if at least one root node participates in the output voltage regulation, for instance A3 in Figure 6.8(b).

Figure 6.9 illustrates the measured response of the cooperative control scheme employing the undirected gossip ring (Figure 6.8(b)) to the failure in communication link e_{31} . As shown in Figure 6.9, no significant transients are seen after the failure and the system maintains its current synchronization as well as output voltage regulation.



Figure 6.9 System response to the failure of communication link e_{31} using an undirected gossip ring with the leader node pinning to the third agent (Figure 6.8(b)).

Figure 6.10, on the other hand, depicts the system response when the directed gossip ring (Figure 6.8(a)) is employed. As seen in Figure 6.10, the converters lose their consensus on the current; the currents of converters 1 and 2 drops to zero, and converter 3 carries the total current instead. Significant voltage transients are also reported as seen in Figure 6.10.



Figure 6.10 System response to the failure of communication link e_{31} using a directed gossip ring with the leader node pinning to the third agent (Figure 6.8(a)).

6.3.4 Plug-and-play Capability

The proposed cooperative control scheme can accommodate a plug and play environment so that new converters can be augmented to the system and become automatically synchronized with the other converters. For instance, the new converter can get the information from only one of the existing converters. Obviously, if the existing graph has a spanning tree, by adding another directed edge from one of its nodes to the new converter's node, it will still have a spanning tree. Besides, since the leader node was already pinning to a root node of the old graph before adding the new converter, there is no need for the leader node to pin to the new node. Another way of adding the new node, to a gossip ring for example, is to bring that node in the ring such that it can get the information from the previous node and give the information to the next node in the ring. This method is employed here. Figure 6.11 illustrates the response of the parallel converter system to the augmentation of converter 1. The total output load is set at 3Ω ; the total output current should be $18V/3\Omega = 6A$. As seen in Figure 6.11, the total current that was shared between converters 1 and 2 ($2 \times 3A = 6A$), is now shared among all three converters after the augmentation ($3 \times 2A = 6A$). The output voltage is also regulated simultaneously.



Figure 6.11 Plug and play feature: (a) system response to the augmentation of a new converter (converter 1), (b) zoomed-in view of the current transients, (c) current waveforms after the augmentation, and (d) current waveforms before the augmentation.

6.3.5 Audio Susceptibility

Audio susceptibility or line-regulation capability determines the ability of the parallel converter system to reject the random disturbances in the input voltage. Figure 6.12 depicts the line-regulation performance of the system when the input voltage suddenly drops from 24V to 20V. The output load is set at 3 Ω . As seen in Figure 6.12(a-c), the proposed control scheme manages to maintain the output voltage regulation while keeping the current averages equal. The inductor current ripples depend on the difference between the input and output voltages; thus, decreasing the input voltage decreases the inductor current ripples as seen in Figure 6.12(b) and Figure 6.12(c). The average of the current

waveforms, however, does not change since they depend on the reference output voltage and the output load ($I_{out} = V_{out}/R$), both of which do not change by changing the input voltage. This explains why noticeable transients are not seen in the average currents in Figure 6.12.



Figure 6.12 Audio susceptibility: (a) system response to the sudden decrease of the output voltage from 24V to 20V, (b) current waveforms before the step change in the input voltage, and (c) current waveforms after the step change.

6.3.6 Load Regulation

Load-regulation capability determines the ability of the parallel converter system to reject the random disturbances in the output load. Figure 6.13 illustrates the load-regulation performance of the proposed cooperative control scheme. The load is consecutively changed from 2Ω to 3Ω and vice versa. As seen in Figure 6.13(a), the current synchronization is maintained among the converters while the output voltage regulation is retained simultaneously. The average currents change from 3A to 2A in response to the step changes in the load from 2Ω to 3Ω , respectively. As seen in Figure 6.13, the cooperative control scheme manages to change the average currents and regulate the output voltage without introducing any significant transients.

Two redundant switch structures are studied and compared for reliability improvement in multiport converters.



Figure 6.13 Load regulation performance: (a) system response to the sudden change in the output load from 2Ω to 3Ω and vice versa, (b) current waveforms at 2Ω output load, and (c) current waveforms at 3Ω output load.

CHAPTER 7

RELIABILITY ANALYSIS

Power electronic converters, including multiport dc-dc converters, are widely used as power processing units in mission-critical applications such as military, aerospace industry, communication infrastructures, and smart grids. Reliability of the converter is a critical concern in these applications. Fault-tolerant power electronic converters are able to adapt and compensate random faults that might occur during their expected lifetimes. Fault-tolerant operation is conventionally achieved using different control strategies [100-106] or structural redundancy [107-114]. Structural redundancy, in general, is the duplication of critical components in order to have a backup in the case of fault occurrence.

Various redundant structures have been introduced in the literature for different power electronic converters, e.g., inverters [115-117], matrix converters [105-108], multilevel converters [118-120], motor drive [121-124], dc-dc converters [69, 125], and power factor correction rectifiers [126, 127]. These structures usually employ a redundant sub-circuit comprised of several components. For instance, an additional leg is augmented to a three-leg, diode-clamped multilevel inverter in [109].

Structural redundancy can also be considered at a component level as opposed to sub-circuit level. The advantages of the component-level redundancy are simplicity of the fault management and cost effectiveness. Power semiconductor switches are, arguably, among the least reliable components in power electronics converters [128, 129]. Two well-known redundant structures, namely parallel and standby configurations [130], can be considered to improve the reliability of system components. They can also be applied to semiconductor switches. Reliability analysis framework and selection criteria for the parallel and standby switch configurations have not been investigated to date. This chapter performs a comparative reliability analysis between these configurations and provides the following contributions:

 Reliability models of parallel and standby switch configurations are developed based on Markov process. The MTTF of each configuration is derived and formulated. • A boundary curve is identified and parameterized, where both redundant configurations have equal MTTFs, i.e., similar reliability characteristics. The key parameter of the boundary curve is found to be the switch-junction temperatures in steady state according to MIL-HDBK-217F handbook [131].

• The junction temperature range in which the parallel switch configuration is more reliable is determined for different high-power semiconductor switches including MOSFETs, BJTs, SCRs, TRIACs, regular diodes, and Schottky diodes.

• The effects of ambient temperature, converter's power level, and utilization of heat sink on the reliabilities of parallel and standby configurations are analyzed. It is shown that, for high-power converters operating at regular ambient temperature, the parallel configuration is likely to be more reliable. This is in direct contrast to the conventional reliability wisdom that the standby configuration is always more reliable than the parallel configuration. On the other hand, for low-power converters operating in high ambient temperature, standby configuration is likely to be the more reliable option.

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows: Section 7.1 introduces the parallel and standby switch configurations. Markov-process based reliability models of both configurations are developed in section 7.2. A comparative reliability analysis between the two configurations is presented in section 7.3. Section 7.4 discusses the effect of the junction temperature on the relative lifetime of these configurations. The influences of converter's power level and ambient temperature on the relative reliability of parallel and standby configurations are analyzed in section 7.5. Section 7.6 presents thermal studies and reliability analysis for a laboratory-scale buck converter. A discussion about how utilization of heat sinks can affect the experimental results is provided in section 7.7. The detailed derivations of the boundary curve, where both configurations have equal MTTFs, is given in section 7.8.

7.1 Redundant Switch Structures

Two widely-accepted redundant switch structures are standby and parallel configurations, shown in Figure 7.1(a) and Figure 7.1(b), respectively. Two groups of switches are considered: auxiliary switches, S'_1, \ldots, S'_n , and main switches, S_1, \ldots, S_n . The auxiliary switches enable the FDIR mechanism to

appropriately manage the faults [132]. They can be realized using low-frequency electromechanical relays. The main switches are the semiconductor switches (e.g., MOSFET or BJT) operating in high frequency ranges.



Figure 7.1 Redundant switch structures: (a) parallel configuration; (b) standby configuration.

In the parallel configuration (Figure 7.1(a)) all auxiliary switches, S'_i , are initially closed. Once a main switch, S_i , fails, the FDIR mechanism opens the corresponding auxiliary switch, S'_i , and the total current, I_t , is shared between the rest of the main switches. Proper current balancing between the main switches is assumed [133-137]. When all switches are healthy, each one should carry I_t/n . However, in the case that all but one switch fail, the remaining switch should be able to conduct the total load current, I_t . Thus, the current rating of each main switch, $I_{rated,i}$, should be the same as that of the overall switch network, I_t . In other words, all main switches are overrated to avoid overloading.

In the standby configuration, illustrated in Figure 7.1(b), only the first auxiliary switch, S'_1 , is initially closed. Once the main switch, S_1 , fails, the FDIR mechanism isolates S_1 by opening its corresponding auxiliary switch, S'_1 . The next healthy switch, S_2 , replaces the failed switch by closing S'_2 . The system proceeds until all main switches fail, where the overall system fails. Similar to the parallel configuration, the current rating of each main switch, $I_{rated,i}$, is the same as that of the overall switch network, I_t .

The fault isolation mechanism (e.g. mechanical relays) can be embedded in semiconductor switch modules. Especially, with the recent introduction of on-chip mechanical relays [138], new redundant switch modules can be potentially developed that have integrated isolation mechanism. Besides, integrated current or temperature sensors can also be employed in these switch modules to enable fault detection. These switch modules will be able to detect the random faults, isolate them, and reconfigure their circuit (FDIR) based on a user-defined redundant structure (e.g. parallel or standby configurations). Enhanced reliability and prolonged lifetime will be the potential advantages of these switch modules over their conventional counterparts.

7.2 Markov Reliability Model Development

A Markov chain is a special type of stochastic process, X(t). A stochastic process X(t) is called a Markov chain if it is memoryless, i.e.,

$$\Pr\{X(t_k) = s_k \mid X(t_{k-1}) = s_{k-1}, \cdots, X(t_1) = s_1\} = \Pr\{X(t_k) = s_k \mid X(t_{k-1}) = s_{k-1}\}$$
(7.1)

where s_k is the state of Markov chain at time t_k . When the number of states is finite, a natural number, $\{1, ..., N\}$, can be assigned to each state. The probability that Markov chain is in the *i*th state at time *t*, $P_i(t)$, is given by the following set of linear differential equations [130]:

$$\frac{dP_i(t)}{dt} = -\sum_{i \neq j} \lambda_{ij} P_i(t) + \sum_{j \neq i} \lambda_{ji} P_j(t)$$
(7.2)

where $1 \le i, j \le N$, and λ_{ij} denotes the rate at which the chain transitions from the state *i* to state *j*. The matrix format of (7.2) is more convenient for the analysis purpose:

$$\frac{d \mathbf{P}(t)}{dt} = \mathbf{A}\mathbf{P}(t) \tag{7.3}$$

where $\mathbf{P}(t) = [P_1 \dots P_N]^T$, and **A** is the transition matrix. Assuming that the first state is where the chain begins, the initial condition of (7.3) is

$$\mathbf{P}(0) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}^T$$
(7.4)

The final state, N, is assumed to be the state in which the whole system has failed. Thus, the reliability of the system is

$$R(t) = 1 - P_N(t)$$
(7.5)

MTTF is a metric that determines the expected lifetime of the system [130], and is given by

$$MTTF = \int_{0}^{\infty} R(t)dt$$
(7.6)

The Markov reliability models of parallel and standby configurations are developed in the following. A two-switch redundant structure is considered. The procedure, however, is general and can accommodate arbitrary numbers of switches.

7.2.1 Parallel Configuration

Figure 7.2 illustrates the Markov chain diagram for a parallel configuration with two main switches. Hereafter, the term "switch" refers to the main switches. Four states can be identified: the state in which both switches are healthy (state 11); the state in which the first switch failed, was detected, and isolated but the second one is still healthy (state 01); the state in which the second switch failed, was detected, and isolated but the first one is still healthy (state 10); and the final state in which the whole configuration failed (state 00). These states and their occupational probabilities, $P_1, ..., P_4$, are shown in Figure 7.2. In the case of fault occurrence, the probability that the FDIR mechanism can manage the fault is denoted by P_p^c (fault coverage), where the subscript "p" denotes the parallel configuration.



Figure 7.2 The Markov chain diagram of two switches operating in the parallel configuration.

When both switches are healthy, each carries half of the load current. Here, this condition is referred to as the half-load operation mode. The failure rates of the k^{th} switch, S_k , in half load and full load conditions are denoted by λ_{kH} and λ_{kF} , respectively. The rate at which the first switch fails when both switches are healthy is λ_{1H} . Besides, the probability that the FDIR mechanism can manage the fault is P_p^c . Therefore, the rate at which the Markov chain transitions from state 11 to state 01 is $\lambda_{1H}P_p^c$. The probability that the FDIR mechanism fails to manage the fault is $(1 - P_p^c)$. Therefore, the rate at which the Markov chain transitions from state 11 to state of a which fails and the FDIR mechanism manages the fault, the second switch should carry the total current. Thus, the rate at which the Markov chain transitions from state 01 to state 00 is λ_{2F} . Likewise, the rates at which the chain transitions from state 11 to state 10 and from state 10 to state 00 are $\lambda_{2H}P_p^c$ and λ_{1F} , respectively. According to (7.2)-(7.3) and Figure 7.2, the evolution of the occupational probabilities is governed by

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} P_{1}(t) \\ P_{2}(t) \\ P_{3}(t) \\ P_{4}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\lambda_{1H} - \lambda_{2H} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \lambda_{2H} P_{p}^{c} & -\lambda_{1F} & 0 & 0 \\ \lambda_{1H} P_{p}^{c} & 0 & -\lambda_{2F} & 0 \\ (1 - P_{p}^{c}) (\lambda_{1H} + \lambda_{2H}) & \lambda_{1F} & \lambda_{2F} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} P_{1}(t) \\ P_{2}(t) \\ P_{3}(t) \\ P_{4}(t) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(7.7)

Considering the initial condition in (7.4), one can find the reliability function of the parallel configuration:

$$R_{p}(t) = \left[1 - \frac{\lambda_{1H}P_{p}^{c}}{\lambda_{1H} + \lambda_{2H} - \lambda_{2F}} - \frac{\lambda_{2H}P_{p}^{c}}{\lambda_{1H} + \lambda_{2H} - \lambda_{1F}}\right]e^{-(\lambda_{1h} + \lambda_{2h})t} + \frac{\lambda_{1H}P_{p}^{c}}{\lambda_{1H} + \lambda_{2H} - \lambda_{2F}}e^{-\lambda_{1F}t} + \frac{\lambda_{2H}P_{p}^{c}}{\lambda_{1H} + \lambda_{2H} - \lambda_{1F}}e^{-\lambda_{1F}t}.$$
(7.8)

7.2.2 Standby Configuration

In this configuration, the probability that FDIR mechanism can detect the faulty switch, isolate it, and replace it with the healthy one is denoted by P_{sb}^c (fault coverage). The subscript "sb" in P_{sb}^c denotes the standby structure. Figure 7.3 depicts the corresponding Markov chain diagram. State 11 represents the state in which both switches are healthy, but only the first switch carries the total current. State 01 represents the state in which the first switch failed, was detected, isolated, and replaced with the second one. State 00 represents the state in which the whole configuration failed.



Figure 7.3 The Markov chain diagram of two switches operating in the standby configuration.

The first switch, S_1 , conducts the total current until it fails; its failure rate is λ_{1F} . Besides, the probability that FDIR mechanism can manage the fault is P_{sb}^c . Therefore, the rate at which the transitions occur from state 11 to state 01 is $\lambda_{1F}P_{sb}^c$. If the FDIR mechanism cannot detect the fault, isolate it, or replace the second switch, the whole configuration fails. Thus, the rate at which the Markov chain transitions from state 11 to state 00 is $\lambda_{1F}(1 - P_{sb}^c)$. In the case that the first switch is already failed and the second switch is operational, state 01, the system will fail if the second switch also fails. Thus, the rate at which the Markov chain transitions from state 01 to state 00 is λ_{2F} .

The evolution of occupational probabilities for this configuration is governed by

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} P_{1}(t) \\ P_{2}(t) \\ P_{3}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\lambda_{1F} & 0 & 0 \\ \lambda_{1F}P_{sb}^{c} & -\lambda_{2F} & 0 \\ \lambda_{1F}(1-P_{sb}^{c}) & \lambda_{2F} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} P_{1}(t) \\ P_{2}(t) \\ P_{3}(t) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(7.9)

Using (7.4)-(7.5), the reliability function of the standby configuration can be derived as

$$R_{sb}(t) = e^{-\lambda_{1F}t} + \frac{\lambda_{1F}}{\lambda_{1F} - \lambda_{2F}} P_{sb}^{c} \left[e^{-\lambda_{2F}t} - e^{-\lambda_{1F}t} \right].$$
(7.10)

7.3 Comparative Reliability Analysis

The MTTFs of parallel and standby configurations determine the expected lifetime of the corresponding switch networks. Thus, they can be good measures to compare the reliabilities of parallel and standby configurations. Conventionally, the failure rates are assumed to be constant in parallel and standby configurations constructed from independent modules [130]. According to [130], this assumption leads to the following derivations for MTTFs of parallel and standby configurations, $MTTF_p$ and $MTTF_{sb}$ respectively,

$$MTTF_p = \frac{1}{\lambda_1} + \frac{1}{\lambda_2} - \frac{1}{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2}$$
(7.11)

$$MTTF_{sb} = \frac{1}{\lambda_1} + \frac{1}{\lambda_2} \tag{7.12}$$

where λ_1 and λ_2 are the constant failure rates of the first and second modules for their entire lifetime, respectively. Comparing (7.11) and (7.12), one might conclude that the standby configuration is always more reliable. However, the failure rates of power semiconductors depend on their operating current; they cannot be assumed constant. Thus, the Markov models developed in section 7.2 should be used to compare the reliabilities of these switch configurations since they can tackle variant failure rates.

Using (7.6), (7.8), and (7.10), one can express the MTTFs of both configurations in terms of λ_{1H} , λ_{2H} , λ_{1F} , and λ_{2F} :

$$MTTF_{p} = \frac{1 + (\lambda_{1H} / \lambda_{2F} + \lambda_{2H} / \lambda_{1F}) P_{p}^{c}}{\lambda_{1H} + \lambda_{2H}},$$
(7.13)

$$MTTF_{sb} = \frac{\lambda_{2F} + \lambda_{1F} P_{sb}^c}{\lambda_{1F} \lambda_{2F}}$$
(7.14)

Since both switches operate at the same voltage and current levels, they can be identical. Employing identical semiconductors also helps balance the current between them [128]. Thus,

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_{1H} = \lambda_{2H} = \lambda_H \\ \lambda_{1F} = \lambda_{2F} = \lambda_F \end{cases}$$
(7.15)

This assumption can simplify the MTTF expressions. Using (7.13)-(7.15), the ratio of MTTFs can be calculated to determine the relative lifetime of these configurations

$$\frac{MTTF_{p}}{MTTF_{sb}} = \frac{2KP_{p}^{c} + 1}{2K(P_{sb}^{c} + 1)}$$
(7.16)

where K is defined as the ratio of half-load to full-load failure rate of the switches:

$$K = \frac{\lambda_H}{\lambda_F}.$$
(7.17)

The boundary condition is defined as the condition in which both parallel and standby configurations have the same MTTF. The boundary condition can be found in terms of K by equating (7.16) to one:

$$K = \frac{1}{2(1 + P_{sb}^c - P_p^c)}.$$
(7.18)

It can be seen that the parallel configuration is more reliable if

$$K < \frac{1}{2(1 + P_{sb}^c - P_p^c)}.$$
(7.19)

Besides, because the current stress of a switch in half load is less than that in full-load, half-load failure rate is always less than the full-load failure rate, i.e., $K \le 1$. Thus, if the right hand side of (7.19) is

greater than one; (7.19) is satisfied regardless of the value of *K*. Thus, the parallel configuration is more reliable than the standby configuration if

$$\frac{1}{2(1+P_{sb}^c - P_p^c)} > 1,$$
(7.20)

which implies

$$P_p^c - P_{sb}^c > 0.5. \tag{7.21}$$

Proper FDIR operation in standby configuration requires opening the first auxiliary switch, S'_1 , and closing the second one, S'_2 . On the other hand, proper FDIR operation in parallel structure only requires opening one auxiliary switch, S'_1 or S'_2 . Thus, the fault coverage in parallel configuration is usually easier than the standby configuration, i.e., $P_p^c > P_{sb}^c$. According to (7.21), if the difference between P_p^c and P_{sb}^c is more than 50%, then the parallel configuration is more reliable regardless of the half-load and full-load failure rates. If the difference is less than 50%, then the ratio of the half-load to full-load failure rate, K, determines the more reliable configuration.

Figure 7.4 illustrates the MTTFs of parallel and standby configurations versus half-load and full-load failure rates assuming 100% fault coverage in both cases ($P_p^c = P_{sb}^c = 1$). The intersection of the two surfaces, Figure 7.4(c), represents the boundary condition. As (7.18) suggests, the spatial location of the boundary condition depends on the difference between the fault coverage capabilities of the FDIR mechanisms, $P_p^c - P_{sb}^c$. The boundary conditions are plotted in two dimensions in Figure 7.5 for different values of $P_p^c - P_{sb}^c$.



Figure 7.4 (a) MTTF of the standby configuration, $MTTF_{sb}$; (b) MTTF of the parallel configuration, $MTTF_p$; (c) the boundary condition, ($P_{sb}^c = P_p^c$).

Since half-load failure rate, λ_H , is always less than its full-load failure rate, λ_F , the region in which $\lambda_H > \lambda_F$ is infeasible (the upper triangle shown darker in Figure 7.5). The boundary line divides the feasible area into two subareas: (a) the region in which parallel configuration is more reliable, (b) the region in which standby configuration is more reliable. One can see from Figure 7.5 that region (a) is a wider than region (b) for all different values of $P_p^c - P_{sb}^c$ except for $P_p^c - P_{sb}^c = 0$, where two regions have equal areas. In other words, the parallel configuration is more reliable for wider range of half-load to full-load failure ratios. The boundary line lies on the infeasible region if $(P_p^c - P_{sb}^c) > 0.5$ as expected; the parallel configuration is always more reliable if $(P_p^c - P_{sb}^c) > 0.5$.



Figure 7.5 The boundary conditions corresponding to different values of $(P_p^c - P_{sb}^c)$: (a) the region in which the parallel configuration is more reliable; (b) the region in which the standby configuration is more reliable.

7.4 Junction Temperature Effect

If the difference between fault coverage capacities in parallel and standby configurations is less than 50%, i.e., $P_p^c - P_{sb}^c < 0.5$, then the ratio of the half-load to full-load failure rate, *K*, determines the more reliable configuration. The half-load and full-load failure rates of the switches depend on their junction temperatures in these operating modes [131]. Thus, reformulating of (7.16) and (7.17) in terms of junction temperatures helps determine the operating temperature range where the parallel configuration is more reliable. The type of the semiconductor switch must be specified in this regard. A power MOSFET will be considered first. A similar discussion can be extended to other types of power semiconductor switches.

The failure rate of a power MOSFET is given according to the well-known MIL-HDBK-217F [131]:

$$\lambda = \lambda_b \pi_T \pi_A \pi_O \pi_E \tag{7.22}$$

where λ_b , π_T , π_A , π_Q , and π_E are base failure rate, temperature factor, application factor, quality factor, and environmental factor, respectively. Since λ_b , π_A , π_Q and π_E are equal in half-load and full-load operation modes [131], *K* is simplified to

$$K = \frac{\lambda_H}{\lambda_F} = \frac{\pi_{T,H}}{\pi_{T,F}}$$
(7.23)

where $\pi_{T,H}$ and $\pi_{T,F}$ are temperature factors in half-load and full-load, respectively. In addition, $\pi_{T,H}$ and $\pi_{T,F}$ depend on the junction temperature of the MOSFET [131]:

$$\pi_T = e^{-1925 \left(\frac{1}{T_j + 273} - \frac{1}{298}\right)}.$$
(7.24)

To ensure a fair comparison between the two configurations, their fault coverage capacities are assumed to be equal i.e. $P_p^c = P_{sb}^c$. By this assumption and using (7.18), (7.23), and (7.24), the boundary condition can be expressed in terms of the junction temperature of the MOSFETs:

$$T_{jH} = \frac{0.893 \times T_{jF} - 32.0^{\circ}\text{C}}{3.6 \times 10^{-4} T_{iF} + 1.107}$$
(7.25)

where T_{jH} and T_{jF} denote the junction temperature of the MOSFETs in half-load and full-load, respectively. The first term in the denominator of (7.25) is negligible compared to the second term. Therefore the condition in which the parallel structure is more reliable can be approximated as

$$T_{iH} < 0.806 \times T_{iF} - 28.9^{\circ} \text{C}$$
(7.26)

The derivation details of (7.25) and (7.26) are provided in section 7.8. Figure 7.6 depicts the spatial location of the boundary condition for a power MOSFET. Figure 7.6(a) is the *K* surface and Figure 7.6(b) is a flat surface corresponding to the boundary condition, $k = 1/[2(1 + P_{sb}^c - P_p^c)]$. As suggested by (7.19), the parallel configuration is more reliable if $k < 1/[2(1 + P_{sb}^c - P_p^c)]$. Thus, the intersection of the surfaces in Figure 7.6(a) and Figure 7.6(b) determines the boundary condition. It should be noted that half of the area in Figure 7.6 is infeasible because junction temperature at half-load cannot exceed the junction temperature at the full-load $(T_{j,H} \leq T_{j,F})$.



Figure 7.6 (a) The ratio of half-load failure rate to full-load failure rate, *K*, for power MOSFETs; (b) $K = 0.5 / (1 + P_{sb}^c - P_p^c)$ plane; (c) the boundary condition, $(P_{sb}^c = P_p^c)$.

The same procedure is followed for other types of semiconductor switches according to MIL-HDBK-217F, [131], and results are reported in Table I.

Power semiconductor type	The junction temperature range in which parallel configuration is more reliable
Power diode	$T_{jH} < 0.874T_{jF} - 18.7$ ° C
Schottky diode	$T_{jH} < 0.820 T_{jF} - 26.7$ ° C
Power BJT	$T_{jH} < 0.905 T_{jF} - 15.9$ ° C
Power MOSFET	$T_{jH} < 0.806T_{jF} - 28.9$ ° C
Thyrisor, SCR, TRIAC	$T_{jH} < 0.874T_{jF} - 18.7$ ° C

Table 7.1 The junction temperature range in which the parallel configuration is more reliable for different types of power semiconductors

7.5 Effects of Ambient Temperature and Converter's Power Level

The effect of junction temperature, T_j , on the relative reliability of parallel and standby configurations was studied in the previous section. The junction temperature, however, depends on two

other parameters, namely, power loss of the semiconductor switch and ambient temperature. The objective of this section is to clarify how these parameters affect the junction temperature and, consequently, the relative reliability of parallel and standby configurations.

The junction temperature of a switch, T_j , can be expressed in terms of its power loss, P_{loss} , and case temperature, T_c , as

$$T_j = T_c + R_{\rm th,jc} P_{\rm loss}.$$
(7.27)

where $R_{\text{th,jc}}$ is the thermal resistance between the junction and case of the semiconductor switch. In addition, the thermal resistance between the semiconductor's case and ambient determines the case temperature, T_c . If a heat sink is used, this thermal resistance will be the thermal resistance of the heat sink, which is much less than the thermal resistance between case and ambient when no heat sink is used. Similar to (7.27), the case temperature can be expressed as

$$T_c = T_a + R_{\rm th,ca} P_{\rm loss}.$$
(7.28)

where T_a is ambient temperature and $R_{\text{th,ca}}$ is either the thermal resistance of the heat sink or the normal thermal resistance between the case and ambient. The equivalent thermal circuit of the switch is illustrated in Figure 7.7. Since the steady-state value of T_j is of interest, the effect of C_{th} in the thermal circuit is neglected. Using (7.27) and (7.28), the junction temperature in half-load and full-load operation modes, T_{jH} and T_{jF} , can be expressed as

$$\begin{cases} T_{jH} = T_a + \left(R_{\text{th,jc}} + R_{\text{th,ca}}\right) P_{\text{loss},H} \\ T_{jF} = T_a + \left(R_{\text{th,jc}} + R_{\text{th,ca}}\right) P_{\text{loss},F} \end{cases}.$$
(7.29)

where $P_{loss,H}$ and $P_{loss,F}$ denote the power loss of the switch in half-load and full-load operation modes, respectively.



Figure 7.7 The thermal equivalent circuit of power semiconductor switches.

The inequalities given in Table I describe the necessary and sufficient conditions for the parallel configuration to be more reliable than its standby counterpart. These inequalities, in general, can be expressed in the form of

$$T_{jH} < k_1 T_{jF} - k_2 \tag{7.30}$$

where k_1 and k_2 are constants that depend on the type of the power semiconductor. Using (7.29) and (7.30), one can find the following condition for the parallel configuration to be more reliable:

$$\frac{(1-k_1) T_a + k_2}{R_{\text{th},\text{ic}} + R_{\text{th},\text{ca}}} < \left(k_1 P_{\text{loss},F} - P_{\text{loss},H}\right) .$$
(7.31)

It should be noted that the values of k_1 are very close for different types of semiconductors. The average and standard deviation of k_1 are 0.856 and 0.041, respectively. Since the standard deviation of k_1 is small, it can be substituted by its average value in (7.31):

$$\frac{0.144 \times T_a + k_2}{R_{\text{th,jc}} + R_{\text{th,ca}}} < \left(0.856 \times P_{\text{loss},F} - P_{\text{loss},H}\right) \,. \tag{7.32}$$

Increasing the ambient temperature, T_a , increases the left side of (7.32), and consequently, (7.32) is less likely to be satisfied. In other words, the higher the ambient temperature, the more likely that standby configuration is more reliable. On the other hand, increasing the power level of the converter leads to higher switch voltage and current. Consequently, the power loss of the switches increase, and the difference between the power loss in half-load and full-load operation modes increases as well. This means that the right side of (7.32) increases; i.e., (7.32) is more likely to be satisfied. Thus, the parallel configuration becomes the more reliable configuration.
One can conclude that the parallel configuration is more suitable for the converters with low ambient temperature and high power level. On the other hand, standby configuration, is more suitable for the converters with high ambient temperature and low power level. For heavy-duty converters that operate at high power levels and in high ambient temperatures, (7.32) should be examined to exactly determine which configuration is more reliable.

7.6 Case Studies

The objective of this section is to examine (7.26) for a laboratory-scale buck converter operating in room temperature. A 70W buck converter with a single MOSFET is built to determine the junction temperature in full-load, T_{jF} . Another similar 70W buck converter with two MOSFETs is also built to determine the junction temperature in half-load, T_{jH} . Every other aspect of these two converters is identical. The circuit parameters are as follows: $V_{in} = 20V$, $V_{out} = 15V$, P = 68W, L = 1.2mH, C = 4400μ F, $R_{on,MOSFET} = 0.07\Omega$, $R_{th,jc} = 0.32$ °C/W, $R_{th,ca} = 62$ °C/W, and $R_{th,heatsink} = 12$ °C/W. Figure 7.8 and Figure 7.9 show the converters' schematics and the experimental setup, respectively.



Figure 7.8 The schematics of a buck converter with (a) full-loaded MOSFET, and (b) half-loaded MOSFETs.



Figure 7.9 The hardware setup: (a) power supplies, (b) oscilloscope, (c) laser thermometer, (d) converters, (e) thermal camera.

The following procedure is used to accurately determine the half-load and full-load junction temperatures:

• The MOSFETs' power losses are precisely determined by measuring their voltage and current waveforms, v_{sw} and i_{sw} , respectively. Figure 7.10(a, b, and c) show the measured current, voltage, and instantaneous power loss of the half-loaded MOSFETs in two switching cycles, respectively. As seen in Figure 7.10(c), the instantaneous power loss of the MOSFETs has a considerable peak at the turn-off moment, whereas, its peak at the turn-on moment is negligible ($E_{on} \ll E_{off}$). The voltage and current profiles of the MOSFETs explain why E_{on} is negligible. As seen in Figure 7.10(a and b), during turn-on transition, the switches' voltages become approximately zero before their currents start to rise. Moreover, since Schottky diodes (V40100C) are used, there is no significant diode reverse recovery current to affect the power loss of the MOSETs during turn-on transition. The magnified voltage, current, and instantaneous power loss waveforms during turn-off transition are shown in Figure 7.11 and Figure 7.12, respectively. Likewise, the corresponding waveforms of the other buck converter with the full-loaded MOSFET are shown in Figure 7.13, Figure 7.14, and Figure 7.15. The average power loss of each MOSFET in both cases is given by

$$P_{\text{loss}} = \left(E_{\text{on}} + E_{\text{off}}\right) f_{sw} + P_{\text{cond}}$$
(7.33)

where E_{off} , and f_{sw} are the energy loss during the turn off subinterval and the switching frequency, respectively. The energy loss during turn off subinterval, E_{off} , can be found by determining the area under the waveforms of Figure 7.12 and Figure 7.15. The conduction power loss, P_{cond} , is

$$P_{\rm cond} = f_{sw} \int_{T_{\rm cond}} v_{on} i_{on} dt$$
(7.34)

where T_{cond} is the conduction subinterval of the MOSFET. The conduction power losses are determined by considering the forward resistances of the MOSFETs and their operating current. The switching energy loss, conduction power loss, and average power loss of the MOSFETs are listed in Table II for both cases.

Table 7.2 The switching loss, conduction loss, average power loss, and junction temperature of the MOSFETs in full-load and half-load operation modes

	$E_{\rm on}+E_{\rm off}(\mu J)$	$P_{\rm cond}(W)$	$P_{\rm loss}(W)$	$T_j(^{\circ}C)$
Full-load	92	1.31	2.23	97
Half-load	68	0.24	0.92	36



Figure 7.10 The measured current, (b) voltage, and (c) instantaneous power loss of the half-loaded MOSFETs. (2A/div, 10V/div, 50W/div, 20µs/div)



Figure 7.11 The magnified (a) current, and (b) voltage of the half-loaded MOSFETs during the turn off transients. $(2A/div, 10V/div, 1\mu s/div)$



Figure 7.12 The magnified instantaneous power loss of the half-loaded MOSFETs during the turn off transients. (20W/div, $1\mu s/div$)

		(a)	(b)	LeCroy
ient	eit			
L trans	transi			
	irn-on			
		(c)		

Figure 7.13 (a) The measured current, (b) voltage, and (c) instantaneous power loss of the full-loaded MOSFET. $(2A/div, 10V/div, 50W/div, 20\mu s/div)$



Figure 7.14 The magnified (a) current, and (b) voltage of the full-loaded MOSFET during the turn off transients. (2A/div, 10V/div, 1µs/div)



Figure 7.15 The magnified instantaneous power loss of the full-loaded MOSFET during the turn off transients. (50W/div, 1μ s/div).

• The case temperature of each MOSFET in steady state is precisely measured by a thermal camera. The two converter prototypes are shown in Figure 7.16. Their thermal pictures when both are on are illustrated in Figure 7.17. Given the case temperature and average power loss of each MOSFET, T_{jH} and T_{jF} are calculated using (7.27), and reported in Table II.

The reported $T_{j,H}$ and $T_{j,F}$ values in Table II satisfy the inequality in (7.26), i.e., the parallel configuration is more reliable for a buck converter with the given properties. The failure rate of a semiconductor switch depends on the junction temperature according to MIL-HDBK-217F [131]. This temperature dependency of the failure rates and the temperature difference in Figure 7.17 intuitively explains why the parallel configuration is more reliable in this case.



Figure 7.16 (a) The buck converter with full-loaded MOSFET, (b) the buck converter with half-loaded MOSFETs.



Figure 7.17 The thermal image of the converters when both are on and the case temperatures of the MOSFETs reached their steady state values: (a) the buck converter with full-loaded MOSFET, (b) the buck converter with half-loaded MOSFETs.

7.7 Discussion on Heat Sinks

In the previous section, it was concluded that the parallel configuration is the more reliable option for the studied prototype. This conclusion was drawn based on the measured $P_{\text{loss},H}$ and $P_{\text{loss},F}$ values. It should be noted that this conclusion is not very sensitive to some tolerance in measuring $P_{\text{loss},H}$ and $P_{\text{loss},F}$. For instance, using (7.31), it can be demonstrated that $\pm 35\%$ variations in the measured $P_{\text{loss},H}$ or $\pm 18\%$ variations in the measured $P_{\text{loss},F}$ does not change the result. The relatively low sensitivity of (7.31) with respect to $P_{\text{loss},F}$ and $P_{\text{loss},H}$ implies that variation in the operating point of the converter, which can be caused by the load variation, does not necessarily change the conclusion. The sensitivity to the ambient temperature, T_a , is even much less. According to (7.31), $\pm 430\%$ variation in the ambient temperature does not change the result as well.

However, the final conclusion is considerably sensitive to $R_{\text{th,ca}}$. Thus, one can expect the relative reliability ranking of parallel and standby configurations to change by utilization of a heat sink. For instance, a typical heat sink with the thermal resistance of 12°C/W is considered here. Assuming the same operating point for the converters, the half-load and full-load power losses of the MOSFETs are the same as those given in Table II. All variables in (7.31) remain the same except for $R_{\text{th,ca}}$, which is the thermal resistance of the heat sink. One can observe that by changing $R_{\text{th,ca}}$ from 62°C/W (without heat

sink) to 12°C/W (with heat sink), (7.31) will no longer be satisfied. In other words, using this specific heat sink makes the standby configuration more reliable than parallel configuration.

However, if a different heat sink with the thermal resistance of 45°C/W is used, the parallel configuration stays as the more reliable option. For the given values of $P_{\text{loss},F}$, $P_{\text{loss},H}$, and T_a , the critical $R_{\text{th,ca}}$, for which the parallel and standby configurations have the same MTTF, is 38°C/W. For every heat sink with higher $R_{\text{th,ca}}$, the parallel configuration is more reliable, whereas, using a heat sink with $R_{\text{th,ca}}$ less than 38°C/W makes the standby configuration the more reliable option.

In general, for a specific power semiconductor with known k_1 , k_2 , $R_{th,jc}$, ambient temperature T_a , half-load power loss $P_{loss,H}$, and full-load power loss $P_{loss,F}$, the critical heat sink thermal resistance, $R_{th,ca}^{critical}$, for which parallel and standby configurations are equally reliable can be found using (7.31):

$$R_{th,ca}^{\text{critical}} = \frac{(1-k_1) T_a + k_2}{k_1 P_{\text{los},F} - P_{\text{los},H}} - R_{th,jc}.$$
(7.35)

For any heat sink with thermal resistance higher than $R_{th,ca}^{critical}$, the parallel configuration is more reliable, whereas, for the heat sinks with thermal resistance less than $R_{th,ca}^{critical}$, standby configuration is the more reliable option.

7.8 Detailed Derivation of the Boundary Condition

The boundary condition, where parallel and standby configurations have the same MTTF, is given by (7.18). The coefficient *K* of (7.18) has been expressed in terms of $\pi_{T,H}$ and $\pi_{T,F}$ in (7.23). Equating (7.18) and (7.23), one may find

$$\frac{\pi_{T,H}}{\pi_{T,F}} = \frac{1}{2(1 + P_{sb}^c - P_p^c)}.$$
(7.36)

To ensure a fair comparison between parallel and standby configurations, the same fault coverage capability is assumed for both configurations ($P_p^c = P_{sb}^c$). This assumption simplifies the right side of (7.36) to 1/2.

The temperature factor, π_T , of power MOSFETs is given in (7.24) according to MIL-HDBK-217F [131]. The temperature factors of the other semiconductor types are also given in [131]; They all have the general form of

$$\pi_T = e^{-a\left(\frac{1}{T_j + b} - \frac{1}{c}\right)}$$
(7.37)

where a, b, and c are constants that depend on the type of the power semiconductor. Using (7.36) and (7.37), the boundary condition can be expressed as

$$\frac{e^{-a\left(\frac{1}{T_{jH}+b}-\frac{1}{c}\right)}}{e^{-a\left(\frac{1}{T_{jF}+b}-\frac{1}{c}\right)}} = \frac{1}{2}.$$
(7.38)

Manipulating (7.38) leads to

$$\frac{1}{T_{jH}+b} - \frac{1}{T_{jF}+b} = \frac{\ln 2}{a}.$$
(7.39)

Equation (7.39) can be rearranged in terms of T_{jH} as

$$T_{jH} = \frac{\left(1 - \frac{b}{a}\ln 2\right)T_{jF} - \frac{b^2}{a}\ln 2}{\frac{\ln 2}{a}T_{jF} + \left(1 + \frac{b}{a}\ln 2\right)}.$$
(7.40)

Replacing *a*, *b*, and *c* in (7.40) by their corresponding values for MOSFETs results in (7.25). For a MOSFET, the first term in the denominator of (7.40), $(\ln 2)T_{jF}/a$, is $3.6 \times 10^{-4}T_{jF}$, whereas the second term, $1 + (b/a)\ln 2$, is 1.1. Thus, the first term, $(\ln 2)T_{jF}/a$, can be safely neglected. The same conclusion is valid for other *a*, *b*, and *c* values belonging to other power semiconductor types. Thus, the boundary condition in (7.40) can be approximated as

$$T_{jH} = \left(\frac{a - b \ln 2}{a + b \ln 2}\right) T_{jF} - \left(\frac{b^2 \ln 2}{a + b \ln 2}\right).$$
(7.41)

Replacing a, b, and c in (7.41) by their corresponding values for MOSFETs results in (7.26). Similarly, replacing them by their corresponding values for the other types of semiconductors gives the boundary conditions described in Table I. The linear shape of boundary curve in Figure 7.6(c) also verifies the validity of the approximation that led to the linear relationship in (7.41).

CHAPTER 8

CONCLUSIONS

8.1 Conclusion

Two new multiple-input multiple-output dc-dc converter topologies, which can be used in multiple-source multiple-load energy systems, have been proposed in chapters 2 and 3. Specific switching strategies have been presented for the converters and their operational principles have been analyzed based on the proposed switching schemes. The state-space average models of the converters have been developed based on the proposed switching schemes. Dynamic characterization, loss and efficiency modeling, and sensitivity analysis studies are performed. The models have been linearized and different input-to-output transfer functions have been derived. Proper control strategies have been proposed that enable regulating the input powers, coming from diversified energy sources, in addition to the output voltages. The performances of the converters have been evaluated by different hardware measurements as well as numerical simulations.

A discrete-time modeling framework has been proposed for multiport and multiphase dc-dc converters in chapter 4 and 5, respectively. This modeling technique considers salient aspects of such converters that make the use of conventional continuous-time modeling prone to failure. The approximations imposed by the use of averaging techniques have been avoided by using the Floquet theory. The influence of effective duty cycles has been modeled by considering the multiple propagation paths during each switching period in multiport converters. The proposed model has been verified through switching-level simulations and hardware measurements. It has been shown that the developed model can properly predict the frequency responses whereas the conventional continuous-time average model fails in several cases.

A flexible current sharing method, based on the concept of cooperative control in multi-agent systems, has been proposed for multiphase dc-dc converters in chapter 6. The effects of the communication graph on the stability and fault-tolerance of the multiphase systems have been analyzed.

Using the proposed control method, a plug-and-play environment has been realized. A systematic framework has been proposed to analyze the stability and performance measures of the system using any desired communication graph. Hardware measurements have verified the modularity, plug-and-play ability, fault tolerance, and dynamic performance of the proposed control method.

To improve the reliability of multiport dc-dc converters, two redundant switch structures, namely parallel and standby configurations, have been examined for power semiconductor switches in chapter 7. Analytical models have been developed to compare the reliabilities of parallel and standby switch configurations. It has been shown that the junction temperature of the semiconductor switches in steady state is a key element in determining the more reliable configuration. The expected lifetime of each configuration has been expressed in terms of the junction temperature of the switches in half-load and full-load operation modes. The junction temperature range in which the parallel configuration is more reliable has been determined for different types of power semiconductor switches. The effects of converter's power level and ambient temperature on the junction temperature and, consequently, on determining the more reliable configuration have been discussed. The sensitivity of the results with respect to the underlying parameters has been analyzed. It has been shown that the thermal resistance of heat sink is a critical factor in determining the more reliable configuration. It is demonstrated that, for high-power converters in regular ambient conditions, the parallel configuration is likely to be more reliable than its standby counterpart. This is in direct contrast to the conventional reliability wisdom that the standby configuration is always more reliable. On the other hand, it is shown that for low-power converters operating at high ambient temperatures, the standby configuration is likely to be more reliable. A necessary and sufficient condition is presented to determine which configuration is more reliable for a converter with arbitrary parameters (e.g. ambient temperature, power level).

8.2 Future works

Future works can have three main directions, namely, topology synthesis, controller design, and reliability improvement for multiport dc energy conversion systems. Synthesizing new multiport

converters with enhanced performance, based on the proposed topologies, can be of paramount value (for instance, adding maximum power point tracking feature for one input source that is connected to a PV panel). Developing more robust control strategies for the multiport and multiphase converters can also be subjects of future works. The proposed cooperative control for multiphase dc-dc converters can be employed for current and phase synchronization in modular rectifiers or inverters. From the reliability perspective, future works can address more complex redundant structures of power semiconductor switches for reliability improvement purposes. Development of redundant switch modules with integrated fault detection and isolation mechanism can also be another interesting subject for future works. Such new switch modules will be able to provide high reliability and prolonged lifetime for mission-critical applications.

REFERENCES

[1] K. Gummi and M. Ferdowsi, "Double-Input DC-DC Power Electronic Converters for Electric-Drive Vehicles-Topology Exploration and Synthesis Using a Single-Pole Triple-Throw Switch," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 57, pp. 617-623, 2010.

[2] H. Behjati and A. Davoudi, "Discrete-time modeling of multiple-input DC energy conversion systems," in *Electric Ship Technologies Symposium (ESTS), 2013 IEEE*, 2013, pp. 66-70.

[3] A. Khaligh, J. Cao, and L. Young-Joo, "A Multiple-Input DC-DC Converter Topology," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 24, pp. 862-868, 2009.

[4] L. Solero, A. Lidozzi, and J. A. Pomilio, "Design of multiple-input power converter for hybrid vehicles," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 20, pp. 1007-1016, 2005.

[5] O. C. Onar, O. H. A. Shirazi, and A. Khaligh, "Grid Interaction Operation of a Telecommunications Power System With a Novel Topology for Multiple-Input Buck-Boost Converter," *Power Delivery, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 25, pp. 2633-2645, 2010.

[6] N. D. Benavides and P. L. Chapman, "Power budgeting of a multiple-input buck-boost converter," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 20, pp. 1303-1309, 2005.

[7] B. G. Dobbs and P. L. Chapman, "A multiple-input DC-DC converter topology," *Power Electronics Letters, IEEE*, vol. 1, pp. 6-9, 2003.

[8] R. Ahmadi, H. Zargarzadeh, and M. Ferdowsi, "Nonlinear Power Sharing Controller for a Double-Input H-Bridge-Based Buckboost-Buckboost Converter," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 28, pp. 2402-2414, 2013.

[9] R. Ahmadi and M. Ferdowsi, "Double-Input Converters Based on H-Bridge Cells: Derivation, Small-Signal Modeling, and Power Sharing Analysis," *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 59, pp. 875-888, 2012.

[10] C. Yaow-Ming, L. Yuan-Chuan, and W. Feng-Yu, "Multiinput converter with power factor correction, maximum power point tracking, and ripple-free input currents," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 19, pp. 631-639, 2004.

[11] H. Matsuo, L. Wenzhong, F. Kurokawa, T. Shigemizu, and N. Watanabe, "Characteristics of the multiple-input DC-DC converter," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 51, pp. 625-631, 2004.

[12] K. Kobayashi, H. Matsuo, and Y. Sekine, "Novel Solar-Cell Power Supply System Using a Multiple-Input DC-DC Converter," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 53, pp. 281-286, 2006.

[13] A. Kwasinski, "Identification of Feasible Topologies for Multiple-Input DC-DC Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 24, pp. 856-861, 2009.

[14] L. Yan, R. Xinbo, Y. Dongsheng, L. Fuxin, and C. K. Tse, "Synthesis of Multiple-Input DC/DC Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 25, pp. 2372-2385, 2010.

[15] M. Dongsheng, K. Wing-Hung, and T. Chi-Ying, "A pseudo-CCM/DCM SIMO switching converter with freewheel switching," *Solid-State Circuits, IEEE Journal of*, vol. 38, pp. 1007-1014, 2003.

[16] D. Trevisan, P. Mattavelli, and P. Tenti, "Digital Control of Single-Inductor Multiple-Output Step-Down DC-DC Converters in CCM," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 55, pp. 3476-3483, 2008.

[17] S. Chakraborty, A. K. Jain, and N. Mohan, "A novel converter topology for multiple individually regulated outputs," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 21, pp. 361-369, 2006.

[18] A. Nami, F. Zare, A. Ghosh, and F. Blaabjerg, "Multi-output DC-DC converters based on diodeclamped converters configuration: topology and control strategy," *Power Electronics, IET*, vol. 3, pp. 197-208, 2010.

[19] A. A. Boora, F. Zare, and A. Ghosh, "Multi-output buck-boost converter with enhanced dynamic response to load and input voltage changes," *Power Electronics, IET*, vol. 4, pp. 194-208, 2011.

[20] A. A. Boora, A. Nami, F. Zare, A. Ghosh, and F. Blaabjerg, "Voltage-Sharing Converter to Supply Single-Phase Asymmetrical Four-Level Diode-Clamped Inverter With High Power Factor Loads," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 25, pp. 2507-2520, 2010.

[21] S. Saggini and P. Mattavelli, "Power management in multi-source multi-load energy harvesting systems," in *Power Electronics and Applications, 2009. EPE '09. 13th European Conference on*, 2009, pp. 1-10.

[22] C. Min, Rinco, x, and G. A. n-Mora, "Single inductor, multiple input, multiple output (SIMIMO) power mixer-charger-supply system," in *Low Power Electronics and Design (ISLPED), 2007 ACM/IEEE International Symposium on*, 2007, pp. 310-315.

[23] H. Behjati and A. Davoudi, "Single-stage multi-port DC-DC converter topology," *Power Electronics, IET*, vol. 6, pp. 392-403, 2013.

[24] H. Behjati and A. Davoudi, "A multi-port dc-dc converter with independent outputs for vehicular applications," in *Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference (VPPC), 2011 IEEE*, 2011, pp. 1-5.

[25] C. N. Onwuchekwa and A. Kwasinski, "A Modified-Time-Sharing Switching Technique for Multiple-Input DC-DC Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 27, pp. 4492-4502, 2012.

[26] S. M. Cuk, "Modeling, Analysis, and Design of Switching Converters," 7719978 Ph.D., California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, 1977.

[27] S. R. Sanders, J. M. Noworolski, X. Z. Liu, and G. C. Verghese, "Generalized averaging method for power conversion circuits," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 6, pp. 251-259, 1991.

[28] Plexim Inc., "PLECS toolbox version 3.3," ed. Cambridge, MA, 2012.

[29] L. Solero, F. Caricchi, F. Crescimbini, O. Honorati, and F. Mezzetti, "Performance of a 10 kW power electronic interface for combined wind/PV isolated generating systems," in *Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 1996. PESC '96 Record., 27th Annual IEEE*, 1996, pp. 1027-1032 vol.2.

[30] C. Yaow-Ming, L. Yuan-Chuan, and L. Sheng-Hsien, "Double-Input PWM DC/DC Converter for High-/Low-Voltage Sources," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 53, pp. 1538-1545, 2006.

[31] H. Behjati and A. Davoudi, "A Multiple-Input Multiple-Output DC-DC Converter," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 49, pp. 1464-1479, 2013.

[32] S. Falcones, R. Ayyanar, and M. Xiaolin, "A DC-DC Multiport-Converter-Based Solid-State Transformer Integrating Distributed Generation and Storage," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 28, pp. 2192-2203, 2013.

[33] J. Morroni, R. Zane, and D. Maksimovic, "An Online Stability Margin Monitor for Digitally Controlled Switched-Mode Power Supplies," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 24, pp. 2639-2648, 2009.

[34] A. Davoudi, N. Kong, H. Behjati, M. Hagen, and E. Oettinger, "Automated system identification and controller tuning for digitally controlled dc-dc converters," *Power Electronics, IET*, vol. 5, pp. 765-772, 2012.

[35] M. Shirazi, J. Morroni, A. Dolgov, R. Zane, and D. Maksimovic, "Integration of Frequency Response Measurement Capabilities in Digital Controllers for DC-DC Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 23, pp. 2524-2535, 2008.

[36] M. Shirazi, R. Zane, and D. Maksimovic, "An Autotuning Digital Controller for DC-DC Power Converters Based on Online Frequency-Response Measurement," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 24, pp. 2578-2588, 2009.

[37] S. Zhonghan, C. Xuegui, W. Weiwei, T. Xi, Y. Na, and M. Hao, "Predictive Digital Current Control of Single-Inductor Multiple-Output Converters in CCM With Low Cross Regulation," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 27, pp. 1917-1925, 2012.

[38] J. Jingbin and L. Ka-Nang, "Digital-Control Single-Inductor Triple-Output DC-DC Converter With Pre-Sub-Period Inductor-Current Control," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 27, pp. 2028-2042, 2012.

[39] V. Mummadi and B. Krishna Mohan, "Robust Digital Voltage-Mode Controller for Fifth-Order Boost Converter," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 58, pp. 263-277, 2011.

[40] D. M. VandeSype, K. DeGusseme, F. M. L. L. DeBelie, A. P. VandenBossche, and J. A. Melkebeek, "Small-Signal z-Domain Analysis of Digitally Controlled Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 21, pp. 470-478, 2006.

[41] M. M. Peretz and S. Ben-Yaakov, "Time-Domain Design of Digital Compensators for PWM DC-DC Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 27, pp. 284-293, 2012.

[42] G. C. Verghese, M. E. Elbuluk, and J. G. Kassakian, "A General Approach to Sampled-Data Modeling for Power Electronic Circuits," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. PE-1, pp. 76-89, 1986.

[43] C. Olalla, R. Leyva, I. Queinnec, and D. Maksimovic, "Robust Gain-Scheduled Control of Switched-Mode DC-DC Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 27, pp. 3006-3019, 2012.

[44] J. W. Kimball and P. T. Krein, "Singular Perturbation Theory for DC-DC Converters and Application to PFC Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 23, pp. 2970-2981, 2008.

[45] F. Chung-Chieh, "Unified Discrete-Time Modeling of Buck Converter in Discontinuous Mode," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 26, pp. 2335-2342, 2011.

[46] H. Behjati and A. Davoudi, "Discrete-time modelling of digitally-controlled multiphase converters," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 47, pp. 280-281, 2011.

[47] D. Maksimovic and R. Zane, "Small-Signal Discrete-Time Modeling of Digitally Controlled PWM Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 22, pp. 2552-2556, 2007.

[48] D. Maksimovic and R. Zane, "Small-signal Discrete-time Modeling of Digitally Controlled DC-DC Converters," in *Computers in Power Electronics, 2006. COMPEL '06. IEEE Workshops on*, 2006, pp. 231-235.

[49] D. Costinett, R. Zane, and D. Maksimovic, "Discrete-time small-signal modeling of a 1 MHz efficiency-optimized dual active bridge converter with varying load," in *Control and Modeling for Power Electronics (COMPEL), 2012 IEEE 13th Workshop on,* 2012, pp. 1-7.

[50] V. Rajasekaran, S. Jian, and B. S. Heck, "Bilinear discrete-time modeling for enhanced stability prediction and digital control design," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 18, pp. 381-389, 2003.

[51] N. Femia and M. Vitelli, "Time-domain analysis of switching converters based on a discretetime transition model of the spectral coefficients of state variables," *Circuits and Systems I: Fundamental Theory and Applications, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 50, pp. 1447-1460, 2003.

[52] K. L. Lian, "Derivation of a Small-Signal Harmonic Model for Closed-Loop Power Converters Based on the State-Variable Sensitivity Method," *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 59, pp. 833-845, 2012.

[53] W. XuanLv, X. GuoChun, and L. Bo, "Simplified Discrete-Time Modeling for Convenient Stability Prediction and Digital Control Design," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 28, pp. 5333-5342, 2013.

[54] H. Behjati and A. Davoudi, "Power Budgeting between Diversified Energy Sources and Loads using a Multiple-Input Multiple-Output DC-DC Converter," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. PP, pp. 1-1, 2013.

[55] H. R. Visser and P. P. J. Van den Bosch, "Modelling of periodically switching networks," in *Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 1991. PESC '91 Record., 22nd Annual IEEE*, 1991, pp. 67-73.

[56] C. Wu, R. Xinbo, Y. Hong, and C. K. Tse, "DC/DC Conversion Systems Consisting of Multiple Converter Modules: Stability, Control, and Experimental Verifications," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 24, pp. 1463-1474, 2009.

[57] Z. Xunwei, X. Peng, and F. C. Lee, "A novel current-sharing control technique for low-voltage high-current voltage regulator module applications," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 15, pp. 1153-1162, 2000.

[58] J. B. Wang, "Parallel DC/DC converters system with a novel primary droop current sharing control," *Power Electronics, IET*, vol. 5, pp. 1569-1580, 2012.

[59] S. Anand and B. G. Fernandes, "Modified droop controller for paralleling of dc-dc converters in standalone dc system," *Power Electronics, IET*, vol. 5, pp. 782-789, 2012.

[60] K. Jung-Won, C. Hang-Seok, and C. Bo Hyung, "A novel droop method for converter parallel operation," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 17, pp. 25-32, 2002.

[61] J. B. Wang, "Study of cable resistance and remote-sensing scheme in parallel DC/DC converter system via primary droop current-sharing control," *Power Electronics, IET*, vol. 5, pp. 885-898, 2012.

[62] L. Shiguo, Y. Zhihong, L. Ray-Lee, and F. C. Lee, "A classification and evaluation of paralleling methods for power supply modules," in *Power Electronics Specialists Conference*, 1999. *PESC 99. 30th Annual IEEE*, 1999, pp. 901-908 vol.2.

[63] S. K. Mazumder, M. Tahir, and K. Acharya, "Master-Slave Current-Sharing Control of a Parallel DC-DC Converter System Over an RF Communication Interface," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 55, pp. 59-66, 2008.

[64] L. Peng and B. Lehman, "A design method for paralleling current mode controlled DC-DC converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 19, pp. 748-756, 2004.

[65] Y. M. Lai, S. C. Tan, and Y. M. Tsang, "Wireless control of load current sharing information for parallel-connected DC/DC power converters," *Power Electronics, IET*, vol. 2, pp. 14-21, 2009.

[66] Grbovic, x, and P. J., "Master/Slave Control of Input-Series- and Output-Parallel-Connected Converters: Concept for Low-Cost High-Voltage Auxiliary Power Supplies," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 24, pp. 316-328, 2009.

[67] S. K. Mazumder, M. Tahir, and S. L. Kamisetty, "Wireless PWM control of a parallel DC-DC buck converter," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 20, pp. 1280-1286, 2005.

[68] S. Jianjiang, Z. Lingbing, and H. Xiangning, "Common-Duty-Ratio Control of Input-Parallel Output-Parallel (IPOP) Connected DC-DC Converter Modules With Automatic Sharing of Currents," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 27, pp. 3277-3291, 2012.

[69] V. Choudhary, E. Ledezma, R. Ayyanar, and R. M. Button, "Fault Tolerant Circuit Topology and Control Method for Input-Series and Output-Parallel Modular DC-DC Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 23, pp. 402-411, 2008.

[70] M. M. Jovanovic, D. E. Crow, and F.-Y. Lieu, "A novel, low-cost implementation of democratic load-current sharing of paralleled converter modules," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 11, pp. 604-611, 1996.

[71] B. Hyunsu, L. Jaeho, Y. Jeonghwan, and C. Bo Hyung, "Digital Resistive Current (DRC) Control for the Parallel Interleaved DC-DC Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 23, pp. 2465-2476, 2008.

[72] Lukic, x, Z., S. S. Ahsanuzzaman, Z. Zhenyu, Prodic, *et al.*, "Sensorless Self-Tuning Digital CPM Controller With Multiple Parameter Estimation and Thermal Stress Equalization," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 26, pp. 3948-3963, 2011.

[73] C. Suyong, S. Yujin, P. Sukin, and J. Hakgeun, "Digital Current Sharing Method for Parallel Interleaved DC-DC Converters Using Input Ripple Voltage," *Industrial Informatics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 8, pp. 536-544, 2012.

[74] J. W. Kimball, J. T. Mossoba, and P. T. Krein, "A Stabilizing, High-Performance Controller for Input Series-Output Parallel Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 23, pp. 1416-1427, 2008.

[75] S. Jenn-Jong, "Peak-current-mode based single-wire current-share multimodule paralleling DC power supplies," *Circuits and Systems I: Fundamental Theory and Applications, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 50, pp. 1564-1568, 2003.

[76] S. Deshang, G. Zhiqiang, and L. Xiaozhong, "Cross-Feedback Output-Current-Sharing Control for Input-Series-Output-Parallel Modular DC-DC Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 25, pp. 2762-2771, 2010.

[77] R. Giri, V. Choudhary, R. Ayyanar, and N. Mohan, "Common-duty-ratio control of input-series connected modular DC-DC converters with active input voltage and load-current sharing," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 42, pp. 1101-1111, 2006.

[78] G. Eirea and S. R. Sanders, "Phase Current Unbalance Estimation in Multiphase Buck Converters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 23, pp. 137-143, 2008.

[79] L. Ming, C. K. Tse, H. H. C. Iu, and M. Xikui, "Unified Equivalent Modeling for Stability Analysis of Parallel-Connected DC/DC Converters," *Circuits and Systems II: Express Briefs, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 57, pp. 898-902, 2010.

[80] J. Hamar and A. Toth, "Agent-based control of parallel dc-dc converters," in *Power Electronics and Applications, 2009. EPE '09. 13th European Conference on,* 2009, pp. 1-10.

[81] D. T. Sepsi, J. Hamar, Ja, x, rda, x, *et al.*, "Sliding mode agent-based control of parallel buck converters," in *Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (EPE/PEMC)*, 2010 14th International, 2010, pp. S13-20-S13-27.

[82] J. Hamar, "Decentralized, agent-based control of low and moderate power DC-DC converters," in *Power Electronics Conference*, 2009. *COBEP* '09. *Brazilian*, 2009, pp. 410-416.

[83] H. Yuehui and C. K. Tse, "Circuit Theoretic Classification of Parallel Connected DC-DC Converters," *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 54, pp. 1099-1108, 2007.

[84] R. Xinbo, C. Wu, C. Lulu, C. K. Tse, Y. Hong, and Z. Tao, "Control Strategy for Input-Series-Output-Parallel Converters," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 56, pp. 1174-1185, 2009. [85] K. Jung-Won, Y. Jung-Sik, and B. H. Cho, "Modeling, control, and design of input-seriesoutput-parallel-connected converter for high-speed-train power system," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 48, pp. 536-544, 2001.

[86] R. Ayyanar, R. Giri, and N. Mohan, "Active input-voltage and load-current sharing in inputseries and output-parallel connected modular DC-DC converters using dynamic input-voltage reference scheme," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 19, pp. 1462-1473, 2004.

[87] C. Wu, Z. Kai, and R. Xinbo, "A Input-Series- and Output-Parallel-Connected Inverter System for High-Input-Voltage Applications," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 24, pp. 2127-2137, 2009.

[88] A. Das and F. L. Lewis, "Distributed adaptive control for synchronization of unknown nonlinear networked systems," *Automatica*, vol. 46, pp. 2014-2021, 12// 2010.

[89] Q. Hui and W. M. Haddad, "Distributed nonlinear control algorithms for network consensus," *Automatica*, vol. 44, pp. 2375-2381, 9// 2008.

[90] L. Zhongkui, D. Zhisheng, C. Guanrong, and H. Lin, "Consensus of Multiagent Systems and Synchronization of Complex Networks: A Unified Viewpoint," *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 57, pp. 213-224, 2010.

[91] Z. Qu, Cooperative Control of Dynamical Systems: Applications to Autonomous Vehicles: Springer, 2009.

[92] J. A. Fax and R. M. Murray, "Information flow and cooperative control of vehicle formations," *Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 49, pp. 1465-1476, 2004.

[93] A. Jadbabaie, L. Jie, and A. S. Morse, "Coordination of groups of mobile autonomous agents using nearest neighbor rules," *Automatic Control, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 48, pp. 988-1001, 2003.

[94] L. Xiang, W. Xiaofan, and C. Guanrong, "Pinning a complex dynamical network to its equilibrium," *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 51, pp. 2074-2087, 2004.

[95] W. Ren and R. Beard, *Distributed Consensus in Multi-vehicle Cooperative Control: Theory and Applications*: Springer, 2010.

[96] R. W. Erickson and D. Maksimovic, *Fundamentals of Power Electronics*: Springer, 2001.

[97] F. Dorfler and F. Bullo, "Kron Reduction of Graphs With Applications to Electrical Networks," *Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 60, pp. 150-163, 2013.

[98] R. C. Dorf and R. H. Bishop, *Modern Control Systems*: Pearson, 2011.

[99] H. Behjati and A. Davoudi, "Reliability Analysis Framework for Structural Redundancy in Power Semiconductors," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 60, pp. 4376-4386, 2013.

[100] S. Dwari and L. Parsa, "Fault-Tolerant Control of Five-Phase Permanent-Magnet Motors With Trapezoidal Back EMF," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 58, pp. 476-485, 2011.

[101] A. Akrad, M. Hilairet, and D. Diallo, "Design of a Fault-Tolerant Controller Based on Observers for a PMSM Drive," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 58, pp. 1416-1427, 2011.

[102] K. Hyunsup and L. Hyeongcheol, "Fault-Tolerant Control Algorithm for a Four-Corner Closed-Loop Air Suspension System," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 58, pp. 4866-4879, 2011.

[103] S. Zhigang, W. Jiabin, G. W. Jewell, and D. Howe, "Enhanced Optimal Torque Control of Fault-Tolerant PM Machine Under Flux-Weakening Operation," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 57, pp. 344-353, 2010.

[104] Z. Wenxiang, K. T. Chau, C. Ming, J. Jinghua, and Z. Xiaoyong, "Remedial Brushless AC Operation of Fault-Tolerant Doubly Salient Permanent-Magnet Motor Drives," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 57, pp. 2134-2141, 2010.

[105] K. Nguyen-Duy, L. Tian-Hua, C. Der-Fa, and J. Y. Hung, "Improvement of Matrix Converter Drive Reliability by Online Fault Detection and a Fault-Tolerant Switching Strategy," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 59, pp. 244-256, 2012.

[106] S. M. A. Cruz, A. M. S. Mendes, and A. J. M. Cardoso, "A New Fault Diagnosis Method and a Fault-Tolerant Switching Strategy for Matrix Converters Operating With Optimum Alesina-Venturini Modulation," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 59, pp. 269-280, 2012.

[107] S. Khwan-On, L. De Lillo, L. Empringham, and P. Wheeler, "Fault-Tolerant Matrix Converter Motor Drives With Fault Detection of Open Switch Faults," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 59, pp. 257-268, 2012.

[108] K. Sangshin, "Four-Leg-Based Fault-Tolerant Matrix Converter Schemes Based on Switching Function and Space Vector Methods," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 59, pp. 235-243, 2012.

[109] S. Ceballos, J. Pou, J. Zaragoza, E. Robles, J. L. Villate, and J. L. Martin, "Fault-Tolerant Neutral-Point-Clamped Converter Solutions Based on Including a Fourth Resonant Leg," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 58, pp. 2293-2303, 2011.

[110] Z. Wenxiang, C. Ming, H. Wei, J. Hongyun, and C. Ruiwu, "Back-EMF Harmonic Analysis and Fault-Tolerant Control of Flux-Switching Permanent-Magnet Machine With Redundancy," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 58, pp. 1926-1935, 2011.

[111] S. Wenchao and A. Q. Huang, "Fault-Tolerant Design and Control Strategy for Cascaded H-Bridge Multilevel Converter-Based STATCOM," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 57, pp. 2700-2708, 2010.

[112] S. Ceballos, J. Pou, E. Robles, J. Zaragoza, Marti, x, *et al.*, "Performance Evaluation of Fault-Tolerant Neutral-Point-Clamped Converters," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 57, pp. 2709-2718, 2010.

[113] M. A. Parker, C. Ng, and L. Ran, "Fault-Tolerant Control for a Modular Generator–Converter Scheme for Direct-Drive Wind Turbines," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 58, pp. 305-315, 2011.

[114] H. Behjati and A. Davoudi, "Comparative reliability study of hybrid energy storage systems in hybrid electric vehicles," in *Transportation Electrification Conference and Expo (ITEC), 2012 IEEE*, 2012, pp. 1-6.

[115] L. Shengming and L. Xu, "Strategies of fault tolerant operation for three-level PWM inverters," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 21, pp. 933-940, 2006.

[116] S. Ceballos, J. Pou, E. Robles, I. Gabiola, J. Zaragoza, J. L. Villate, *et al.*, "Three-Level Converter Topologies With Switch Breakdown Fault-Tolerance Capability," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 55, pp. 982-995, 2008.

[117] S. Ceballos, J. Pou, J. Zaragoza, J. L. Martin, E. Robles, I. Gabiola, *et al.*, "Efficient Modulation Technique for a Four-Leg Fault-Tolerant Neutral-Point-Clamped Inverter," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 55, pp. 1067-1074, 2008.

[118] J. Dixon, P. Barriuso, M. Ortuzar, L. Moran, J. Pontt, and J. Rodriguez, "Fault Tolerant Reconfiguration System for Asymmetric Multilevel Converters Using Bi-Directional Power Switches," in *Industrial Electronics Society, 2007. IECON 2007. 33rd Annual Conference of the IEEE*, 2007, pp. 2124-2129.

[119] L. Maharjan, T. Yamagishi, H. Akagi, and J. Asakura, "Fault-Tolerant Operation of a Battery-Energy-Storage System Based on a Multilevel Cascade PWM Converter With Star Configuration," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 25, pp. 2386-2396, 2010.

[120] P. Lezana, J. Pou, T. A. Meynard, J. Rodriguez, S. Ceballos, and F. Richardeau, "Survey on Fault Operation on Multilevel Inverters," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 57, pp. 2207-2218, 2010.

[121] L. De Lillo, L. Empringham, P. W. Wheeler, S. Khwan-On, C. Gerada, M. N. Othman, *et al.*, "Multiphase Power Converter Drive for Fault-Tolerant Machine Development in Aerospace Applications," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 57, pp. 575-583, 2010.

[122] A. M. S. Mendes and A. J. M. Cardoso, "Fault-Tolerant Operating Strategies Applied to Three-Phase Induction-Motor Drives," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 53, pp. 1807-1817, 2006.

[123] R. L. de Araujo Ribeiro, C. B. Jacobina, E. R. C. Da Silva, and A. M. N. Lima, "Fault-tolerant voltage-fed PWM inverter AC motor drive systems," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 51, pp. 439-446, 2004.

[124] M. Villani, M. Tursini, G. Fabri, and L. Castellini, "High Reliability Permanent Magnet Brushless Motor Drive for Aircraft Application," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 59, pp. 2073-2081, 2012.

[125] K. Ambusaidi, V. Pickert, and B. Zahawi, "New Circuit Topology for Fault Tolerant H-Bridge DC-DC Converter," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 25, pp. 1509-1516, 2010.

[126] P. Thi Thuy Linh, F. Richardeau, and G. Gateau, "Diagnosis strategies and reconfiguration of a 5-level double-boost PFC with fault-tolerant capability," in *Industrial Electronics (ISIE), 2011 IEEE International Symposium on*, 2011, pp. 1857-1862.

[127] P. Thi Thuy Linh, F. Richardeau, and G. Gateau, "Fault diagnosis and PD-PWM reconfiguration of a 5-level double-boost PFC with fault-tolerant capability," in *IECON 2010 - 36th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, 2010, pp. 2839-2844.

[128] B. Abdi, A. H. Ranjbar, G. B. Gharehpetian, and J. Milimonfared, "Reliability Considerations for Parallel Performance of Semiconductor Switches in High-Power Switching Power Supplies," *Industrial Electronics, IEEE Transactions on,* vol. 56, pp. 2133-2139, 2009.

[129] S. V. Dhople and A. D. Dominguez-Garcia, "Estimation of Photovoltaic System Reliability and Performance Metrics," *Power Systems, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 27, pp. 554-563, 2012.

[130] I. Koren and C. M. Krishna, *Fault-Tolerant Systems*: Elsevier Science, 2010.

[131] R. S. Corporation, *Reliability Prediction of Electronic Equipments (MIL-HDBK-217)*. Greensburg, PA, 1990.

[132] S. V. Dhople, A. Davoudi, Domi, x, G. nguez, x, *et al.*, "A Unified Approach to Reliability Assessment of Multiphase DC-DC Converters in Photovoltaic Energy Conversion Systems," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 27, pp. 739-751, 2012.

[133] W. Hongfang and F. Wang, "Power MOSFETs Paralleling Operation for High Power High Density Converters," in *Industry Applications Conference, 2006. 41st IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record of the 2006 IEEE*, 2006, pp. 2284-2289.

[134] P. Jeannin, J. L. Schanen, and E. Clavel, "Original cabling conditions to insure balanced current during switching transitions between paralleled semiconductors," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 38, pp. 181-188, 2002.

[135] J. J. Nelson, G. Venkataramanan, and B. C. Beihoff, "Investigation of parallel operation of IGBTs," in *Industry Applications Conference, 2002. 37th IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record of the*, 2002, pp. 2585-2591 vol.4.

[136] R. Azar, F. Udrea, J. C. W. Ng, F. Dawson, W. Findlay, and P. Waind, "The Current Sharing Optimization of Paralleled IGBTs in a Power Module Tile Using a PSpice Frequency Dependent Impedance Model," *Power Electronics, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 23, pp. 206-217, 2008.

[137] R. Letor, "Static and dynamic behavior of paralleled IGBTs," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 28, pp. 395-402, 1992.

[138] T. J. K. Liu, D. Markovic, V. Stojanovic, and E. Alon, "The relay reborn," *Spectrum, IEEE*, vol. 49, pp. 40-43, 2012.

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Hamid Behjati received the B.S. degree in electrical engineering from Sharif University of Technology, Tehran, Iran, in 2009, and Ph.D. degree from the University of Texas at Arlington, TX, USA, in 2013. He received the Joseph J. Suozzi INTELEC ® Fellowship in power electronics (2012) and National Science Foundation award for presenting at IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion conference (2011). His research interests include modeling, topology development, control, and reliability analysis of power electronic converters.